
TOWNSHIP OF BLANDFORD-BLENHEIM
COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA

Wednesday, October 01, 2025 at 04:00 PM
Watch via Live Stream on Township’s YouTube here

Welcome

Call to Order

Approval of the Agenda
Recommendation:
That the agenda for the October 1st, 2025 Regular Meeting of Council be adopted as 
printed, and circulated. 

Disclosure of Pecuniary Interest

Minutes

September 17th, 2025 Minutes of Council
Recommendation:
That the minutes of the September 17th, 2025 Regular Meeting of Council be 
adopted, as printed and circulated.

Business Arising from the Minutes

Public Meetings

Public Meeting under the Planning Act, Official Plan Amendment & Zone 
Change

OP25-08-1 & ZN1-25-05, Matthew & Jacklynn Bowcott
Recommendation:
That the Council of the Township of Blandford-Blenheim advise County 
Council that the Township does not support the application for the Official 
Plan Amendment (File No. OP25-08-1) submitted by Matthew and 
Jacklynn Bowcott for the lands legally described as Part Lot 6, Concession 
6, as in 503194, Except Parts 8, 9, 10, 11, Registered Plan 41R-3091, S/T 
BD9457, Township of Blandford-Blenheim to include a site-specific policy 
to permit an animal crematorium as an On-Farm Diversified Use (OFDU); 
and further,  

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

5.a

6.

7.

7.a

7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website Page 1 of 245

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCdKRV0GAEuFaGbwHRPzoEXA


That the Council of the Township of Blandford-Blenheim not approve the 
Zone Change Application (File No. ZN1-25-05) submitted by Matthew 
and Jacklynn Bowcott, whereby the lands described as Part Lot 6, 
Concession 6, as in 503194, Except Parts 8, 9, 10, 11, Registered Plan 
41R-3091, S/T BD9457, Township of Blandford-Blenheim, be rezoned 
from ‘General Agricultural Zone (A2)’ to ‘Special General Agricultural Zone 
(A2-sp)’ to permit an animal crematorium as an On-Farm Diversified Use 
(OFDU).

Delegations/Presentations  

Meghan House, Senior Policy Planner, Oxford County Planning & Jamie 
Cook, Watson & Associates, re: Updates to the Oxford County Growth 
Forecasts and Land Needs Analysis

 

Recommendation:
That the Presentation from Oxford County Planning and Watson and Associates 
regarding Updates to the Oxford County Growth Forecasts and Land Needs 
Assessment be received as information.

Correspondence  

Specific  

None.

General  

County of Oxford, re: Updating the Implementation Policies of 
the Official Plan

 

Oxford OPP Detachment Board 2, re: Minutes from the May 21, 
2024 Meeting

 

Recommendation:
That the general correspondence items be received as information.

Staff Reports  

Ray Belanger, Chief Building Official, CBO-25-09 - Monthly Report  
Recommendation:
That Report CBO-25-09 be received as information.
 

Jim Borton, Director of Public Works, PW-25-16 - Monthly Report  

8.

8.a

9.

9.a

9.b

9.b.1

9.b.2

10.

10.a

10.b

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 2 of 245



Recommendation:
That Report PW-25-16 be received as information.

Trevor Baer, Manager of Community Services, CS-25-17 - Capital 
Purchase – Arena Water Softener Replacement

 

Recommendation:
That Report CS-25-17 be received as information; and further, 
 
That Council authorize staff to proceed under the Township’s Procurement Policy to 
purchase and install a new water softener at the Plattsville Arena, with funding to 
come from the Arena Reserve. 

Trevor Baer, Manager of Community Services, CS-25-18 - Monthly Report  
Recommendation:
That Report CS-25-18 be received as information. 

Denise Krug, Director of Finance, TR-13-25 - 2026 Budget Survey Results  
Recommendation:
That Report TR-25-13 be received as information.
 

Kevin Brandt, Communications Coordinator / Deputy Clerk, DC-25-13 - 
Installation of Third Flag Pole

 

Recommendation:
That Report DC-25-13 be received as information; and further
 
That Council direct staff to include $4,300 in a future budget cycle for the purchase 
and installation of a third flag pole at the Township Administration Office; and 
further,
 
That Council adopt the Flag Protocol Policy revision, to include the installation of a 
third flag pole, as attached to Report DC-25-13.
 

Sarah Matheson, Director of Corporate Services / Clerk, DC-25-14 - 
Frivolous, Vexatious, or Unreasonable Complaints Policy

 

Recommendation:
That Report DC-25-14 be received as information; and further,
 
That Council adopt the Frivolous, Vexatious or Unreasonable Complaints Policy, as 
attached to Report DC-25-14.

10.c

10.d

10.e

10.f

10.g

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 3 of 245



 

Reports from Council Members  

Unfinished Business  

Motions and Notices of Motion  

New Business  

Closed Session  

None.

By-laws  

By-law 2515-2025, Being a By-law to confirm the proceedings of Council.  
Recommendation:
Be it hereby resolved that the following By-law be now read a first and second time: 
a. By-law 2515-2025, Being a By-law to confirm the proceedings of Council.

Recommendation:
Be it hereby resolved that the following By-law be now read a third and final time: 
a. By-law 2515-2025, Being a By-law to confirm the proceedings of Council.

Other  

Adjournment and Next Meeting  
Recommendation:
Whereas business before Council has been completed at <TIME>; and further,
That Council adjourn to meet again on Wednesday, October 15th, 2025 at 10:00 a.m. for 
the Council/Staff Capital Project Road Tour, with the Regular Meeting to begin at 4:00 p.m.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

16.a

17.

18.

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 4 of 245



Present:

MINUTES
Wednesday, September 17, 2025 at 04:00 PM 

Council Chambers
47, Wilmot St. S. Drumbo, ON

Streamed live to Township of Blandford-Blenheim YouTube Channel

Mayor M. Peterson, Councillor D. Barnes, Councillor B. Banbury and Councillor T. Young

Regrets:
Councillor N. Demarest

Staff:
CAO Brick, Clerk Matheson, Deputy Clerk Brandt, Drainage Superintendent Degier, Director 
of Protective Services Davidson, Deputy Director of Protective Services Van Wyk, Director of 
Public Works Borton, Chief Building Official Belanger, Manager of Community Services Baer 
and Planner Robson

1. Welcome

2. Call to Order

3. Approval of the Agenda 
RESOLUTION 2025-09-17-01
Moved by - Councillor Young
Seconded by - Councillor Barnes

Be it hereby resolved that the agenda for September 17, 2025 Regular Meeting of Council 
be adopted as printed, and circulated.

Carried

4. Disclosure of Pecuniary Interest
None.

5. Minutes

5.a September 3, 2025 Minutes of Council 
RESOLUTION 2025-09-17-02
Moved by - Councillor Banbury
Seconded by - Councillor Young

Be it hereby resolved that the minutes of the September 3, 2025, Regular Meeting

Item 5.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 5 of 245



Township of Blandford-Blenheim Council Minutes

of Council be adopted, as printed and circulated.

Carried

6. Business Arising from the Minutes
None.

7. Public Meetings

7.a Public Meeting under the Planning Act, Committee of Adjustment 
RESOLUTION 2025-09-17-03
Moved by - Councillor Barnes
Seconded by - Councillor Banbury

Be it hereby resolved that Council move into Committee of Adjustment at 4:01 p.m.

Carried

7.a.1 Application for Minor 
Variance MVA04-25 for Mike & 
Paula Johnson, 108 Main 
Street South

The Minutes can be found on the September 17th, 2025 Meeting of the 
Committee of Adjustment.

RESOLUTION 2025-09-17-04
Moved by - Councillor Banbury
Seconded by - Councillor Young

 Be it hereby resolved that the Committee rise at 4:07 p.m., and that the         
Open Council meeting resumes.

Carried

8. Delegations/Presentations

8.a  Colleen Sarkisian & Sharon Jenne (nee Balkwill), re: Dedication of 
Municipal Roadway Request

Mrs. Sarkisian and Mrs. Jenne (both nee Balkwill) presented a request to dedicate a portion 
of Blenheim Road, in the Township of Blandford-Blenheim to the Balkwill family. Council 
discussed and directed staff to bring a report regarding the dedication request to a future 
meeting.

Item 5.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 6 of 245



Township of Blandford-Blenheim Council Minutes

RESOLUTION 2025-09-17-05
Moved by - Councillor Banbury
Seconded by - Councillor Barnes

Be it hereby resolved that the delegation from Colleen Sarkisian and Sharon Jenne (nee 
Balkwill) be received as information; and further,
That Council direct staff to bring a Report regarding the request at a future meeting.

Carried

8.b  Terry McDougall, Plattsville & District Lions Club President, re: Naming 
Rights to the Plattsville Pavilion in Plattsville Park

Mr. McDougall presented a request for the Plattsville & District Lions Club to have the 
naming rights to the Plattsville Park Pavilion. Council discussed the request and directed 
staff to bring a report regarding the naming request to a future meeting.

RESOLUTION 2025-09-17-06
Moved by - Councillor Young
Seconded by - Councillor Banbury

Be it hereby resolved that the delegation from Terry McDougall, President of the Plattsville 
Lions Club, be received as information; and further,
That Council direct staff to bring a Report regarding the request at a future meeting.

Carried

8.c  Kimberly Earls, South Central Ontario Region EDC Executive Director, 
re: Regional/Partner Update

Mrs. Earls and Mrs. Kyle presented the South Central Ontario Region Economic 
Development Corporation’s annual regional partner update. 

RESOLUTION 2025-09-17-07
Moved by - Councillor Young
Seconded by - Councillor Barnes

Be it hereby resolved that the presentation from Kimberley Earls and Jennifer Kyle of 
SCOR EDC be received as information.

Carried

Item 5.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 7 of 245



Township of Blandford-Blenheim Council Minutes

9. Correspondence

9.a Specific
None.

9.b General
None.

10. Staff Reports

10.a Drew Davidson, Director of Protective Services, FC-25-13 - August 
Monthly Report
RESOLUTION 2025-09-17-08
Moved by - Councillor Banbury
Seconded by - Councillor Young

Be it hereby resolved that Report FC-25-13 be received as information.

Carried

10.b Drew Davidson, Director of Protective Services, FC-25-14 - OFM Grant 
RESOLUTION 2025-09-17-09
Moved by - Councillor Young
Seconded by - Councillor Barnes

Be it hereby resolved that Report FC-25-14 be received as information; and further, 
That Council approve the allocation of this year’s Ontario Firefighter Cancer 
Prevention Grant toward the proposed cancer-prevention initiatives, as outlined in 
the report.

Carried

10.c Drew Davidson, Director of Protective Services, FC-25-15 - Camp 85 
Review
RESOLUTION 2025-09-17-10
Moved by - Councillor Young
Seconded by - Councillor Banbury

Be it hereby resolved that Report FC-25-15 be received as information.

Carried

Item 5.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 8 of 245



Township of Blandford-Blenheim Council Minutes

10.d Drew Davidson, Director of Protective Services, FC-25-16 - Princeton 
Station – Capital Expenditures
RESOLUTION 2025-09-17-11
Moved by - Councillor Banbury
Seconded by - Councillor Young

Be it hereby resolved that Report FC-25-16 be received as information; and further,
That Council authorizes staff to make the necessary 2025 Princeton Fire Station 
Project expenditures in the amount of $122,000.00 as outlined in Report FC-25-16, 
it being noted that listed 2025 project expenditures be funded from the Fire 
Reserve.

Carried

10.e Adam Degier, Drainage Superintendent, DS-25-02 - Petition for Drainage
- Sparks Drain
RESOLUTION 2025-09-17-12
Moved by - Councillor Barnes
Seconded by - Councillor Young

Be it hereby resolved that Report DS-25-02 be received as information; and,
That Council accepts the petition for drainage works for Lot 9 and 10, Concession 4, 
Blenheim, Township of Blandford-Blenheim, from John Pynenburg, in the affected 
area of the existing private Sparks Drain; and further,
That the Clerk notify the Grand River Conservation Authority that the Township of 
Blandford-Blenheim has received a petition for drainage work and that they intend to 
proceed with this petition.

Carried

10.f Denise Krug, Director of Finance, TR-25-12 - Budget Schedule 
RESOLUTION 2025-09-17-13
Moved by - Councillor Banbury
Seconded by - Councillor Barnes

Be it hereby resolved that Report TR-25-12 be received as information;
And further that Council adopt the budget schedule for the 2026 Operating and 
Capital Budgets, set out in Report TR-25-12.

Carried

10.g Kevin Brandt, Deputy Clerk/Communications Coordinator, DC-25-09 - 
Corporate Communications Plan 2025

Item 5.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 9 of 245



Township of Blandford-Blenheim Council Minutes

RESOLUTION 2025-09-17-14
Moved by - Councillor Young
Seconded by - Councillor Banbury

Be it hereby resolved that Report DC-25-09 be received; and further,
That Council adopt the Township of Blandford-Blenheim Corporate Communications 
Plan 2025 as presented in Report DC-25-09 as a guiding framework for 
communications.

Carried

10.h

10.i

10.j

Kevin Brandt, Deputy Clerk/Communications Coordinator, DC-25-12 - 
Launch of Updated Township Website
RESOLUTION 2025-09-17-15
Moved by - Councillor Barnes
Seconded by - Councillor Young

Be it hereby resolved that Report DC-25-12 be received as information; and further,
That Council formally recognize the launch of the redesigned municipal website and 
direct staff to continue promoting the updated site through Township communication 
channels and monitor website analytics and user feedback to guide ongoing 
improvements

Carried

Sarah Matheson, Director of Corporate Services/Clerk, DC-25-10 - 
Graphic Image By-law Amendment
RESOLUTION 2025-09-17-16
Moved by - Councillor Young
Seconded by - Councillor Banbury

Be it hereby resolved that Report DC-25-10 be received as information, and further;
That Council amend By-law 2354-2023, being a By-law to regulate the delivery of 
graphic images in the Township of Blandford-Blenheim.

Carried

Sarah Matheson, Director of Corporate Services/Clerk, DC-25-11 - 
January 2026 Meeting Schedule
RESOLUTION 2025-09-17-17
Moved by - Councillor Barnes
Seconded by - Councillor Young

Item 5.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 10 of 245



Township of Blandford-Blenheim Council Minutes

Be it hereby resolved that Report DC-25-11 be received as information; and,
That the Council Meeting scheduled for January 7th, 2026 be cancelled and the 
following meetings be established for the month of January 2026:
- January 14th, 2026, Regular Council Meeting, beginning at 4:00 p.m.; and,
- January 21st, 2026 (third Wednesday of the month), Operating Budget & Capital 
Budget/Long Term Capital Plan Meeting, beginning at 10:00 a.m

Carried

11. Reports from Council Members
Mayor Peterson acknowledged the upcoming 175th Drumbo Fair, scheduled for 
September 20–21, 2025.

12. Unfinished Business
None.

13. Motions and Notices of Motion
None.

14. New Business
None.

15. Closed Session
RESOLUTION 2025-09-17-18
Moved by - Councillor Young
Seconded by - Councillor Banbury

Be it hereby resolved that Council move into Closed Session under the authority of Section 
239 of the Municipal Act at 5:32 p.m. to discuss:
a. Advice that is subject to solicitor-client privilege, including communications necessary for 
that purpose [s.239 (2)(f)]
Re: Legal Matters

Carried

RESOLUTION 2025-09-17-19
Moved by - Councillor Young
Seconded by - Councillor Banbury

Item 5.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 11 of 245



Township of Blandford-Blenheim Council Minutes

Be it hereby resolved that Council does now adjourn from Closed Session and resume into 
Open Session at 5:45 p.m. and reports the following:
That Council provided direction to staff regarding Report CAO-25-23.

Carried

16. By-laws

16.a By-law 2513-2025, Being a By-law to amend By-law 2354-2023, a By-law 
to regulate delivery of graphic images in the Township of Blandford- 
Blenheim.

16.b By-law 2514-2025, Being a By-law to confirm the proceedings of Council. 
RESOLUTION 2025-09-17-20
Moved by - Councillor Barnes
Seconded by - Councillor Young

Be it hereby resolved that the following By-laws be now read a first and second 
time:
a. By-law 2513-2025, Being a By-law to amend By-law 2354-2023, a By-law to 
regulate delivery of graphic images in the Township of Blandford-Blenheim; and,
b. By-law 2514-2025, Being a By-law to confirm the proceedings of Council.

Carried

RESOLUTION 2025-09-17-21
Moved by - Councillor Banbury
Seconded by - Councillor Young

Be it hereby resolved that the following By-laws be now read a third and final time:
a. By-law 2513-2025, Being a By-law to amend By-law 2354-2023, a By-law to 
regulate delivery of graphic images in the Township of Blandford-Blenheim; and,
b. By-law 2514-2025, Being a By-law to confirm the proceedings of Council.

Carried

17. Other
None.

18. Adjournment and Next Meeting 
RESOLUTION 2025-09-17-22
Moved by - Councillor Young

Item 5.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 12 of 245



Township of Blandford-Blenheim Council Minutes

Seconded by - Councillor Barnes

Whereas business before Council has been completed at 5:46 p.m.;
Be it hereby resolved that Council adjourn to meet again on Wednesday, October 1st, 
2025 at 4:00 p.m.

Carried

Mark Peterson, Mayor

Sarah Matheson, Clerk

Item 5.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 13 of 245



Report No: CP 2025-283 
COMMUNITY PLANNING 

Council Date: October 1, 2025 
 

 
 
 

To: Mayor and Members of Township of Blandford-Blenheim Council 
 
From: Dustin Robson, Development Planner, Community Planning 
 
 
Applications for Official Plan Amendment and Zone Change 
OP 25-08-1 and ZN1-25-05 – Matthew and Jacklynn Bowcott   
 
 
REPORT HIGHLIGHTS 
 
 The subject Official Plan Amendment Application and Zone Change Application propose to 

include site-specific policies to permit an animal crematorium, approximately 929 m2 (10,000 
ft2) in size, as an On-Farm Diversified Use (OFDU).  

 Planning staff recommend that the application not be approved as the proposal is beyond the 
scale considered reasonable for an OFDU and is not consistent with the policies of the 
Provincial Planning Statement and does not maintain the intent and purpose of the Official 
Plan regarding permitted uses in prime agricultural areas.  

 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
Background 
 
APPLICANTS/OWNERS: Matthew and Jacklynn Bowcott 
 806012 Oxford Road 29, Innerkip, ON  N0J 1M0 
 
AGENT: Zelinka Priamo Ltd. (Danieli Sikelero Elsenbruch) 
 318 Wellington Road, London, ON  N6C 4P4 
 
LOCATION: 
 
The subject lands are described as Part Lot 6, Concession 6, as in 503194, Except Parts 8, 9, 
10, 11, Registered Plan 41R-3091, S/T BD9457, in the Township of Blandford-Blenheim. The 
lands are located on the south side of Oxford Road 29 and the east side of Blandford Road and 
are municipally known as 806012 Oxford Road 29. 
 
COUNTY OF OXFORD OFFICIAL PLAN: 
 
Schedule “B-1” Township of Blandford-Blenheim  Agricultural Reserve and  
   Land Use Plan     Environmental Protection 
 
Schedule “C-1” County of Oxford    Provincially Significant  
   Environmental Features Plan   Wetlands    
 
Schedule “C-2” County of Oxford    Unstable Soil 
   Development Constraints Plan      

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 14 of 245



 Report No: CP 2025-283 
COMMUNITY PLANNING 

Council Date: October 1, 2025 

Page 2 of 13 

TOWNSHIP OF BLANDFORD-BLENHEIM ZONING BYLAW 1360-2002: 

Existing Zoning: ‘General Agricultural Zone (A2)’ 

Proposed Zoning: ‘Special General Agricultural Zone (A2-sp)’ 

PROPOSAL: 

The applicants have submitted Official Plan Amendment and Zone Change Applications that 
propose to permit an animal crematorium as an On-Farm Diversified Use (OFDU). According to 
the information provided, the development that the applicants are proposing would include an 
approximately 929 m2 (10,000 ft2) crematorium building, a parking lot accommodating 24 spaces, 
an outdoor garden area, and a new driveway accessing Blandford Road. The crematorium 
building would contain a loading area located at the rear (east side) of the building. A 3 m (9.8 ft) 
landscaped buffer is proposed around the crematorium.  

The proposal includes four emission stacks that would be connected to the incinerators within the 
facility. The stacks would project 5 m (16.4 ft) above the peak of the crematorium building, which 
is proposed to be 6.7 m (21.9 ft). Each stack would contain emission controls that are monitored. 
In addition, it shall be noted that the applicants would be required to obtain an Environmental 
Compliance Approval (ECA) from the Ministry of the Environment, Conservation, and Parks 
(MECP) prior to being permitted to operate. The purpose of the ECA process is to ensure that the 
business will comply with provincial standards in terms of emissions and discharges related to 
air, noise, waste, and sewage.   

The applicants have advised that the crematorium is intended to be used for equine and 
‘companion animals,’ which would generally consist of small animals. The applicants have also 
advised that they could offer services for the cremation of wild animals to support local authorities, 
if needed. Small animal euthanasia is not anticipated to occur on-site. Euthanasia services for 
equine may be offered on-site as one of the owners maintains the appropriate licence to do so.  

Initial operating hours of the business would be a standard 8:00 am – 5:00 pm schedule, however, 
the applicants have indicated that the business may operate 24 hours a day in the future. The 
applicants have advised that visitation from the public would be limited and by appointment 
only. Depending on the workload, employees at the business will range from six to 12 
individuals in various part-time and full-time roles. This number includes drivers of vehicles that 
the business would use to transport animal remains. The vehicles would leave in the morning 
and return in the afternoon according to the agent.      

The subject lands are approximately 31.8 ha (78.7 ac) in size and contain a building cluster on 
the north side of the lands, more than 200 m (656 ft) from the location of the proposed animal 
crematorium. The building cluster contains a single detached dwelling (circ. 2012), a pool house, 
a pool, and a barn. The remainder of the lands are utilized for cash-cropping purposes and are 
rented out to a farmer who does not reside on-site.  

The subject lands contain an area of significant woodlands, non-provincially significant wetlands, 
Provincially Significant Wetlands (PSW), and areas to the south and west of the proposed animal 
crematorium that are regulated by both the Upper Thames River Conservation Authority (UTRCA) 
and the Grand River Conservation Authority (GRCA).  

Surrounding land uses are predominantly agricultural in nature in all directions of the subject 
lands. In addition to the agricultural uses, there is a recreational use (Innerkip Highlands Golf 

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 15 of 245



 Report No: CP 2025-283 
COMMUNITY PLANNING 

Council Date: October 1, 2025 
 

Page 3 of 13 

Club) to the west, non-farm rural residential uses to the north and west, and an animal kennel to 
the south of the subject lands. The subject lands are located approximately 560 m (1,837.2 ft) 
from the nearest residential subdivision, which is Elisabeth Street located to the east of the Village 
of Innerkip.    
 
Plate 1, Location Map and Existing Zoning, shows the location of the subject property and the 
existing zoning in the immediate vicinity.  
 
Plate 2, Aerial Photography (2020), provide an aerial view of the subject lands and surrounding 
uses, as they existed in Spring 2020.  
 
Plate 3, Official Plan Designation Map, shows the Official Plan designations of the subject lands 
and surrounding lands. 
 
Plate 4, Applicants’ Sketch, identifies the location of the proposed animal crematorium, parking 
area, outdoor garden area, and driveway.  
 
Plate 5, Applicants’ Rendering, shows the intended design of the animal crematorium building. 
 
 
Application Review 
 
2024 Provincial Planning Statement 
 
The 2024 Provincial Planning Statement (PPS) provides policy direction on matters of provincial 
interest related to land use planning and development. Under Section 3 of the Planning Act, where 
a municipality is exercising its authority affecting a planning matter, such decisions shall be 
consistent with all policy statements issued under the Act. The policies of the PPS represent 
minimum standards and planning authorities, and other decision makers may go beyond these 
minimum standards to address matters of local importance, unless doing so would conflict with 
any PPS policy.  The following outlines the key PPS policies that have been considered but is not 
intended to be an exhaustive list. 
 
Direction for rural areas in municipalities are found in Section 2.5 of the PPS. Rural areas are 
comprised of rural settlement areas, rural lands, prime agricultural areas, natural heritage features 
and areas, and resource areas. In Oxford County, all lands located outside of designated 
settlement areas are considered to be a prime agriculture area, with the applicable policies for 
such areas primarily contained in Section 4.3. of the PPS.  
 
Section 4.3 of the PPS directs that planning authorities are required to use an agricultural system 
approach, based on provincial guidance, to maintain and enhance a geographically continuous 
agricultural land base and support and foster the long-term economic prosperity of the ‘agri-food 
network’ (i.e. elements important to the viability of the agri-food sector such as agricultural 
operations and primary processing, infrastructure, agricultural services, farm markets, distributors 
etc.). Further, that prime agricultural areas shall be designated and protected for long term 
agricultural use.  
 
The PPS defines agricultural uses to mean the growing of crops, including nursery, biomass and 
horticulture crops, as well as the raising of livestock and animals for food, fur or fibre including 
poultry and fish, apiaries, agro-forestry, maple syrup production and associated on-farm buildings 
and structures, including accommodation for full-time farm labour when the size and nature of the 
operation require additional employment.    

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 16 of 245



 Report No: CP 2025-283 
COMMUNITY PLANNING 

Council Date: October 1, 2025 
 

Page 4 of 13 

 
Section 4.3.2 (Permitted Uses) of the PPS indicates that permitted uses and activities are: 
agricultural uses, agriculture-related uses, and on-farm diversified uses. Permitted uses within 
prime agricultural areas shall be compatible with and shall not hinder surrounding agricultural 
operations. Criteria for these uses may be based on provincial guidance or municipal approaches, 
as set out in municipal planning documents, which achieve the same objectives.  
 
The PPS provides definitions for both agriculture-related use and on-farm diversified use:  
 

Agriculture-related uses: means those farm-related commercial and farm-related industrial 
uses that are directly related to farm operations in the area, support agriculture, benefit 
from being in close proximity to farm operations, and provide direct products and/or 
services to farm operations as a primary activity. 
 
On-farm diversified uses: means uses that are secondary to the principal agricultural use 
of the property and are limited in area. On-farm diversified uses include, but are not limited 
to, home occupations, home industries, agri-tourism uses, uses that produce value-added 
agricultural products, and electricity generation facilities and transmission systems, and 
energy storage systems. 

 
Section 4.3.5 (Non-Agricultural Uses in Prime Agricultural Areas) of the PPS directs that 
‘non-agricultural uses’ in prime agricultural areas may only be permitted for the extraction of 
minerals, petroleum resources and mineral aggregate resources or limited non-residential uses 
provided that: 

• the land does not comprise a specialty crop area;  
• the proposed use complies with MDS; 
• there is an identified need for the land to accommodate the proposed use; and 
• alternative locations have been evaluated and there are no reasonable alternative 

locations that avoid prime agricultural areas or are on lower priority agricultural land. 
 

Further, impacts from any new or expanding non-agricultural uses on the agricultural system are 
to be avoided and, where avoidance is not possible, minimized, and mitigated as determined 
through an agricultural impact assessment.  
 
With respect to the above noted reference to Provincial guidance in 4.3.2 of the PPS, the province 
has published a document entitled ‘Guidelines on Permitted Uses in Ontario’s Prime Agricultural 
Areas’ which provides further detail and direction on appropriate types of ‘agriculture-related uses’ 
and ‘on-farm diversified uses’ and associated review criteria, in accordance with the PPS policies. 
The document is also referred to as Publication 851.  
 
The document contains guidance for agriculture-related uses, being farm-related commercial 
and/or industrial uses, which may include retailing of agriculture-related products, livestock 
assembly yards, and farm equipment repair shops, if they meet all the PPS criteria for such uses. 
 
The review criteria for on-farm diversified uses indicate that they shall be located on a farm that 
is actively in agricultural use and be secondary to the principal agricultural use of the property, be 
limited in area, and be compatible with and not hinder surrounding agricultural operations.  
 
The general intent of the limited in area criterion is to minimize the agricultural land taken out of 
production if any, ensure agriculture remains the main land use, and limit off-site impacts 
(e.g. traffic and changes to the rural character of the property) to ensure compatibility with 
surrounding agricultural operations. The approach to the limited in area criterion is intended to 

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 17 of 245



 Report No: CP 2025-283 
COMMUNITY PLANNING 

Council Date: October 1, 2025 
 

Page 5 of 13 

achieve a balance between farmland protection and economic opportunities for farmers, improve 
consistency in approach, and provide flexibility as such uses and owners change.  
 
The guidelines indicate that the “limited in area” criterion should be based on the total area of the 
farm property occupied by the on-farm diversified use (i.e. buildings, outdoor storage, landscaped 
areas, well and septic systems, parking, new driveways etc.) and that such area does not exceed 
2% of the lot area. Municipalities may further scope the scale of on-farm diversified uses by 
limiting the number or place of residence of employees, number of businesses, percentage of 
products sold that are produced on the farm, the floor area of buildings and outdoor storage. 
 
The guidelines indicate that, if the area of an on-farm diversified use exceeds these recommended 
thresholds, consideration should be given to the non-agricultural use policies and, further, that 
on-farm diversified uses that are proposed to grow beyond these limits, either incrementally or 
otherwise, are not supported.  
 
For further clarity, Section 2.3.3 of the guideline document sets out various uses that would 
typically not be considered OFDUs, including:  
 

• large-scale equipment or vehicle dealerships, hotels, landscape businesses, 
manufacturing plants, trucking yards  

• uses with high water and sewage needs and/or that generate significant traffic, such as 
large food processors, distribution centres, full-scale restaurants, banquet halls 

• large-scale recurring events with permanent structures 
• institutional uses (e.g., churches, schools, nursing homes, cemeteries) 
• large-scale recreational facilities such as golf courses, soccer fields, ball diamonds or 

arenas 
 
Finally, the guidelines indicate that, since the PPS requires settlement areas to be the focus 
growth and development, large-scale industrial and commercial buildings that are more 
appropriate to locate in settlement areas are not permitted in prime agricultural areas and, as 
such, recommends that municipalities cap the gross floor area of buildings for on-farm diversified 
uses at a scale appropriate to prime agricultural areas. 
 
Official Plan 
 
The subject lands are located within the Agricultural Reserve and Environmental Protection 
designations according to the Township of Blandford-Blenheim Land Use Plan, as contained in 
the Official Plan. The Environmental Protection designation represents natural heritage features, 
such as wetlands and woodlands. The proposed animal crematorium would not be located within 
the Environmental Protection designated lands. The policies of the Agricultural Reserve 
designation permit a wide range of agricultural uses and farm buildings and structures necessary 
to the farming operation, including accessory residential uses required for the farm. Agriculture-
related uses and secondary uses, such as On-Farm Diversified Uses (OFDUs) and home 
occupations, may also be permitted, if they comply with all applicable review criteria. 
 
The County, as part of broader agricultural policy updates recently approved by the Province 
(i.e. in early 2024), has established comprehensive, locally tailored, Official Plan policies and 
criteria for such uses to further clarify and expand upon the PPS policies and guidelines for such 
uses. As such, the review criteria for permitted uses in prime agricultural areas specified in these 
policies serve as the municipal approach, as set out in municipal planning documents, that 
achieves the same objective as provincial guidance with respect to such uses, as permitted by 
the PPS.  

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 18 of 245



 Report No: CP 2025-283 
COMMUNITY PLANNING 

Council Date: October 1, 2025 
 

Page 6 of 13 

 
Section 3.1.4.3 speaks to Secondary Uses, which are comprised of on-farm diversified uses  and 
rural home occupations, together with Agricultural Related Uses, are intended to provide 
opportunities to strengthen and diversify the rural economy, by allowing for the establishment of 
businesses and services that support or improve agriculture in the area, supplement and diversify 
farm incomes, and/or provide home based employment opportunities for farms and other rural 
residents (i.e. home occupations on rural residential lots). Such uses must be compatible with 
and not hinder agricultural operations, be appropriate for rural services, not undermine or conflict 
with the planned function of rural settlements and meet various other development criteria. 
 
Section 3.1.4.3.2 of the Official Plan indicates that OFDUs are intended to provide reasonable 
opportunities for farmers to diversify their farming operation and/or supplement their income from 
farming, by allowing for certain small-scale business activities to be established as a secondary 
use on their farm. The policies further direct that such uses may be permitted on an agricultural 
lot in accordance with various policy criteria, including limitations on the type, size, scale, and 
area of such uses, primarily to ensure such uses are: 
 

• clearly secondary to the principal agricultural operation on the lot and limited in area;  
• are compatible with, and do not hinder, surrounding agricultural operations;  
• protect prime agricultural areas for the long term;  
• are appropriate for rural infrastructure and public services; and  
• do not undermine or conflict with the planned function of settlements. 

Generally, the policies contained in the Official Plan direct that OFDUs will only be permitted on 
an agricultural lot that is being actively farmed and must be clearly secondary to the agricultural 
operation on the lot in terms of size, scale, and importance. The policies contained in the Official 
Plan permit the following uses as an OFDU, provided they meet all applicable policy criteria: 

• A rural home industry; 
• A value-added agricultural facility serving a number of local area farms;  
• A value retaining facility; 
• A farm-related tourism use; 
• A smaller scale agriculture-related use; 
• A farm winery; or  
• A ground-mounted solar facility.  

 
Additionally, the Official Plan policies specifically identify the following uses that shall not be 
permitted as an on-farm diversified use:  

• Retail uses, office, medical/dental clinics and restaurants; 
• Residential uses or accommodation, except for limited, short-term accommodation, 

including farm vacation rental or bed and breakfast;  
• Institutional uses;  
• Recreational uses and special event facilities;  
• Large scale commercial and industrial uses; and  
• Other uses that may attract large numbers of customers or other people, generate 

significant traffic or not otherwise be appropriate for rural infrastructure or services, create 
compatibility or enforcement issues, undermine or conflict with the planned function of 
rural settlements, or otherwise not be consistent with the applicable policies of the Plan.  

 
Wholesaling or retailing are not permitted, except where it is clearly ancillary to the permitted 
OFDU and limited to small portion of the total gross floor area, the goods or merchandise offered 

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 19 of 245



 Report No: CP 2025-283 
COMMUNITY PLANNING 

Council Date: October 1, 2025 
 

Page 7 of 13 

for sale are produced, processed or fabricated on the farm lot, or it is restricted to the sale of farm 
inputs (e.g. feed, seeds, or fertilizer) primarily to farm operations in the area.  
 
The area used and/or occupied by an OFDU (including buildings, areas for loading and unloading 
product, driveways and parking, well and septic systems etc.) will be limited to the minimum area 
required for the use and will not exceed 2% of the total lot area, to a maximum of 0.8 ha (2 acres).  
 
The policies state that the maximum gross floor area of all buildings and/or structures used for 
the purposes of an OFDU shall be regulated through the provisions of the Township Zoning 
By-law, provided that the cumulative gross floor area of all buildings and/or structures used or 
occupied by an OFDU shall not exceed 557 m2 (6,000 ft2), except for limited, minor exceptions as 
set out in the policies. Further, proposals for such uses shall include a detailed description of the 
proposed use and be accompanied by a detailed site plan and such uses shall generally be 
subject to site plan control. 
 
In addition to the foregoing, the OFDU shall directly involve the farmer living on the same lot as 
the use and may also involve any other permanent residents on the lot, and up to two employees 
who do not reside on the lot. A limited number of additional seasonal employees may be permitted 
for a farm-related tourism use.  
 
Concerning on-site services for OFDUs, existing or proposed individual on-site water services 
and individual on-site sewage services shall be demonstrated to be adequate or will be made 
adequate to serve the proposed OFDU and shall be in accordance with the requirements of the 
County and Area Municipality, including the applicable policies of Sections 3.2.7.2, Water Quality 
and Quantity and 5.5, County Servicing Policy.  
 
OFDUs that require individual on-site sewage services that have a design capacity in excess of 
10,000 litres per day shall generally not be permitted. On-farm diversified uses must also be 
appropriate for other rural infrastructure and public services (paramedics, fire, etc.).  
 
Proposals for new or expanding OFDUs which would exceed the number of employees, gross 
floor area, or site area restrictions will not be permitted unless they comply with the 
agriculture-related use policies. Reasonable exceptions to the gross floor area and/or number of 
employees may be considered on site specific basis for a value retaining facility, value added 
agricultural facility, and/or smaller agriculture-related use, where Area Council is satisfied that 
such use could not reasonably be located within a rural settlement. Proposal that cannot comply 
with the agriculture-related use policies (Section 3.1.4.3.3) shall be directed to be located, or 
relocate, in a settlement or must comply with the applicable policies for non-agricultural uses. 
 
Section 3.1.4.3.3 considers the objectives and criteria for agriculture-related uses within the 
Agricultural Reserve designation. The intent of the policies is to: 

• ensure that all agriculture-related uses:  
o are directly related to farm operations in the area,  
o require a location in close proximity to those farm operations, 
o support agriculture, and 
o provide direct products and/or services to farm operations as their primary activity; 

• minimize the amount of agricultural land which is developed for agriculture-related uses;  
• ensure that new agriculture-related uses are directed to rural settlements wherever 

feasible to support the planned employment and/or service function of the settlements in 
the County; and  

• ensure that agriculture-related uses are compatible with and do not hinder surrounding 
agricultural operations and other nearby land uses.  

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 20 of 245



 Report No: CP 2025-283 
COMMUNITY PLANNING 

Council Date: October 1, 2025 
 

Page 8 of 13 

 
The Official Plan policies outline various uses that shall not be permitted as agriculture-related 
uses:  

• Retail uses, offices, and restaurants, except where explicitly permitted by the Official Plan 
policies; 

• Residential uses or accommodation; 
• Institutional uses; 
• Recreational uses; 
• Banquet halls and special event facilities;  
• Mechanics shops, automobile and recreational vehicle dealerships, distilleries, trucking 

operations, wrecking yards, contractors’ yard, landscaper business, well drillers, 
excavators, building suppliers and other general commercial and industrial uses; and 

• Other uses that may attract large numbers of customers or other people, generate 
significant traffic or not otherwise be appropriate for rural infrastructure or services, create 
compatibility or enforcement issues, undermine or conflict with the planned function of 
rural settlements, or otherwise not be consistent with the applicable policies of the Plan.  

 
Further, agriculture-related uses shall not undermine or conflict with the planned employment 
and/or service functions of settlements in the County. As such, the proponent is required to 
demonstrate that the proposed agriculture-related use is not suitable for, and/or cannot 
reasonably be accommodated within a settlement.  
 
According to Section 3.1.5, it is an objective of the Official Plan to only permit new non-agricultural 
uses where such uses do not conflict with the ‘Goal for Agricultural Policies’, as set out in Section 
3.1.1, to preserve and protect prime agricultural areas for long term viable agricultural use and 
avoid or minimize potential impacts on agricultural operations, and direct non-agricultural uses to 
settlements wherever possible. 
 
Non-agricultural uses include commercial, industrial, institutional, infrastructure, public works 
yards, recreational, and residential uses that are not directly related to, or supportive of 
agriculture. Within the Agricultural designation, the use of prime agricultural land for agricultural, 
mineral, petroleum and environmental resources will be given a higher priority in land use decision 
making than its use for non-agricultural uses. 
 
To maintain the agricultural land resource for agriculture and related uses, and ensure new 
commercial, industrial and institutional uses develop on an appropriate level of services and are 
directed to settlements to support their planned service and employment functions, new 
non-agricultural commercial, industrial and institutional uses will not be permitted within the 
Agricultural Reserve, except in accordance with the policies of Section 3.1.7.2. 
 
Section 3.1.7.2 directs that proposals to amend the Official Plan to permit the establishment of 
new non-agricultural uses in the Agricultural Reserve must provide compelling evidence to 
demonstrate that the proposed non-agricultural use cannot be located within a settlement and 
that the following considerations have been addressed: 

• Justification analysis which shows that: 
o there is a demonstrated need within the planning period for additional land to be 

removed from agricultural production and re-designated for the proposed use, 
given the nature and capacity of undeveloped lands within settlements and/or 
within other appropriate land use designations; 

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 21 of 245



 Report No: CP 2025-283 
COMMUNITY PLANNING 

Council Date: October 1, 2025 
 

Page 9 of 13 

o nature of the proposal and whether the use requires special locational 
requirements or physical features that are only available in prime agricultural 
areas; 

o the amount of land proposed for the new development is the minimum required 
for the immediate needs of the proposed use; and,  

• Agricultural impact analysis, which demonstrates: 
o the lands do not comprise a specialty crop area; 
o there are no reasonable alternatives which avoid prime agricultural areas; 
o there are no reasonable alternatives on lands with lesser agricultural capability 

or on lands left less suitable for agriculture by existing or past development; 
o MDS I is satisfied; and,  
o Impacts from the new use on nearby agricultural operations are mitigated to the 

extent possible. 
• The level of servicing planned or available is consistent with the servicing hierarchy 

established in Section 5.5.3 of this Plan for individual on-site water and individual on-site 
sewage services. 

• The proposed use shall be compatible with and not hinder surrounding agricultural 
operations and nearby land uses. 

• The proposed use shall not create traffic hazards, and the road infrastructure shall be 
capable of accommodating the new use or expansion. 

• The proposal is consistent with Environmental Resource Policies and Cultural Heritage 
Policies. 

• The proposal will not conflict with Resource Extraction Policies. 
• The proposal is acceptable regarding the ability to achieve the Goal for Agricultural 

Policies as set out in Section 3.1.1, the precedent to be established for other sites within 
the County and the ability to implement planned land uses in the vicinity. 

 
Zoning By-law 
 
The subject lands are currently zoned ‘General Agricultural Zone (A2)’ according to the Township 
of Blandford-Blenheim Zoning By-law, which permits a wide range of agricultural uses, including 
farm buildings and an accessory dwelling, and requires a minimum lot area of 30 ha (74.1 ac) and 
a minimum lot frontage of 100 m (328.1 ft). The maximum height for buildings within the A2 zone 
is 15 m (49.2 ft).    
 
The Township of Blandford-Blenheim Zoning By-law does not specifically list an animal 
crematorium in Table 5.18.2.1 – Parking Standards. For proposed uses that are not specifically 
listed within the parking standard table of the Zoning By-law a calculation rate of 1 parking space 
per 40 m2 (430.6 ft2) is applied. At a size of 929 m2 (10,000 ft2) the parking calculation would result 
in the need for 23.3 parking spaces, rounding up to 24 parking spaces. For situations where the 
required parking spaces is between 13 and 100 spaces, 4% of required parking spaces shall be 
accessible spaces. The applicants are proposing 24 parking spaces, including two accessible 
parking spaces.  
 
Agency Comments 
 
The Township Chief Building Official has indicated that any detached structures over 15 m2 (161.4 
ft2) building permits as well as septic permits for any plumbing fixtures.  
 
The Oxford County Public Works Department, the Township Drainage Superintendent, the 
Township Director of Protective Services, the Upper Thames River Conservation Authority 

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 22 of 245



 Report No: CP 2025-283 
COMMUNITY PLANNING 

Council Date: October 1, 2025 
 

Page 10 of 13 

(UTRCA), the Grand River Conservation Authority (GRCA), Southwestern Public Health, and 
Canada Post have indicated no concerns with the proposal.  
 
Public Consultation 
 
In accordance with the requirements of the Planning Act, notice of complete application regarding 
this proposal was provided to surrounding property owners on July 4th, 2025, and notice of public 
meeting was issued on September 11th, 2025. As of the date of this report, 11 letters of concern 
have been received from members of the general public. A petition against the proposal has been 
submitted to Staff containing more than 190 signatures. Two letters of support from a member of 
the general public and Rural Oxford Economic Development have also been received. Copies of 
each letter and the petition have been attached to Report CP 2025-283 for Council’s 
consideration. 
 
Planning Analysis 
 
2024 Provincial Planning Statement  
 
Section 2.3 of the PPS directs that prime agricultural areas shall be protected for long-term use 
for agriculture. Permitted uses and activities within a prime agricultural area include agricultural 
uses, agriculture-related uses, and on-farm diversified uses. 
 
Planning staff have assessed the proposed animal crematorium in accordance with the PPS 
policies and provincial guidelines pertaining to permitted uses in prime agricultural areas. The 
subject lands do not comprise a specialty crop area as defined by the PPS but are actively farmed 
and the majority of lands are located within a prime agricultural area consisting of Class 2 type 
soil based on the Canada Land Inventory (CLI). In consultation with the Township Chief Building 
Official (CBO) it was determined that the proposed animal crematorium would be viewed similarly 
as a deadstock handling facility in terms of Minimum Distance Separation (MDS) requirements. 
In accordance with The Minimum Distance Separation (MDS) Document provided by the Province 
of Ontario (otherwise known as Publication 853) deadstock handling facilities are exempt from 
MDS I and MDS II regulations.  
 
The PPS policies pertaining to OFDUs require, along with meeting other criteria, that such uses 
be secondary to the principal agricultural use and limited in area in order to minimize the amount 
of land taken out of agricultural production, ensure agriculture remains the main land use, and 
limit off-site impacts. The related provincial guidance indicates that the area required for the 
OFDU shall include all land occupied by, or no longer available for agricultural production as a 
result of, the OFDU, including buildings, outdoor storage, landscaped areas, private services, and 
parking. However, it is noted that, as permitted by the PPS, the County of Oxford Official Plan 
sets out more specific, locally developed and Provincially approved, size/area and other scale 
criteria for such uses, which are reviewed below.  
 
Based on the site plan and information submitted by the applicants, the existing site area 
associated with the animal crematorium (i.e. buildings, parking, landscaped areas etc.) is 
approximately 0.96 ha (2.37 ac), which equates to approximately 3% of the total lot area. This 
would exceed both the recommended maximum site area criteria set out for such uses in the 
provincial guidance document (i.e. 2% of lot area to a maximum of 1 ha), as well as the locally 
established maximum site area criteria for such uses set out in the Official Plan (i.e. 2% of lot area 
to a maximum of 0.8 ha). Further, other scale related aspects of the animal crematorium (e.g. 
building size, number of employees) are beyond the scale intended for an OFDU by provincial 
policy and guidelines, as more specifically addressed by the locally developed and Provincially 

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 23 of 245



 Report No: CP 2025-283 
COMMUNITY PLANNING 

Council Date: October 1, 2025 
 

Page 11 of 13 

approved Official Plan criteria. Staff also have concerns as to whether agriculture would remain 
the principal use of the property and to what extent the landowners are involved in the farm 
operation/farming.  
 
The definition and policies for agriculture-related uses in the PPS indicate that such uses are 
farm-related commercial and farm-related industrial uses that are directly related to farm 
operations in the area, support agriculture, benefit from being in close proximity to farm 
operations, and provide direct products and/or services to farm operations as a primary activity.  
 
Considering the overall nature and scale of the proposed animal crematorium, it is the opinion of 
Planning staff that the use is not limited in scale, could successfully operate within a settlement 
area, and would not meet the applicable criteria for an On-Farm Diversified Use or Agricultural 
Related Use, as set out in the PPS and associated Provincial guidelines and locally developed 
criteria. As such, Planning staff do not consider the proposal to be a permitted use within a prime 
agricultural area.  
 
Official Plan  
 
Staff have evaluated the proposal in accordance with the review criteria in the Official Plan for 
OFDUs. The intent of the Official Plan policies for OFDUs is to ensure that the use is clearly 
secondary to the principal agricultural operation, compatible with and does not hinder surrounding 
agricultural uses, protects prime agricultural areas, is appropriate for rural infrastructure, and does 
not undermine or conflict with the planned function of settlements.  
 
The Official Plan outlines basic locational requirements for OFDUs, including the requirement for 
an OFDU to be located within established building clusters and to make use of the existing 
driveway except where it is clearly not feasible and/or appropriate to do so. In this case, the animal 
crematorium is proposed to be located on an agricultural property but located away from the 
established building cluster on-site. The existing building cluster is located on the north side of 
the subject lands with access to Oxford Road 29 and contains a single detached dwelling and 
various outbuildings. The animal crematorium is proposed to be located on the west side of the 
subject lands, more than 200 m (656 ft) from the building cluster, and would maintain a separate 
access to Blandford Road. In the opinion of staff, compelling rationale as to why it is not feasible 
or appropriate for the OFDU to be located within the existing building cluster has not been 
provided.  
 
In keeping with both provincial guidelines and local policy objectives, the Official Plan policies 
prohibit ‘large-scale commercial and industrial uses’ as OFDUs. As such, given the scale of the 
animal crematorium, it is the opinion of staff that such a proposed use is not considered to be an 
OFDU. Even other uses that may be permitted as OFDUs (i.e. are not prohibited), can only be 
considered if they meet all applicable policy criteria, including various specific and very intentional 
limitations on size and scale (e.g. maximum site area, building size, number of employees, 
patrons, and guests etc.). For comparison purposes, this proposal has also been reviewed in 
relation to a number of these criteria, as follows.   
 
Based on the site plan and information submitted by the applicants, the total area associated with 
the proposed animal crematorium is approximately 0.96 ha (2.37  ac) or 3% of the total parcel 
size, which is exceeds the maximum of 0.8 ha (2 ac), or 2% of total lot area, permitted by the 
Official Plan. Further, the gross floor area of the animal crematorium is approximately 929 m2 
(10,000 ft2), which exceeds the permitted maximum gross floor area of 557 m2 (6,000 ft2) by 372 
m2 (4,000 ft2), or approximately 66%. 
 

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 24 of 245



 Report No: CP 2025-283 
COMMUNITY PLANNING 

Council Date: October 1, 2025 

Page 12 of 13 

The Official Plan policies also state that the OFDU shall directly involve the owner of the farm 
living on the same lot as the OFDU and may also involve any other permanent residents on the 
lot and up to two employees who do not reside on the lot. A farm owner is defined in the Official 
Plan as: 

“An individual, partnership, or corporation which: 
o Owns, is employed on, and manages an agricultural operation consisting of one or

more agricultural lots;
o Earns a majority of their income from farming (the scale of the agricultural

operation should be capable of generating reasonable operating profit under
"normal" economic conditions);

o Spends a majority of their workday in the day-to-day operation of the farm on a
full-time, year-round or extended seasonal basis;

o Demonstrates a continuing commitment to the farm operation and long term
farming, such as through sustainable farming practices, on-going farm
maintenance and improvement (i.e., drainage, erosion control, soil improvement,
fencing etc.), and direct investment in equipment, buildings, and crops; and,

o Must have a valid Farm Business Registration Number.”

In this case, it is the understanding of staff that the owners of the farm do not have a valid Farm 
Business Registration Number and rent out the lands for cash cropping to an off-site farmer. Given 
that the owners of the farm are not actively involved with farming and do not earn the majority of 
their income from farming it is the opinion of staff that the owners would not be considered a farm 
owner under the existing definition in the Official Plan.  

Additionally, the applicants are proposing that the number of employees would range from six 
and 12 individuals. This would be a combination of full-time and part-time employees and 
would include the owner of the subject lands. This proposed number of employees would 
exceed the permitted maximum of two off-site employees in addition to any employees who 
reside on-site. The applicants have advised that the nature of the animal crematorium will 
require more than two employees. In the opinion of staff, the need for considerably more 
employees than the permitted two off-site employees reaffirms that the use and scale of the 
proposed business is better suited for established settlements.  

For the above reasons, it is the opinion of planning staff that the proposed animal crematorium 
use, and the proposed scale are not intended to be permitted as an OFDU. Further, the Official 
Plan policies specifically state that uses that would exceed the scale restrictions for an OFDU 
shall not be permitted unless they comply with the agriculture-related use policies. Proposals that 
cannot meet those policies shall be directed to locate or relocate in a settlement or must comply 
with the applicable policies for non-agricultural uses.  

In this regard, it is also the opinion of staff that the use does not comply with the applicable policies 
for agricultural related uses, as it has not been demonstrated that the use is required to be located 
upon agricultural land and that sufficient land does not currently exist within identified settlements. 
As such, Planning staff are of the opinion that the proposal to permit an animal crematorium would 
be considered a non-agricultural use, which should generally be directed to be located in a 
settlement area (e.g. on lands designated for commercial/industrial purposes with appropriate 
services).  

In light on the foregoing, Planning staff are of the opinion that the proposed animal crematorium 
does not meet the definition of an OFDU, as the Official Plan does not permit large-scale 

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 25 of 245



 Report No: CP 2025-283 
COMMUNITY PLANNING 

Council Date: October 1, 2025 
 

Page 13 of 13 

commercial and industrial uses as OFDUs. As such, staff are of the opinion that the proposal is 
not appropriate from a planning perspective and should not be supported. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
1. That the Council of the Township of Blandford-Blenheim advise County Council that 

the Township does not support the application for the Official Plan Amendment (File 
No. OP25-08-1) submitted by Matthew and Jacklynn Bowcott for the lands legally 
described as Part Lot 6, Concession 6, as in 503194, Except Parts 8, 9, 10, 11, 
Registered Plan 41R-3091, S/T BD9457, Township of Blandford-Blenheim to include 
a site-specific policy to permit an animal crematorium as an On-Farm Diversified 
Use (OFDU); and,  
 

2. And further that the Council of the Township of Blandford-Blenheim not approve 
the Zone Change Application (File No. ZN1-25-05) submitted by Matthew and 
Jacklynn Bowcott, whereby the lands described as Part Lot 6, Concession 6, as in 
503194, Except Parts 8, 9, 10, 11, Registered Plan 41R-3091, S/T BD9457, Township 
of Blandford-Blenheim, be rezoned from ‘General Agricultural Zone (A2)’ to ‘Special 
General Agricultural Zone (A2-sp)’ to permit an animal crematorium as an On-Farm 
Diversified Use (OFDU). 

 
 
SIGNATURES 
 
Authored by:            ‘Original Signed by’  Dustin Robson, MCIP, RPP 
        Development Planner 
  
  
Approved for submission:     ‘Original Signed by’  Eric Gilbert, MCIP, RPP 
       Manager of Development Planning 
 

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 26 of 245



June 20, 2025

This map is a user generated static output from an Internet mapping site and
is for reference only. Data layers that appear on this map may or may not be

accurate, current, or otherwise reliable. This is not a plan of survey

Legend

4090

Notes

NAD_1983_UTM_Zone_17N

205 Meters

Parcel Lines
Property Boundary
Assessment Boundary
Unit
Road
Municipal Boundary

Zoning Floodlines 
Regulation Limit

100 Year Flood Line
30 Metre Setback
Conservation Authority 
Regulation Limit
Regulatory Flood And Fill Lines

Land Use Zoning (Displays 
1:16000 to 1:500)

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 27 of 245

drobson
Polygon

Dustin Robson
Callout
Subject Lands

astellings
Text Box
Plate 1: Location Map and Existing Zoning
File No. OP25-08-1 and ZN1-25-05 (Bowcott)
Part Lot 6, Concession 6 (Blandford), As In 503194, Except Parts 8, 9, 10, 11, Registered Plan 41R-3091, S/T BD9457, Township of Blandford-Blenheim, 806012 Oxford 29

Dustin Robson
Callout
Approximate Location of Proposed Crematorium



September 16, 2025

This map is a user generated static output from an Internet mapping site and
is for reference only. Data layers that appear on this map may or may not be

accurate, current, or otherwise reliable. This is not a plan of survey

Legend

4090

Notes

NAD_1983_UTM_Zone_17N

205 Meters

Parcel Lines
Property Boundary
Assessment Boundary
Unit
Road
Municipal Boundary

Zoning Floodlines 
Regulation Limit

100 Year Flood Line
30 Metre Setback
Conservation Authority 
Regulation Limit
Regulatory Flood And Fill Lines

Land Use Zoning (Displays 
1:16000 to 1:500)

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 28 of 245

astellings
Text Box
Plate 2: Aerial Photography (2020)
File No. OP25-08-1 and ZN1-25-05 (Bowcott)
Part Lot 6, Concession 6 (Blandford), As In 503194, Except Parts 8, 9, 10, 11, Registered Plan 41R-3091, S/T BD9457, Township of Blandford-Blenheim, 806012 Oxford 29

Dustin Robson
Callout
Subject Lands

Dustin Robson
Callout
Approximate Location of Proposed Crematorium

drobson
Polygon



September 16, 2025

This map is a user generated static output from an Internet mapping site and
is for reference only. Data layers that appear on this map may or may not be

accurate, current, or otherwise reliable. This is not a plan of survey

Legend

4090

Notes

NAD_1983_UTM_Zone_17N

205 Meters

Parcel Lines
Property Boundary
Assessment Boundary
Unit
Road
Municipal Boundary

100 Metre Buffer Ingersoll
Land Use Designation

Residential
Residential Reserve
Central Business District
Entrepreneurial District
Neighbourhood Shopping Centre
Service Commercial
Regional Commercial Node
Business Park
Traditional Industrial
Community Facility
Open Space
Environmental Protection
Future Urban Growth
Rural Buffer
Industrial Site Specific Policy 
Area
Agricultural Reserve
Settlement
County Biosolid Storage Facility
County Landfill Site
Quarry Area
Industrial
Prime Industrial
Linear Rural Cluster
Pedestrian Predominate Area

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 29 of 245

astellings
Text Box
Plate 3: Official Plan Designation Map
File No. OP25-08-1 and ZN1-25-05 (Bowcott)
Part Lot 6, Concession 6 (Blandford), As In 503194, Except Parts 8, 9, 10, 11, Registered Plan 41R-3091, S/T BD9457, Township of Blandford-Blenheim, 806012 Oxford 29

Dustin Robson
Callout
Subject Lands

Dustin Robson
Callout
Approximate Location of Proposed Crematorium

drobson
Polygon



WELL

Date

THE MUNICIPALITY OF
BLANDFORD-BLENHEIM

Engineers, Scientists, Surveyors

519-204-6510

55715-200

A1.1

SITE

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 30 of 245

AutoCAD SHX Text
N15°16'30"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
N30%%D13'00"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
303.873

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
MECH ROOM

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOOD HAZARD 6.0m OFFSET LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOOD HAZARD 6.0m OFFSET LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
120m BUFFER 'EP1 ZONE'

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.8 CONC. SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE THROUGH/LOADING/UNLOADING

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTDOOR GARDEN AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
EQ. PAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
14' OH DOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
14' OH DOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.5 CONC. SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.8 CONC. SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
DUMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
DUMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
50m BUFFER WOODLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOOD HAZARD LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOOD HAZARD LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRE ROUTE (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED GENERATOR LOCATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED GARBAGE ENCLOSURE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPE  B

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROD IRON FENCE (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROD IRON FENCE (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
OH DOOR (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
OH DOOR (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
F.R.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
F.R.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
F.R.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
F.R.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
F.R.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
F.R.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
F.R.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
F.R.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
F.R.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
F.R.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
F.R.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
ABSORPTION TRENCH BED

AutoCAD SHX Text
2900L PUMP CHAMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
4500L SEPTIC TANK

AutoCAD SHX Text
60,000L (MODEL-H60S) FIRE SUPPRESSION TANK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED DRY HYDRANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED WELL

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOLLARD (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPE  B

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRE ROUTE (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. BUILDING AREA=929.0m  2FFE=T.B.D.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECTION OF TREES TO BE REMOVED TO ACCOMODATE PROPOSED DRIVEWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLANDFORD ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRECAST CONCRETE CURB 

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRE ROUTE (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
BF RAMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.0m GRAVEL ROUNDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.0m GRAVEL ROUNDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.0m GRAVEL ROUNDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
50.0m BUFFER WOODLAND LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOOD HAZARD 6.0m OFFSET LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOODING HAZARD LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGEND

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEV. =       m

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEV. =       m

AutoCAD SHX Text
Checked By

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sheet   of     

AutoCAD SHX Text
Scale

AutoCAD SHX Text
Drawn By

AutoCAD SHX Text
Surveyed By

AutoCAD SHX Text
KEY PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
Project No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Checked By

AutoCAD SHX Text
Design By

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWING

AutoCAD SHX Text
Date

AutoCAD SHX Text
Project Manager

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE BENCHMARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE BENCHMARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
Nov.18/24

AutoCAD SHX Text
Drawing No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT

AutoCAD SHX Text
P:\P\55715\200\DWG\SITE PLAN\55715-200-SITE PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
MTE FILE PATH:

AutoCAD SHX Text
L. SULLIVAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRIGON CONSTRUCTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
MANAGEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
35 RIDGEWAY CIRCLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODSTOCK, ON

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLANDFORD RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
ANIMAL CREMATORY

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLANDFORD ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRUMBO, ON

AutoCAD SHX Text
294.30

AutoCAD SHX Text
295.020

AutoCAD SHX Text
JAC

AutoCAD SHX Text
AOOS

AutoCAD SHX Text
JAC

AutoCAD SHX Text
JJM

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF CONSTRUCTION TO ARRANGE FOR INSPECTION.

AutoCAD SHX Text
IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR TO

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTIFY M.T.E. CONSULTANTS INC. PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF THE SITE WORKS NOT INSPECTED DURING CONSTRUCTION.

AutoCAD SHX Text
M.T.E. CONSULTANTS INC. CANNOT CERTIFY ANY COMPONENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE OWNER/ARCHITECT/CONTRACTOR IS ADVISED THAT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE TO CONTRACTOR :

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALL DRAWINGS REMAIN THE PROPERTY OF THE ENGINEER

AutoCAD SHX Text
AND SHALL NOT BE REPRODUCED OR REUSED WITHOUT THE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGINEER'S WRITTEN PERMISSION.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AND REPORT ANY DISCREPANCIES TO THE ENGINEER BEFORE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROCEEDING WITH THE WORK.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONTRACTORS MUST CHECK AND VERIFY ALL DIMENSIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DO NOT SCALE DRAWINGS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
YYYY-MM-DD

AutoCAD SHX Text
BY

AutoCAD SHX Text
R E V I S I O N

AutoCAD SHX Text
No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.

AutoCAD SHX Text
2.

AutoCAD SHX Text
3.

AutoCAD SHX Text
4.

AutoCAD SHX Text
5.

AutoCAD SHX Text
6.

AutoCAD SHX Text
7.

AutoCAD SHX Text
8.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLIENT REVIEW

AutoCAD SHX Text
MTE

AutoCAD SHX Text
2024-11-26

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRST SUBMISSION

AutoCAD SHX Text
MTE

AutoCAD SHX Text
2024-12-10

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISED BUILDING FOOTPRINT

AutoCAD SHX Text
MTE

AutoCAD SHX Text
2025-03-06

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISED BUILDING LOCATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
MTE

AutoCAD SHX Text
2025-04-22

AutoCAD SHX Text
#2

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPE: NAIL IN HYDRO POLE LOCATION: 80.4m SOUTH OF THE CONCRETE BOX CULVERT, ON THE WEST SIDE OF THE ROAD, E=525839.9530m, N=4784531.1770m 

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPE: CUT CROSS  LOCATION: CUT CROSS LOCATED ON CONCRETE BOX CULVERT LOCATED ON THE EAST SIDE OF BLANDFORD ROAD.  E=525831.1560m, N=4784612.5690m

AutoCAD SHX Text
#1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1:300

AutoCAD SHX Text
1:1500

AutoCAD SHX Text
120m BUFFER 'EP1 ZONE'

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UREQUIRED 

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UDETAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT FRONTAGE (m)

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT DEPTH (m)

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROAD SETBACK (m)

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXTERIOR SIDE YARD (m)

AutoCAD SHX Text
REAR YARD (m)

AutoCAD SHX Text
No. OF ADDITIONAL PARKING SPACES 

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUILDING HEIGHT (m)

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE DATA

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT AREA (Ha)

AutoCAD SHX Text
A1

AutoCAD SHX Text
30.0 Ha

AutoCAD SHX Text
100.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERIOR SIDE YARD (m)

AutoCAD SHX Text
31.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text
15.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text
7.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text
7.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text
15.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UPROPOSED

AutoCAD SHX Text
31.97 Ha

AutoCAD SHX Text
334.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text
674.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text
148.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text
138.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text
28.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text
156.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text
6.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
SERVICING BEDS\CHAMBERS\TANKS (m²)

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOTAL OFDU (m²)

AutoCAD SHX Text
929

AutoCAD SHX Text
423

AutoCAD SHX Text
4792.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
648

AutoCAD SHX Text
9643.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED ON FARM DIVERSIFIED USE (OFDU) STATS

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKING AREA (m²)

AutoCAD SHX Text
AREA OF PROPOSED BUILDING AND STRUCTURES (m²)

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTDOOR USE AREA (m²)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PUBLICATION 851 RECOMMENDATIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.96ha OFDU=3.00%%% OF THE 31.97ha PARCEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
929m² BLDG AREA=9.6%%% OF THE 9643.5m² OFDU AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
2851

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANEWAY AREA (m²)

astellings
Text Box
Plate 4: Applicants' Sketch
File No. OP25-08-1 and ZN1-25-05 (Bowcott)
Part Lot 6, Concession 6 (Blandford), As In 503194, Except Parts 8, 9, 10, 11, Registered Plan 41R-3091, S/T BD9457, Township of Blandford-Blenheim, 806012 Oxford 29



 Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 31 of 245

astellings
Text Box
Plate 5: Applicants' Rendering
File No. OP25-08-1 and ZN1-25-05 (Bowcott)
Part Lot 6, Concession 6 (Blandford), As In 503194, Except Parts 8, 9, 10, 11, Registered Plan 41R-3091, S/T BD9457, Township of Blandford-Blenheim, 806012 Oxford 29



 

1 

318 Wellington Road, London, ON, N6C 4P4  

TEL (519) 474-7137 Email: zp@zpplan.com 

 

 

 

September 23, 2025         sent via e-mail 

 

Mayor Peterson and Council Members 

Township of Blandford-Blenheim 

47 Wilmot Street South 

Drumbo, ON 

N0J 1G0 

 

Re:  Project Information 

  Official Plan Amendment & Zoning By-law Amendment Applications   

  Matthew and Jacklynn Bowcott 

  806012 Oxford Road 29 

  Village of Innerkip, Township of Blandford-Blenheim, ON 

Our File: TRG/EZT/25-01 

Ahead of the public meeting scheduled for October 1, 2025, Zelinka Priamo Ltd., on behalf of 

Matthew and Jacklynn Bowcott, is pleased to submit this information letter regarding concurrent 

Official Plan Amendment (‘OPA’) and Zoning By-law Amendment (‘ZBA’) Applications for the 

lands located at 806012 Oxford Road 29 (the “subject lands”). The applications seek to permit an 

“Animal Crematorium” use on the subject lands as an On-Farm Diversified Use.   

This letter provides a brief summary of the proposed development and planning analysis provided 

in the Planning Justification Report (“PJR”) submitted in support of the OPA/ZBA applications. 

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 

Matthew and Jacklynn Bowcott are the sole owners and residents of the subject lands, and are 

proposing to construct a low-rise 929 m2 “Animal Crematorium” on the southwesterly portion of 

their farm, with access off Blandford Road.  

The “Animal Crematorium” is proposed to directly support equine and associated facilities in the 

surrounding agricultural area, with most of the clientele focusing on companion animals, primarily 

horses and small animals. All visits will be by appointment only. The anticipated number of 

employees will range from 6 to 9 full and part-time staff. 

ON-FARM DIVERSIFIED USE (“OFDU”) 

An On-Farm Diversified Use is a permitted use in prime agricultural areas. It is our professional 

opinion that the proposed “Animal Crematorium” meets the five criteria to qualify as an OFDU as 

per OMAFRA’s Guidelines on Permitted Uses in Ontario’s Prime Agricultural Areas 2016 

(Publication 851) and the 2024 Provincial Planning Statement for the following reasons: 

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 32 of 245



Project Information                September 23, 2025 

806012 Oxford Road 29              Zelinka Priamo Ltd. 

2 

318 Wellington Road, London, ON, N6C 4P4  

TEL (519) 474-7137 Email: zp@zpplan.com 

• The proposed “Animal Crematorium” aims to facilitate the final disposal of animal remains 

from nearby farms; offers a safer environmental alternative to disposal methods that pose 

risks to groundwater, such as on-site burial; and prevents individual farms from disrupting 

farmland for on-farm animal burials; 

• The proposed use is located on an active farm property. Minimal net impact is anticipated 

on existing agricultural uses on the subject lands; 

• The proposed building size is approximately 929m², which represents 9.6% of the total 

area used for the “Animal Crematorium”, thereby complying with the maximum 

recommended limit of 20%; 

• The project area measures approximately 0.96ha in size, totaling approximately 3.0% of 

the total lot area. The OMAFRA Guideline recommends that an OFDU occupies 2% of the 

size of a property, up to a maximum area of 1 ha. While it is acknowledged that the 

proposed area of the OFDU is above the 2% guideline, it is less than the 1 ha threshold. 

Moreover, the proposed building size of 929m² is well below the recommended building 

size cap (i.e. 20% of 2% land area), demonstrating that the proposed use is appropriately 

scaled relative to the size of the subject lands; and 

• The proposed “Animal Crematorium” provides generous setbacks from Blandford Road 

(i.e. 135m or 440 ft) and will be screened from neighbouring properties by existing 

vegetation along the lot lines. The proposal development avoids significant natural features 

and hazard lands and has in-principal support from The Upper Thames River Conservation 

Authority. Additionally, the proposed building maintains the agricultural and rural character 

of the area. No significant negative impact is anticipated on existing agricultural operations 

in the surrounding area; 

• The proposed “Animal Crematorium” is subject to strict provincial and federal 

environmental controls and will obtain an Environmental Compliance Approval (ECA) to 

permit the proposed use on the subject lands. More information on the requirements to 

operate the facility and incinerators will be provided at the Public Meeting by a consultant; 

• The associate traffic with the proposed use will be minimal. Two pickup vans are expected 

to operate in the morning and return in the afternoon. The only other traffic anticipated will 

be staff arriving for work. All visitors will be received by appointment only. 

CONCLUSION 

It is our professional opinion that the proposed “Animal Crematorium” meets the relevant criteria 

to qualify as an OFDU, which would be permitted use on the subject lands. 

The proposed OPA and ZBA applications are consistent with the intent and policies as set forth 

in the provincial and municipal planning legislation. Moreover, the proposed use provides direct 

service and support to agricultural operations in the surrounding area while offering a sustainable 

alternative to traditional animal disposal methods. It also provides an economic contribution to the 

local economy, providing employment opportunities, having a positive impact on the local 

agricultural community. As such, the proposed amendments are considered appropriate and 

represent good land use planning. 

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 33 of 245



Project Information                September 23, 2025 

806012 Oxford Road 29              Zelinka Priamo Ltd. 

3 

318 Wellington Road, London, ON, N6C 4P4  

TEL (519) 474-7137 Email: zp@zpplan.com 

We trust that the information provided in this letter is sufficient for your needs. Please don’t 

hesitate to contact us if any additional information is required for your review. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

ZELINKA PRIAMO LTD. 

 

 

 

Danieli Sikelero Elsenbruch 

Planner 

 

cc. The client (via email) 

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 34 of 245



1

From: 
Sent: Friday, April 11, 2025 11:16 AM 
To: 
Subject: Support for Proposed Animal Crematory 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the 
sender and know the content is safe. 

To whom this may concern, 

I hope this message finds you well. 

We are writing to inform you that we recently had the opportunity to meet our neighbors who live across the street from 
us.  
We reside at 806009 Oxford Road 29 in Innerkip, Ontario. 

They kindly took the time to speak with us about their new development plans on their property, which include the 
installation of an animal crematory. 

After learning about their proposal and understanding the nature of the project, we would like to express that we have no 
objections to their plan. 

Please feel free to reach out if you require any further information or clarification. 

Kind regards, 

Lisa and Jeffrey Gill 

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 35 of 245



Address 
16 Brock St, Thamesford, 
ON, N0M 2M0 

Phone Email Website 
www.ruraloxford.ca

April 7th, 2025 

To whom it may concern, 

On behalf of Rural Oxford Economic Development, please accept this letter in support of the 
Bowcott’s proposal for a zone change and official plan amendment on their 75 acres property 
located at 806012 Oxford Road 29 in Blandford-Blenheim Township. 

Matt and his wife Jacky (a local veterinarian), would like to build a 100 x 100 square foot animal 
crematorium on 1.5 acres to the side of their property. The building would be appropriately 
setback, have minimal impact to the farm’s current agricultural activity and no impact on nearby 
conservation areas. They intend to plant ample trees to shield visibility to maintain a low-key 
presence and provide discretion for clients’ during sentimental times. Inside, the building will hold 
three different sized cremation units and a small reception/office area. 

The business is being designed to be able to serve a variety of vet clinics and farmers to meet 
their small, medium, and large animal/pet cremation needs. The Bowcott’s plan to investment 
$6.5M and create six quality agricultural related jobs. Four positions will be on-site, and two will 
be on-the-road. Further, they will be supporting the Township’s local economy through increased 
commercial tax assessment. 

In preparing their business case, the Bowcott’s have been transparent, thorough, practical, and 
mindful to engage various stakeholders for input. We believe this proposal aligns with Goal 1.2.3 
of Oxford County’s 2023-26 Strategic Plan (Support the long-term sustainability of agricultural 
land and industry through a balanced approach to growth and development). We respect the 
policies in place to protect prime agriculture land, and we also support smart, balanced growth in 
rural Oxford County where agricultural related businesses can prosper. 

Thank you for your consideration. 

Kind regards, 

Ronda Stewart, Ec. D. 
Economic Development Director 

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 36 of 245



From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

Planning
Building of Crematorium
Sunday, September 7, 2025 7:17:57 AM

September 7, 2025
Attention:

Dustin Robson
Development Planner
County of Oxford
PO Box 1614, 21 Reeve St
Woodstock, On
N4S 7Y3

Email: planning@oxfordcounty.ca
File #: OP25-08 I and ZN1-25-05. Owners Matthew & Jacklynn Bowcot
Applicant: Zelinka Priamo Ltd.

Dear Mr. Robson:

Our family have been a resident of the Vink Estates in Innerkip for 37 years. We have raised out
kids and grandkids and proud to be part of this community.

Our concerns are as follows of a Crematorium built in our vicinity.

What happens to the ashes after the animals are cremated? Are these scattered? These could
affect our air quality within the vicinity of our homes, soil, and wells.

How does this affect our overall health?
Incinerators pose a different kind of risk: air emissions. An incinerator that is operated
improperly or otherwise malfunctioning can result in odour and smoke complaints. Even
though these may be modern technology and using advanced filtration techniques, over the
years of wear and tear, things do break down. Is there a policy in place to prevent this?

Changing the zoning: Does this attract other businesses/factories to build in our area? Will this
affect our property value in the future?

Running 24/7? Is there a noise factor we should be aware of? What about our wildlife

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 37 of 245

mailto:planning@oxfordcounty.ca


These are a few of my concerns. I appreciate you taking the time to give these your attention. 
Linda Fader
36 Harwood St.
Innerkip, Ont
N0J 1M0

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 38 of 245



Dustin Robson-Development Planner Community Planning County of Oxford

Re: File No: OP 25-08-1 and ZN 1-25-05

Owners: Matthew and Jacklynn Bowcott

Applicant: Zelinka Priamo Ltd

Aug 5, 2025

Good morning Dustin;

Thank you for our telephone conversation on July 22, 2025. I appreciate your time, our conversation 
and the information offered with regards to the many concerns we have regarding the proposed official 
plan amendment and zone change applications that have been submitted in order to move forward with 
building a factory/animal crematorium in our back yard and rural Innerkip community.

On your recommendation it is with full intention that we make our concerns known in writing to you, 
your office, the owners, applicants, Township Council and Oxford County offices. We would also like 
to clearly indicate our interest in receiving all copies of staff reports, notices of decision as well as any 
other written correspondence regarding this application and its process.

As discussed from the view of our perspective, this application and the proposal of pet crematorium in 
our back yard and rural Innerkip is nothing short of disgusting, disappointing not to mention an un-
neighborly approach and business proposal with no apparent regard for the families who live and have 
invested in Innerkip and Oxford County.

A brief outline of our concerns are, but not limited to:

Location

Factory Size; 10, 000 ft 2

Exhaust / Stack Height; 15 meter

Parking lot / Drive thru

Traffic; including large trucks transporting deceased animals

Pollution / Particulates (burning)

Incinerator vibrations / emissions / noise / decibels levels

Odor / Gases

Short / long term human / animal health risks (known/unknown) ref; Wind turbine health issues

Environmental implications / impact (known/unknown)

Ecosystem; Creek/Fish/Birds/Wildlife

Property Values / Public Perception

Thank you for your time and your consideration of our concerns regarding our home, investment and 
our future in rural Innerkip.

Jennifer L. Glasser

775810 Blandford Road

RR2, Innerkip ON N0J 1M0

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 39 of 245



Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 40 of 245



Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 41 of 245



Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 42 of 245



From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

Planning
File No.OP 25-08-01 and ZN 1-25-05 Owner Matthew and Jacklyn Bowcott Applicant: Zelinka Priamo Ltd 
Thursday, August 14, 2025 11:13:03 AM

﻿
﻿
Hello,
Dustin Robson

As a concerned resident of Innerkip, I am writing to express strong reservations about the
proposed construction of a pet crematorium in our small and cherished township.

Innerkip is known for its clean air, peaceful atmosphere, and close-knit community. The idea
of animal cremation taking place in our backyard raises legitimate concerns regarding air
quality, odour, and the psychological impact of such a facility on residents—especially
children. The thought of smoke, however well-managed, carrying the scent or knowledge of
animal remains burning, is deeply unsettling to many of us.

While we understand the need for respectful pet aftercare, locating such a facility within or
near residential zones seems inappropriate. This could be the beginning of industrial facilities
slowly creeping into our community, chipping away at the rural, tranquil charm that makes
Innerkip so special.

Our concerns include:
• Air quality and odour: Despite modern filtration systems, no system is perfect, and
the risk of unpleasant smells or emissions remains.
• Emotional and psychological wellbeing: The idea of animal cremation occurring
nearby can be distressing to many, particularly children and pet lovers.
• Precedent for further industrial development: Approving this facility could open the
door to more industrial or inappropriate businesses being placed in our township.
• Property value implications: The presence of a crematorium may affect local property
values due to perception and concern from potential buyers.

We urge decision-makers to prioritize the character, wellbeing, and long-term vision of 
Innerkip. A pet crematorium, however needed in general, does not belong in a 
residential, family-focused community like ours.

We respectfully ask that this proposal be reconsidered and that alternative, more 
industrial or rural locations be evaluated.

Sincerely,
Susan Nicholas 
11 Lock Street, Innerkip 

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 43 of 245

mailto:planning@oxfordcounty.ca


Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 44 of 245



Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 45 of 245



Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 46 of 245



Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 47 of 245



Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 48 of 245



Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 49 of 245



Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 50 of 245



Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 51 of 245



Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 52 of 245



Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 53 of 245



Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 54 of 245



Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 55 of 245



Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 56 of 245



Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 57 of 245



Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 58 of 245



Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 59 of 245



Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 60 of 245



Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 61 of 245



Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 62 of 245



From:
To:
Subject:

Date:

Planning
Subject: File No. OP 25-08-I and ZN 1-25-05, Owners Matthew and Jacklynn Bowcott - Applicant Zelinka Priamo 
Ltd.
Tuesday, September 9, 2025 4:00:32 PM

September 9, 2025

Attention:   Dustin Robson
 Development Planner - County of Oxford
 P.O. Box 1614, 21 Reeve St., Woodstock, Ontario
 N4S 7Y3

Letter of Concern

We are writing this email as new residents of Innerkip (1 1/2 years) and to express our concern
over a proposed zoning amendment (OP 25-08-I and ZN 1-25-05) and the application to build
an animal/industrial size
crematorium (10,000 sq ft) within 1 km of our residence.  

The concerns we have for this project are as follows:

Precedent:   Approving and changing the zoning in an agricultural zone will open doors
for future non-agricultural industry.

Public health and Air Quality:  Emissions from proposed stack (which has not been
shown on the drawings but has been advised there will be one) Also odours with the
cremation process given the proximity

        to homes, schools, conservation areas.   Latest technology within the facility is only as
good as the operation of the equipment, age of equipment and maintenance of the facility 

Traffic:   Increased traffic in area, especially the driveway into the crematorium on
Blandford Rd. (between two residences) We are assuming there will be larger
transportation vehicles due to the drive thru and 14 ft

 door at the back of the facility 

Disposal of bi-product:  What will be the process of disposing of the bi-product? 
Where will  it be disposed of?  Facility is right beside a creek bed, what system is in
place for waste water?

Environmental Issues and Impact:   The proposed site is surrounded by conservation
land.   Even though the plans show the required variance,  the emissions and additional
activity/noise/traffic will effect

 the natural habitats of the wildlife in that area.  

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 63 of 245

mailto:planning@oxfordcounty.ca


Property Values:  What will be the impact of property values in our area? 

We moved to this area for a quieter lifestyle and its agricultural presence, so to hear that this 
zoning change to industrial is being considered is very disheartening.

Thank you for your attention to this matter.  I trust that the County will prioritize the health 
and well being of the residents.

Milan & Patricia Sokic
23 Elisabeth St
Innerkip, ON  N0J 1M0

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 64 of 245



Dustin Robson-
Development Planner
Community Planning
County of Oxford
519-539-9800 ext.3211
planning@oxfordcounty.ca

Re: File No: OP 25-08-1 and ZN 1-25-05
Owners: Matthew and Jacklynn Bowcott
Applicant: Zelinka Priamo Ltd.

September 25, 2025

Hi Dustin,

I have been trying to think of what to write in my letter and my concerns about the proposed zone 
change and official plan amendment for the Animal Crematorium. We moved to Innerkip from an area 
with an Industrial park a kilometer or so away. If the windows were open at night you could hear the 
buzz off the park. I can't imagine all the different noises that will be coming from a factory of this 
magnitude ( 10 000 Sq. Ft. ) and within a stones throw of my back door.

After being here since 2011 and enjoying the peace and serenity of the Innerkip country mornings 
where you step outside and can hear a pin drop in the dead silence or in my case the sound of the car 
tires going down the road and hearing the click click as the vehicle goes over the bridge into or out of 
town, sometimes you can even hear the golfers yelling “4”.

My concerns are genuine and based on the short and long term effects on human and wildlife health
resulting from the noise, particles/emissions, odors and disease present from deceased animals whose
carcasses/ashes/remains are associated with an animal crematorium/factory of this nature. 

Please help save or community and farm land to be free from Industrial development.

Mike Steeves
775810 Blandford Road
Innerkip, ON

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 65 of 245

mailto:planning@oxfordcounty.ca


Letter of Concern 

Kathy Hastie 
68 Captain McCallum Dr. 
New Hamburg, ON N3A0B6 

2025-09-06 

Dustin Robson, 
Development Planner 
County of Oxford 
P.O. Box 1614, 21 Reeve St. 
Woodstock, ON N4S 7Y3 

Subject: File No. OP 25-08-I and ZN 1-25-05.  Owners Matthew & Jacklynn Bowcot   
Applicant Zelinka Priamo Ltd.  

Dear Mr. Robson, 

I am writing as the daughter of long-time residents of Innerkip, and as a former resident 
myself, to express my concerns regarding the proposed zoning amendment (File No. ZN 
1-25-05 & OP 25-08-I) and the related application to construct an animal crematorium 
within two kilometres of residential properties in our community.

While I understand the County’s responsibility to evaluate applications that may support 
business development, I urge you to carefully consider the potential impacts this project 
could have on nearby residents and the character of our rural community: 

• Public Health and Air Quality: Emissions and odours associated with cremation
processes may adversely affect local air quality, particularly given the proximity of
homes, schools, and recreational areas.

• Environmental Impacts: Establishing a crematorium on agricultural land raises
concerns about soil, water, and ecological health in an area that relies heavily on
farming and natural landscapes.

• Community Character: Innerkip is a family-oriented community where residential
and agricultural uses coexist. A crematorium would be incompatible with
surrounding land uses and could negatively affect property values and community
well-being.

• Precedent: Approving such a facility near residential neighbourhoods could set a
concerning precedent for future zoning and land-use decisions in Oxford County.

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 66 of 245



For these reasons, I respectfully request that the County carefully weigh these concerns 
before making any decision on this rezoning and development application. A more 
appropriate location—farther removed from residential areas and community hubs—
should be considered for this type of operation. 

Thank you for your attention to this matter. I trust that the County will prioritize the health, 
safety, and quality of life of its residents in the decision-making process. 

Sincerely, 

Kathy Hastie 

Formerly of Innerkip, Ontario 

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 67 of 245



September 10, 2025 

Dustin Robson, Development Planner 

County of Oxford 

P.O. Box 1614 21 Reeve Street 

Woodstock, On N4S 7Y3 

File# OP 25-08-1 and ZN 1-25-05 

Owners: Matthew and Jacklynn Bowcott 

Applicant: Zelinka Priamo Ltd. 

I have been a resident of lnnerkip for 33 years and I am opposing this Official Plan 

Amendment and Zone change. 

My property lies adjacent to the Bowcotts. This proposal, if allowed, will greatly impact the 

value of my property. 

Emissions from these proposed 49' stacks will not be good for human or wildlife. 

The noise, odour, toxins and vibrations from this facility will be detrimental to our well 

being and I believe the quality of our health will be greatly impacted. 

We are so fortunate to have local farmers that supply the food we eat to myself, my family 

and our community. We do not want toxins from this crematorium to be contaminating our 

fields. 

A crematorium has no business being in a residential area. This is zoned agriculture. 

Residents do not want this. 

lnnerkip, On N0J 1 MO 

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 68 of 245



Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 69 of 245



We are zoned as agricultural. This is not agriculture. 

I love my home, property and community. Every day I am grateful to live in a 
clean, quiet rural environment. I believe this will change if this proposal is 
allowed. 

I am also interested in receiving reports and notices of decisions. 

Thank y ou for considering my concerns. 

�J
:_

&--
Patti Lichty 

775742 Blandford Road 

lnnerkip, On NOJ 1 MO 

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 70 of 245



Sign petition

192
Verified signatures

The Issue

Start a petition

Oppose Zoning Change in Innerkip, ON for

Bowcott Property

Recent signers:

Victoria Morgan • 6 days ago Debbie Morgan • 6 days ago steve deeks • 1 week ago John Ukos • 1 week ago

9/23/25, 3:15 PM Petition · Oppose Zoning Change in Innerkip, ON for Bowcott Property - Innerkip, Canada · Change.org

https://www.change.org/p/oppose-zoning-change-in-innerkip-on-for-bowcott-property?recruiter=1386417538&recruited_by_id=e03e8c80-8449-11f0-b8… 1/6

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 71 of 245

https://www.change.org/?redirect=false


Growing up in Innerkip, ON, agriculture has always been at the heart of our community. It's

where families like mine—not just the Bowcotts—live, work, and build their lives. That is

why I'm opposing the proposed re-zoning change for File No.: OP 25-08-1 and ZN 1-25-05,

involving owners Matthew and Jacklynn Bowcott and the applicant Zelinka Priamo Ltd. The

land is currently zoned A2 for general agriculture, and converting it to A2-sp is not the best

use for these valuable agricultural lands.

The proposed zoning change raises several concerns for the well-being of our community:

increase in traffic to and from the site, which will not only be disruptive but

also increase the risk of accidents in our quiet area. Safety should be our

priority, and this zoning change threatens that.

potential for contamination in the water running adjacent to the property.

This creek represents not just a local water resource but an ecosystem that

could be irreversibly harmed by pollutants. A toxic spill could easily ruin the

water quality, affecting both humans and wildlife, with long-term

consequences.

spread of infections is another significant risk, particularly if carcasses,

possibly from future operations on the site, are not handled correctly. This is

an immediate risk for outbreaks affecting humans and animals alike,

impacting local health and agriculture in detrimental ways.

Air quality could be compromised due to the potential burning of gas to

incinerate animals. Such actions could lead to air pollution, causing

respiratory issues for residents—especially the young and elderly—and

diminishing overall quality of life.

We must consider what we stand to lose if these changes proceed. The current agricultural

designation supports our local economy, ensures sustainable practices, and maintains the

environmental balance. Changing the zoning jeopardizes all of this for a short-term plan

that does not benefit the majority of Innerkip area residents.

Help us protect our community and its core values by opposing this zoning change. Sign the

petition to preserve the agricultural integrity and safety of Innerkip, ON, for future

Support now

Sign petition

9/23/25, 3:15 PM Petition · Oppose Zoning Change in Innerkip, ON for Bowcott Property - Innerkip, Canada · Change.org

https://www.change.org/p/oppose-zoning-change-in-innerkip-on-for-bowcott-property?recruiter=1386417538&recruited_by_id=e03e8c80-8449-11f0-b8… 2/6

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 72 of 245



generations. Your support is crucial to maintaining our community's character and

environment.

Report a policy violation

PaulCheryl …

Petition Starter

Supporter Voices

Featured Comments

Emily, Innerkip

3 weeks ago

“Concerned about pollutants in the air that negatively impact our health. It is way too close to

our residences and our school.”

3 Likes Report

Jackie, Innerkip

3 weeks ago

“We do not want the contamination in our well water and this is a money grab from the

people wanting to do this, perfectly good service offered by Gateway and the one in London”

3 Likes Report

Media inquiries

Support now

9/23/25, 3:15 PM Petition · Oppose Zoning Change in Innerkip, ON for Bowcott Property - Innerkip, Canada · Change.org

https://www.change.org/p/oppose-zoning-change-in-innerkip-on-for-bowcott-property?recruiter=1386417538&recruited_by_id=e03e8c80-8449-11f0-b8… 3/6

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 73 of 245



John, Woodstock

1 week ago

“Location could be considerably further from residential areas than the planned location.”

0 Likes Report

Support Change —  

Not beholden to politics or power brokers,

Change.org is free for people everywhere to

make change. Every day there are real

victories for issues you care about, only

possible because we are 100% funded by

everyday people like you.

Will you stand with us to protect the power

of everyday people to make a difference?

$4 $10 $15

$20 Other

Support Change.org

Pay with credit card or 

Petition updates

100 supporters 3 weeks ago

View all comments

Become a Member Today

Support now

9/23/25, 3:15 PM Petition · Oppose Zoning Change in Innerkip, ON for Bowcott Property - Innerkip, Canada · Change.org

https://www.change.org/p/oppose-zoning-change-in-innerkip-on-for-bowcott-property?recruiter=1386417538&recruited_by_id=e03e8c80-8449-11f0-b8… 4/6

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 74 of 245



Name City State Postal Cod Country Signed On
PaulCheryl Kornaker Innerkip N0J1M0 United States 8/28/2025
Tasha Kornaker Innerkip N0J1M0 Canada 8/28/2025
dave robertson Innerkip N0J1M0 Canada 8/28/2025
Christine Pickering Lakeside N0M Canada 8/29/2025
Janis Henderson-Devries Innerkip, ON N0J1M0 Canada 8/29/2025
Jen Glasser Innerkip N0J1M0 Canada 8/29/2025
Charlene King Innerkip N0J1M0 Canada 8/29/2025
Pat Sokic Innerkip N0J 1M0 Canada 8/29/2025
Milan Sokic Innerkip N0J 1M0 Canada 8/29/2025
Linda Fader Innerkip N0J 1M0 Canada 8/29/2025
Faith Laughlin Innerkip N0J Canada 8/29/2025
Nate Kornaker Innerkip N4S7V9 Canada 8/29/2025
Christian Mitchell Innerkip N0J 1M0 Canada 8/29/2025
Madeleine Dodaro Woodstock N4T Canada 8/29/2025
Susan Nicholas Woodstock N4S Canada 8/29/2025
Sue Varga Innerkip N0J 1M0 Canada 8/29/2025
Verne Kean Innerkip N0J1M0 Canada 8/29/2025
Asif Sultan Brantford N0E Canada 8/29/2025
Russ King Innerkip N0J1M0 Canada 8/29/2025
Ryan Husk Innerkip N0J1M0 Canada 8/29/2025
Robert Shoemaker Toronto M4P Canada 8/29/2025
Dan Buisman Toronto M5A Canada 8/29/2025
Jason Lovie Innerkip N0J Canada 8/29/2025
Paige Moesker Toronto M5V Canada 8/29/2025
Doug Nicholas Woodstock N4S Canada 8/29/2025
Justin Leger Woodstock N4S Canada 8/29/2025
Derek White East Zorra-Tavistock M9A Canada 8/29/2025
Steve Collins Toronto M6N Canada 8/29/2025
Wilma Haas Innerkip NOJ 1MO Canada 8/29/2025
Dawn Collins Innerkip N0J 1M0 Canada 8/29/2025
Divjot Singh Innerkip N0J1M0 Canada 8/29/2025
Ann McRuvie Caledon L7e 1h9 Canada 8/29/2025
STEVE RUNNING Toronto M5V Canada 8/29/2025
Kyle Collins Innerkip N0J 1M0 Canada 8/29/2025
Kristina Zikovic Innerkip N0J Canada 8/29/2025
Kevin Zikovic Innerkip N0J1M0 Canada 8/29/2025
Angel Hsien Kitchener N2G Canada 8/29/2025
Emily Shoemaker Innerkip N0J Canada 8/29/2025
Justin Peckitt Innerkip N0j1m0 Canada 8/29/2025
Robert Tallman Victoria L9T Canada 8/29/2025
Susan Nicholas Innerkip ON N0J1M0 Canada 8/29/2025
Christopher Bell Woodstock N4S Canada 8/29/2025
Priscilla Bell Woodstock N4S Canada 8/29/2025

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 75 of 245



Megan Reinhart Innerkip N0J Canada 8/29/2025
Neil Butler Woodstock N0j Canada 8/29/2025
Hailey Strecker Innerkip N5C Canada 8/29/2025
Peter Mucha Innerkip N0j1m0 Canada 8/29/2025
C Beckmann Toronto M5A Canada 8/29/2025
Justin MacKay Toronto M9N Canada 8/29/2025
Gilchrist Julie Innerkip N0J 1M0 Canada 8/29/2025
Ashley Gerencser Innerkip N0j1m0 Canada 8/29/2025
KULWINDER JASSAL Woodstock N4T Canada 8/29/2025
Jacqui Rawlings Woodstock N4T Canada 8/29/2025
Geoff Deignan Guelph N1G Canada 8/29/2025
Allie Reinhart Innerkip N0j1m0 Canada 8/29/2025
Jayde Malek Kitchener L6K Canada 8/29/2025
Rachel Pautler Innerkip N0J 1M0 Canada 8/29/2025
Erika Woods Innerkip N0J Canada 8/29/2025
Elisabeth Cairns Toronto M5A Canada 8/29/2025
Cheryl Edl Victoria L9T Canada 8/30/2025
Tammy Clayton Innerkip N0J 1M0 Canada 8/30/2025
Felicia Moyer Innerkip N0J1M0 Canada 8/30/2025
David Williams Montreal H3S Canada 8/30/2025
Amin Safadi Innerkip N0J Canada 8/30/2025
Dan Ecuimates Innerkip N0j Canada 8/30/2025
Michael Littlejohns Victoria L9T Canada 8/30/2025
Michelle Black Innerkip N0J1M0 Canada 8/30/2025
Kendra Spiteri Guelph N1E Canada 8/30/2025
Rebekah Dinney Innerkip N0M 1M0 Canada 8/30/2025
Tracy Bowen Victoria N0J1M0 Canada 8/30/2025
Brianne Bosak Innerkip N0J 1M0 Canada 8/30/2025
Martha Valencia Innerkip N0J1M0 Canada 8/30/2025
Ashley Bauman Innerkip ON N0J Canada 8/30/2025
Margaret Anne Huxley Drumbo N0J 1G0 Canada 8/30/2025
Michelle DeMelo Toronto M5V Canada 8/30/2025
Dominica Wiszniewski Innerkip N0J1M0 Canada 8/30/2025
Dave Fernandes Innerkip N0J 1M0 Canada 8/30/2025
Brandon McClay Innerkip N0J1M0 Canada 8/30/2025
Michele Luksic East Zorra-Tavistock N0J 1M0 Canada 8/30/2025
Doug Mcclay Innerkip Noj1m0 Canada 8/30/2025
mark matos Innerkip N0J Canada 8/30/2025
April Kingsley Innerkip N0J1M0 Canada 8/30/2025
S E Woodstock N4S Canada 8/30/2025
jim harcourt innerkip ont n0j1m0 Canada 8/30/2025
Daxton Wilson Innerkip N0J1M0 Canada 8/30/2025
Camila Taborda Innerkip N0J 1M0 Canada 8/30/2025
Brenda Camp Innerkip N0J 1M0 Canada 8/30/2025

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 76 of 245



Rob Shoemaker Toronto M5R Canada 8/30/2025
Joesy Bernat Innerkip N0j1m0 Canada 8/30/2025
John Austin Innerkip N0J1M0 Canada 8/30/2025
Stephanie Austin Toronto M5R Canada 8/30/2025
Peter Austin Woodstock N4S5L5 Canada 8/30/2025
Ralph Tamming Innerkip N0j 1m0 Canada 8/30/2025
Jackie Tamming Toronto M4L Canada 8/30/2025
Paul Brittain Ontario N0J 1M0 Canada 8/30/2025
Mary-Margaret Braund Innerkip, ON N0J1M0 Canada 8/31/2025
Judy Bruce Wasaga Beach L9Z 2B1 Canada 8/31/2025
Bill Varga Woodstock N4S Canada 8/31/2025
Teresa Cabral Kitchener N2C 1G2 Canada 8/31/2025
Emily Engel Innerkip N0J 1M0 Canada 8/31/2025
Mark Schadenberg Woodstock N4T 0E9 Canada 8/31/2025
Terry McArdle Innerkip Ontario N0J 1M0 Canada 8/31/2025
Daniel Clare Victoria L9T Canada 9/1/2025
Robert Austin Woodstock N4S5K4 Canada 9/1/2025
Michael Franko Toronto N0J Canada 9/1/2025
Kimberley Swanson Innerkip N0J 1M0 Canada 9/1/2025
Anita Lennox Innerkip N0J Canada 9/1/2025
Ella McRoberts Toronto M5A Canada 9/1/2025
Mike Steeves Innerkip N0J 1 M0 Canada 9/2/2025
Jairus and Colleen Peat Bright N0J 1B0 Canada 9/2/2025
Liliana Paliko Kitchener N2N 3L7 Canada 9/2/2025
Gail Schaefer-Krampien Baden N3A Canada 9/2/2025
Joanne Christensen Innerkip N0J1M0 Canada 9/2/2025
Mary Steeves Kitchener N2E Canada 9/2/2025
Kristy Ziegel Innerkip N4s Canada 9/2/2025
ANDREW STEEVES Waterloo N2K Canada 9/2/2025
Linda Geddes Etobicoke M9W Canada 9/2/2025
Susan Gerber Toronto M5R Canada 9/2/2025
Erika Davidson Cambridge N1S Canada 9/2/2025
T Kreller Woodstock N4t 0c3 Canada 9/2/2025
Anita Dolan Woodstock N4S Canada 9/2/2025
Sarah Davidson Mississauga L5M Canada 9/2/2025
Richard Lennox Innerkip N0J1M0 Canada 9/2/2025
John Kreller Ingersoll N5C Canada 9/2/2025
Mike Laughlin Innerkip N0J1M0 Canada 9/2/2025
Aaron Grant Cambridge N1T Canada 9/3/2025
Valarie Mounsteven Ingersoll N5C Canada 9/3/2025
Suzan Payne Kitchener N2H Canada 9/3/2025
Kathrine Macginnis To M4R Canada 9/3/2025
Martin Eby st Agatha N0B2L0 Canada 9/3/2025
Melody JOHNSON Toronto M6N Canada 9/3/2025

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 77 of 245



Cheryl Dolan Woodstock N4S Canada 9/4/2025
Jackie McDonald Paris N3L Canada 9/4/2025
Alicia Kaufman Woodstock N4S Canada 9/4/2025
Rose Lavoie Cambridge N1T Canada 9/4/2025
Janet Mosher Cambridge N1T Canada 9/4/2025
John Glover Toronto M4G Canada 9/4/2025
Sarah Jones Toronto M6S Canada 9/4/2025
Brittany Glover Camrose T4V Canada 9/4/2025
Jordan Bender Kitchener N2R Canada 9/4/2025
Dennis Glover Camrose T4V Canada 9/4/2025
Leah Flanagan New Hamburg N3A Canada 9/4/2025
Don Mosher Cambridge N1T Canada 9/4/2025
Matt Eaton London N6A Canada 9/4/2025
Ed Berry Guelph N1E Canada 9/4/2025
Matt Horyn Cambridge N1T Canada 9/4/2025
Michael Naisbitt Brantford N3R Canada 9/4/2025
Rick Harwood Innerkip N0J1M0 Canada 9/5/2025
Samantha MacPherson Woodstock ON N4S Canada 9/5/2025
Jim Glasser Baden N3A Canada 9/5/2025
Debra Rowland Burlington L7R Canada 9/5/2025
Erin Schreurs Innerkip N0j1m0 Canada 9/5/2025
Sara McCreery Innerkip N0J 1M0 Canada 9/5/2025
Sorin Badea Kitchener N2m1a1 Canada 9/5/2025
Joe Mckinnon Woodstock ont ON N2J4G8 Canada 9/5/2025
Navneet Kaur Singh Toronto M4P Canada 9/6/2025
Sandeep Dhillon Innerkip N0J1M0 Canada 9/6/2025
Graham Moore Kitchener N2H Canada 9/7/2025
Kelly Chris Tillsonburg N4G Canada 9/8/2025
Lori Lacey Brantford N3T Canada 9/8/2025
Kaylee Lacey Brantford N3R 1R4 Canada 9/8/2025
Patti & Brad Lichty Innerkip Noj1m0 Canada 9/8/2025
Michael Lichty innerkip N0J1M0 Canada 9/8/2025
Tina Condon Cambridge N1T Canada 9/8/2025
Sarah Lacey Mississauga L5N Canada 9/8/2025
Kerry Bun Guelph N1G Canada 9/8/2025
Dayna Mastro Cambridge N3C1T9 Canada 9/8/2025
Marianne Kaulbach Victoria L9T Canada 9/8/2025
Lynda Eby Toronto M5M Canada 9/9/2025
Jeff Lichty innerkip N0J1m0 Canada 9/9/2025
Todd Lichty innerkip N0J1M0 Canada 9/9/2025
darleen mitchell Toronto M4N Canada 9/10/2025
Deb McKay Woodstock N4S Canada 9/10/2025
Neil Parry Brantford N3T Canada 9/10/2025
Jennifer Kaye Toronto M5A Canada 9/11/2025

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 78 of 245



Debbie Yeoman Owen Sound N4K5N7 Canada 9/12/2025
Patrick Barnard Woodstock N4S Canada 9/12/2025
Steph B Toronto M3C Canada 9/12/2025
Ryan Miller Woodstock N4S Canada 9/12/2025
JESSICA ROWE Woodstock ON N4S Canada 9/12/2025
Liam Irwin Woodstock N4T Canada 9/12/2025
Scott McGinnis East Zorra-Tavistock n4s Canada 9/12/2025
Jonathan Hann Woodstock N4T Canada 9/12/2025
Tibor Schmid Woodstock N4S Canada 9/13/2025
Jenna Witmer Richmond Hill L4S Canada 9/13/2025
Mary Burke Woodstock N4S 7V3 Canada 9/13/2025
John Ukos Woodstock N4T Canada 9/13/2025
Jenny Kondrashikhin Woodstock N4S Canada 9/13/2025
steve deeks Ingersoll n2c1j9 Canada 9/14/2025
Debbie Morgan Toronto M9N Canada 9/18/2025
Tori Morgan Innerkip N0J1M0 Canada 9/18/2025

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 79 of 245



Name City State 
Postal 
Code Country 

Commented 
Date Comment 

Jackie Radley Innerkip  N0J 1M0 Canada 8/30/2025 
"We do not want the contamination in our well water and this is a money grab from the people 
 wanting to do this, perfectly good service offered by Gateway and the one in London" 

 
 
Emily Engel Innerkip  N0J 1M0 Canada 8/31/2025 

"Concerned about pollutants in the air that negatively impact our health. It is way too close  
to our residences and our school." 

 
Debbie 
Mitchell Innerkip  N0j1m0 Canada 9/10/2025 "Air quality, farm land lost, pollution. To streams, traffic problems" 
 
John Ukos Woodstock  N4T 1S7 Canada 9/13/2025 "Location could be considerably further from residential areas than the planned location." 
 
steve deeks Ingersoll  n2c1j9 Canada 9/14/2025 "This isn't healthy and bad for the environment" 

 

Item 7.a.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 80 of 245



October 1, 2025

Oxford County 
Growth Analysis and 

Land Needs Assessment

1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Council Meeting

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 81 of 245



Introduction

• Watson in partnership with Dillon Consulting Ltd. have been retained by Oxford 
County to carry out an updated Growth Analysis and Land Needs Assessment 
for the County. Key components include: 

• Growth forecast and allocations by Area Municipality;

• Intensification analysis to identify short-term opportunities to accommodate 
intensification; 

• Land Needs analysis for Community Area (residential, commercial and 
institutional uses) and Employment Areas (industrial-type uses) in 20-, 25- 
and 30-year periods; and 

• Strategic growth management directions to inform the County’s Official Plan 
Review. 

Overview

2

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 82 of 245



Provincial Planning Context
Overview

3

County of Oxford 
Official Plan

Integrated Provincial 
Policy Document – 
Provincial Planning 

Statement 2024

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 83 of 245



Summary

Oxford County Growth Forecast

4

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 84 of 245



Components of Population Growth – Migration 
Oxford Census Division Net-Migration by Type, 2001 to 2024

5Note:  Population figures include net Census undercount.  Figures have been rounded and may not add up precisely.
Source:  Statistics Canada Table 17-10-0153-01, summarized by Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.

Intraprovincial Migration
by Census Division

(2015 to 2021)

Source: Custom order Statistics Canada Intraprovincial Trends by CD data, derived by 
Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.

Migration by Type

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 85 of 245



Oxford County
Key Population and Employment Growth Drivers

6

Growth 
Drivers

Population 
Growth 

Across All 
Major Age 

Groups

Technological 
Change

Vibrant 
Rural 

Economy

Quality of 
Life

Local 
Industrial & 
Regional 
Economic 

Opportunities

Strategic 
Geographic 

Location

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 86 of 245



Oxford County Growth Forecast
County Population Growth Forecast Update

7
Note:  Population includes net Census undercount estimated at 4.1% and figures have been rounded.
Source:  Historical 2001 to 2021 data derived from Statistics Canada Table 17-10-0152-01; forecast prepared by Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.

2021 to 
2061 

Annual 
Growth 

Rate: 1.4%

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 87 of 245



Oxford County Growth Forecast
County Employment Growth Forecast Update

8
Source:  2011 to 2016 derived from Statistics Canada Census data; forecast prepared by Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.

2024 to 
2061 

Annual 
Growth 

Rate: 1.4%

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 88 of 245



Oxford County Growth Forecast
2021 to 2061 Growth Shares by Area Municipality

9

Note:  Figures may not add precisely due to rounding.
Source: Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.

Population Employment

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 89 of 245



Overview

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Growth 
Allocations

10

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 90 of 245



Township of Blandford-Blenheim Growth Forecast
2021 to 2061 Population Growth Forecast

11

2021 to 
2061 

Annual 
Growth 

Rate: 0.9%

Total 
Growth:

3,500 
persons

Note: Include population undercount.
Source: Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.

Period

Po
pu

la
tio

n

2011 2016 2021 2026 2031 2036 2041 2046 2051 2056 2061
7,000

7,500

8,000

8,500

9,000

9,500

10,000

10,500

11,000

11,500

12,000

7,600 7,700
7,900

8,400

9,000
9,400

9,900
10,300

10,700
11,000

11,400

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 91 of 245



Township of Blandford-Blenheim Growth Forecast
2024 to 2061 Employment Growth Forecast

12

2024 to 
2061 

Annual 
Growth 

Rate: 1.2%

Total 
Growth:

1,000 jobs

Note: 2021 is not included due to COVID lockdown. 
Source: Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.

Period

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t

2011 2016 2024 2026 2031 2036 2041 2046 2051 2056 2061
1,400

1,600

1,800

2,000

2,200

2,400

2,600

2,800

3,000

3,200

2,400

1,800
1,900

2,000

2,200
2,300

2,400
2,500

2,700
2,800

2,900

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 92 of 245



Land Needs Approach and Community Structure 

13

Blandford-
Blenheim

Unserviced 
Settlement Areas 
and Remaining 

Rural Areas

Urban             
(serviced villages and 
large urban centres)

Employment 
Areas            

(industrial-type uses)

Community Area
(residential, 

commercial and 
institutional uses)

Greenfield Area
(outside Built 

Boundary)

Built-up Area
(inside Built Boundary)

Nodes & 
Corridors

Remaining Built-
up Area

Community 
Lands Needs
Assessment 

Employment 
Land Needs
Assessment 

Intensification

Priority Area for 
Intensification

Note: Built-up Area = B.U.A.
Source: Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.

Drumbo and 
Plattsville

Bright, Princeton, and 
various rural clusters

Drumbo and Plattsville

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 93 of 245



Blandford-Blenheim Housing Growth Allocations, 30-Year

14

Unserviced Settlement 
Areas and Remaining 

Rural Areas

Source: Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.

14% 86%

Drumbo and Plattsville

15%

71%

Intensification

Greenfield Areas

6 units 
annually

27 units 
annually

33 units 
annually

5 units 
annually

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 94 of 245



Employment 
Areas
36%

Community Areas
54%

Unserviced 
Settlement Areas 
and Remaining 

Rural Areas
10%

Blandford-Blenheim Employment Growth by Area to 2054  

15

Source: Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.

Industrial-Type Uses on 
Fully-Serviced Lands

Commercial, Institutional, Work 
at Home, and No Fixed Place of 
Work Employment in Fully-
Serviced Settlement Areas

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 95 of 245



Rural Employment

• High-level demand assessment for rural industrial-type employment uses 
across the County. 

• This analysis identifies opportunities for "dry" industrial uses in the county's 
unserviced or partially serviced rural areas. A portion of this demand will also be 
accommodated in the Township’s Serviced Villages.

• Key Considerations:
• Economic Impact: Integrating rural industrial lands will diversify and strengthen 

local economy.

• Strategic Planning: The analysis identifies suitable sectors and locations for 
sustainable, well-planned development.

• Policy Support: Findings are guided by provincial and county policies and best 
practices.

16

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 96 of 245



Overview

Land Needs

17

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 97 of 245



Community Area Land Needs – Surplus   

18
Source: Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.

20 
Year: 

+24 ha

25 
Year:

+14 ha

30 
Year:
+5 ha

Total Housing 
Unit Supply:

780 Units

30-Year 
Shortfall:
0 Units

Additional Community Area
Gross Developable - Surplus

Community Area includes residential, 
commercial, institutional, parks and 
open space uses to support growth in 
Drumbo and Plattsville.

*excludes 
Secondary Plan 
in Drumbo          
(11 hectares).

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 98 of 245



Employment Area Land Needs

19

Note: Although forecasted employment growth is primarily intended to be accommodated in the County’s fully serviced settlement areas, this project will also be assessing 
the need to identify some limited areas in partially serviced or unserviced settlement areas to accommodate a portion of the forecasted employment growth as ‘dry’ 
employment uses that may be more appropriate to locate on lands with private/partial servicing.
Source: Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.

Total Vacant 
Employment 

Area Land 
Supply:

14 Net ha 20 
Year: 
10 ha

25 
Year:
15 ha

30 
Year:
19 ha

Additional Employment Area Land Required
Gross Developable

30-Year 
Employment 

Area Land 
Demand
29 Net ha

Employment Area includes industrial-type uses to 
support growth in Drumbo and Plattsville.

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 99 of 245



Total Settlement Expansion Land Requirements

20
Source: Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.

20 
Year: 
10 ha

25 
Year:
15 ha

30 
Year:
19 ha

Additional Land Required
Gross Developable

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 100 of 245



Overview

Next Steps

21

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 101 of 245



Next Steps

• Consultation with interested parties – August/September 2025

• Consultation with Area Municipal Councils – September/October 2025

• Final Draft Report – September 2025

• County Council Meeting – October/November 2025

22

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 102 of 245



 

 

Watson & Associates Economists Ltd. 
905-272-3600 

September 9, 2025 info@watsonecon.ca 

 

Growth Analysis and Land Needs 
Assessment 
Oxford County 
________________________ 

Updated Housing and Employment Growth 
Allocations by Area Municipality and Settlement 
Area and Community Area Land Needs 

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 103 of 245



 

 

Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  PAGE 2 
Oxford County 2024 - Growth Analysis and Land Needs Assessment Package - September 10 2025 

1. County of Oxford Growth Forecast 
1.1 County-Wide Residential and Non-Residential Growth 

Forecast 

• The County of Oxford population is projected to reach 223,600 by 2061, 
achieving an average annual growth rate of 1.6% over the next four decades.  
This is consistent with the Fall 2024 M.O.F. projections for the County of Oxford 
to 2051. 

• This forecast represents an ambitious, yet plausible rate of future population 
growth relative to historical trends, considering recent and forecast immigration 
levels expected for Canada and Ontario over the next several years and longer-
term population growth forecasts for the Province. 

• Continued outward growth pressure from the G.G.H. will continue to represent 
the largest driver of population growth for the County of Oxford. 

Figure 1 
County of Oxford 

Total Population, 2001 to 2061 

 

Note:  Population includes net Census undercount estimated at 4.1% and figures have been rounded. 
Source:  Historical 2001 to 2021 data derived from Statistics Canada Table 17-10-0152-01; forecast 
prepared by Watson & Associates Economists Ltd. 

103,200 

106,500 
108,700 

114,100 126,700 

154,900

180,200

202,300

223,600

 80,000

 100,000

 120,000

 140,000

 160,000

 180,000

 200,000

 220,000

 240,000

2001 2006 2011 2016 2021 2026 2031 2036 2041 2046 2051 2056 2061

To
ta

l P
er

m
an

en
t P

op
ul

at
io

n
(In

cl
ud

in
g 

C
en

su
s 

U
nd

er
co

un
t)

Year
Historical 2025 Growth Analysis Update

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 104 of 245



 

 

Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  PAGE 3 
Oxford County 2024 - Growth Analysis and Land Needs Assessment Package - September 10 2025 

• The population forecast results in an average increase of approximately 1,050 
housing units per year from 2021 to 2061.  This is almost two times the historical 
average of 565 units per year achieved from 2006 to 2021. 

• Considering recent building trends and active residential development 
applications, new residential development in the County of Oxford is anticipated 
to shift towards medium- and high-density housing forms.  This shift in dwelling 
type preferences is expected to be driven largely by demographics (i.e., aging of 
the population), housing affordability, and increasing demand for rental housing 
when compared to the previous two decades. 

• Over the 2021 to 2061 forecast period, new housing is expected to comprise 
52% low-density units, 22% medium-density units, and 26% high-density units. 

Figure 2 
County of Oxford 

Housing Forecast by Structure Type, 2006 to 2061 

 

[1] Low Density includes singles and semi-detached houses. 
[2] Medium Density includes townhouses and apartments in duplexes. 
[3] High Density includes bachelor, 1-bedroom, and 2-bedroom+ apartment units, and additional 
residential units. 
Note:  Figures have been rounded and may not add up precisely. 
Source:  Historical data derived from Statistics Canada Census profiles; forecast prepared by Watson & 
Associates Economists Ltd. 
 

Historical Census 
Average:

565

Forecast Average:
1,050

445
540

710

1,160 1,150 1,125
1,055 1,015 995 995

895

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

An
nu

al
 H

ou
si

ng
 U

ni
ts

Period

Low Density¹ Medium Density² High Density³
Note:

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 105 of 245



 

 

Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  PAGE 4 
Oxford County 2024 - Growth Analysis and Land Needs Assessment Package - September 10 2025 

• In consideration of macro-economic, regional, and local economic trends as well 
as the County’s long-term population growth forecast, the employment base for 
the County is forecast to increase by 43,600 employees from 2024 to 2061, 
reaching 109,700 total jobs by 2061. 

• Of the total additional jobs identified for the County of Oxford over the long term 
to 2061, approximately 78% of jobs are anticipated to have a usual place of work, 
while the remaining 22% of new jobs are associated with work at home 
employment or off-site employees. 

• With respect to employment by major sector, approximately 61% of job growth 
for the County is associated with services-producing sectors, while 39% of jobs 
are associated with goods-producing sectors (i.e., industrial and primary 
employment sectors). 

Figure 3 
County of Oxford 

Recommended Long-Term Employment Forecast, 2024 to 2061 

Notes: 
-  Figures have been rounded.   
-  Activity rate uses population, adjusted to account for net Census undercount. 
-  Statistics Canada 2021 Census place of work employment data has been reviewed.  The 2021 Census 
employment results have not been utilized due to a significant increase in work at home employment 
captured due to Census enumeration occurring during the provincial COVID-19 lockdown from April 1, 
2021 to June 14, 2021. 
Source:  2011 to 2016 derived from Statistics Canada Census data; forecast prepared by Watson & 
Associates Economists Ltd. 

53,600
57,400

66,100
70,000

77,600
84,300

89,000
94,500

99,600
104,600

109,700

49.3%
50.3%

48.9%
49.8%

50.1% 50.1%
49.4% 49.3% 49.2% 49.1% 49.1%

45.0%

50.0%

55.0%

60.0%

65.0%

40,000

50,000

60,000

70,000

80,000

90,000

100,000

110,000

120,000

2011 2016 2024 2026 2031 2036 2041 2046 2051 2056 2061
Ac

tiv
ity

 R
at

e

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t

Year

Historical Forecast Activity Rate

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 106 of 245



 

 

Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  PAGE 5 
Oxford County 2024 - Growth Analysis and Land Needs Assessment Package - September 10 2025 

1.2 County of Oxford Growth Forecast Area Municipal and 
Settlement Area Allocations 

Building on the County-wide forecasts provided in Section 1.1, population, housing, and 
employment allocations by Area Municipality were developed.  These allocations have 
been based on a detailed review of the following local supply and demand factors: 

Local Supply Factors 

• Supply of potential future housing stock in the development approvals process by 
housing structure type, approval status, and location; 

• Current inventory of net vacant designated “greenfield” lands not currently in the 
development approvals process; 

• Residential intensification opportunities; 
• Supply of designated vacant Employment Area lands by Area Municipality; 
• Consideration of water and wastewater servicing capacity; and 
• Provincial, County, and Area Municipal policy direction regarding forecast 

residential growth by Settlement Area and Rural Area. 

Demand Factors  

• Historical population, housing, and employment trends based on Statistics 
Canada (Census) data by Area Municipality; 

• A review of recent residential and non-residential building permit data by housing 
structure type and employment sector by Area Municipality; 

• Historical commuting trends and anticipated employment growth opportunities 
within the surrounding market area; 

• A review of local employment opportunities by sector and Area Municipality. 
• Forecast population trends by major age group and associated household 

formation trends by age of household maintainer; 
• Consideration of long-term housing needs by housing tenure (i.e. ownership vs. 

rental housing) and influence on housing demand by structure type; and 
• Housing market demand by Area Municipality across all major demographic 

groups, including young adults, new families, move-up buyers, and empty 
nesters/seniors. 

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 107 of 245



 

 

Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  PAGE 6 
Oxford County 2024 - Growth Analysis and Land Needs Assessment Package - September 10 2025 

While population and employment growth rates vary significantly by geographic area, 
each of the Area Municipalities within the County share several common attributes with 
respect to near- and longer-term population growth and development trends.  These 
include the following: 

• All Area Municipalities are forecast to experience higher total annual population 
housing and employment growth relative to historical trends experienced 
between 2011 and 2021. 

• Continued regional employment opportunities, particularly those related to 
manufacturing; goods movement; agricultural; as well other service-producing 
and knowledge-based sectors, represent a key driver of future employment 
growth within the County and its Area Municipalities. 

• Declining housing affordability, combined with a range of broader economic 
headwinds, including persistently high inflation rates, rising household debt, U.S. 
protectionist policy, and a slower short-term economic outlook at the national, 
provincial and regional level are anticipated to dampen housing demand in the 
near term (i.e., next 12 to 24 months), relative to recent historical highs 
experienced during the past five years. 

• Over the longer term (i.e., 10+ years), the average rate of annual housing 
development is anticipated to gradually slow (relative the medium-term forecast 
period i.e. next decade) across all Area Municipalities within the County, driven 
by modestly slower regional and provincial economic growth associated with an 
aging population and regional labour force. 

• Low-density housing forms are forecast comprise a notable share of future 
housing growth; however, increasing market demand will exist for medium- and 
high-density housing types across all Area Municipalities.

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 108 of 245



 

 

Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  PAGE 7 
Oxford County 2024 - Growth Analysis and Land Needs Assessment Package - September 10 2025 

Figure 4 
Oxford County 

Population Forecast by Area Municipality, 2021 to 2061 

Year City of 
Woodstock 

Town of 
Tillsonburg 

Town of 
Ingersoll 

Township of 
Blandford 
Blenheim 

Township of 
East Zorra-
Tavistock 

Township of 
Norwich 

Township of 
South-West 

Oxford 
Township of 

Zorra 
Oxford 
County 

2011 38,800 15,700 12,500 7,600 7,000 11,000 7,800 8,300 110,900 

2016 42,600 16,500 13,300 7,700 7,400 11,500 8,000 8,500 115,300 

2021 48,700 18,800 14,300 7,900 8,200 11,900 8,000 9,000 126,700 

2031 60,000 24,300 16,700 9,000 10,200 14,200 9,300 11,300 154,900 

2041 71,100 30,100 19,100 9,900 10,800 15,400 9,900 13,000 180,200 

2051 80,800 34,900 20,900 10,700 13,000 17,000 10,800 14,300 202,300 

2061 90,300 39,300 22,600 11,400 14,400 18,500 11,600 15,500 223,600 

Total Population Growth 
2011 to 2021 9,900 3,100 1,800 300 1,200 900 200 700 11,400 

2021 to 2031 11,300 5,500 2,400 1,100 2,000 2,300 1,300 2,300 28,200 

2021 to 2041 22,400 11,300 4,800 2,000 3,400 3,500 1,900 4,000 53,500 

2021 to 2051 32,100 16,100 6,600 2,800 4,800 5,100 2,800 5,300 75,600 

2021 to 2061 41,600 20,500 8,300 3,500 6,200 6,600 3,600 6,500 96,900 

Annual Population Growth Rate 
2011 to 2021 2.3% 1.8% 1.4% 0.4% 1.6% 0.8% 0.3% 0.8% 1.6% 

2021 to 2031 2.1% 2.6% 1.6% 1.3% 2.2% 1.8% 1.5% 2.3% 2.0% 

2021 to 2041 1.9% 2.4% 1.5% 1.1% 1.7% 1.3% 1.1% 1.9% 1.8% 

2021 to 2051 1.7% 2.1% 1.3% 1.0% 1.5% 1.2% 1.0% 1.6% 1.6% 

2021 to 2061 1.6% 1.9% 1.2% 0.9% 1.4% 1.1% 0.9% 1.4% 1.4% 
Note:  Population includes net Census undercount estimated at approximately 4.1%.  Figures may not add precisely due to rounding. 
Source:  2011 to 2021 derived from Statistics Canada Census data; 2021 to 2061 forecast by Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 109 of 245



 

 

Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  PAGE 8 
Oxford County 2024 - Growth Analysis and Land Needs Assessment Package - September 10 2025 

Figure 4 
County of Oxford 

Household Forecast by Area Municipality and Settlement Area, 2021 to 2061 

 

Notes: 
[1] Includes townhouses and apartments in duplexes. 
[2] Includes bachelor, 1-bedroom, 2-bedroom+ apartment units and secondary suites.  
Figure may not sum precisely due to rounding. 
Source:  2021 to 2061 forecast by Watson & Associates Economists Ltd. 

Low Density Medium Density[1] High Density[2] Total
Woodstock 7,825 4,325 6,200 18,345
Ingersoll 2,015 630 955 3,605
Tillsonburg 4,920 2,440 1,945 9,305
Blandford-Blenheim 1,055 255 180 1,490

Serviced Villages 840 255 180 1,275
Unserviced Settlement Area and 

Remaining Rural Areas
220 0 0 220

Norwich 1,750 325 565 2,640
Serviced Village 1,350 325 565 2,240
Unserviced Settlement Area and 

Remaining Rural Areas
400 0 0 400

East Zorra-Tavistock 1,820 475 260 2,555
Serviced Villages 1,620 475 260 2,355
Unserviced Settlement Area and 

Remaining Rural Areas
200 0 0 200

South-West Oxford 995 210 85 1,290
Serviced Village 780 210 85 1,075
Unserviced Settlement Area and 

Remaining Rural Areas
215 0 0 215

Zorra 1,300 840 595 2,735
Serviced Villages 1,020 840 595 2,455
Unserviced Settlement Area and 

Remaining Rural Areas
280 0 0 280

Oxford County 21,680 9,500 10,785 41,965

Area
Housing Units Forecast (2021 to 2061)

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 110 of 245



 

 

Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  PAGE 9 
Oxford County 2024 - Growth Analysis and Land Needs Assessment Package - September 10 2025 

Figure 5 
County of Oxford 

Built-Up Area Housing Forecast, 2024 to 2054 

 

Notes: 
[1] Includes townhouses and apartments in duplexes. 
[2] Includes bachelor, 1-bedroom, 2-bedroom+ apartment units and secondary suites.  
Figure may not sum precisely due to rounding. 
Source:  2021 to 2061 forecast by Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  

Low 
Density

Medium 
Density[1]

High 
Density[2] Total Units

Woodstock 605 680 2,220 3,505 14,015 25% 2,940
Ingersoll 415 200 105 720 2,885 25% 1,455
Tillsonburg 380 400 1,015 1,790 7,160 25% 1,395
Blandford-Blenheim 50 65 55 175 1,160 15% 120
Serviced Villages 50 65 55 175 995 120
Unserviced Settlement Area 

and Remaining Rural Areas 0 0 0 0 160 0
Norwich 145 45 100 290 1,920 15% 265
Serviced Village 145 45 100 290 1,680 265
Unserviced Settlement Area 

and Remaining Rural Areas 0 0 0 0 245 0
East Zorra-Tavistock 65 115 100 280 1,925 15% 175
Serviced Villages 65 115 100 280 1,775 175
Unserviced Settlement Area 

and Remaining Rural Areas 0 0 0 0 150 0
South-West Oxford 0 35 55 90 955 9% 35
Serviced Village 0 35 55 90 815 35
Unserviced Settlement Area 

and Remaining Rural Areas 0 0 0 0 140 0
Zorra 40 300 155 495 1,990 25% 1,195
Serviced Villages 40 300 155 495 1,755 1,195
Unserviced Settlement Area 

and Remaining Rural Areas 0 0 0 0 235 0
Oxford County 1,700 1,845 3,805 7,345 32,010 23% 7,580

Area

Built-Up Area Housing Units Forecast
(2024 to 2054) Area Total 

Housing 
Units

Intensification 
Rate 

(2024 to 2054)

Built-Up 
Boundary 

Supply 
Potential 

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 111 of 245



 

 

Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  PAGE 10 
Oxford County 2024 - Growth Analysis and Land Needs Assessment Package - September 10 2025 

Figure 6 
County of Oxford 

Unserviced Settlement Area and Remaining Rural Area Housing Forecast, 2021 to 
2061 

Township 
Historical Annual 

Housing Units 
(2013 to 2022) 

Growth Analysis - 
Update 

(2021 to 2061) 

Blandford-Blenheim 6 6 
Norwich 19 10 
East Zorra-Tavistock 5 5 
South-West Oxford 8 5 
Zorra 8 7 
Township Total Unserviced Settlement Area 
and Remaining Rural Area Units 46 33 

Share of Township Total Housing 12% 12% 
Notes: 
Source:  Historical annual housing units derived from County of Oxford building permits data.  
Growth Analysis forecast by Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 112 of 245



 

 

Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  PAGE 11 
Oxford County 2024 - Growth Analysis and Land Needs Assessment Package - September 10 2025 

Figure 7 
County of Oxford 

Employment Forecast by Area Municipality and Settlement Area, 2024 to 2061 

 

[1] Statistics Canada defines no fixed place of work (N.F.P.O.W.) employees as “persons who do not go 
from home to the same work place location at the beginning of each shift.” Such persons include building 
and landscape contractors, travelling salespersons, independent truck drivers, etc. 
Note: 

- Statistics Canada 2021 Census place of work employment data has been reviewed. The 2021 
Census employment results have not been utilized due to a significant increase in work at home 
employment captured due to Census enumeration occurring during the provincial COVID-19 
lockdown from April 1, 2021 to June 14, 2021. 

- Figure may not sum precisely due to rounding. 
Source:  2024 to 2061 forecast by Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  

Industrial Commercial Institutional Primary Work at 
Home

No Fixed 
Place of 
Work[1]

Total

Woodstock 9,660 5,920 3,360 0 1,210 2,450 22,590
Ingersoll 3,540 1,340 540 0 310 520 6,250
Tillsonburg 2,110 2,840 1,370 0 590 1,070 7,980
Blandford-Blenheim 420 150 60 0 280 120 1,040

Serviced Villages 370 110 50 0 280 120 930
Unserviced Settlement Area and 

Remaining Rural Areas
50 40 10 0 0 0 100

Norwich 340 500 120 0 520 410 1,890
Serviced Village 300 450 110 0 470 370 1,700
Unserviced Settlement Area and 

Remaining Rural Areas
40 50 10 0 50 40 190

East Zorra-Tavistock 310 330 190 0 470 280 1,590
Serviced Villages 280 300 180 0 450 280 1,490
Unserviced Settlement Area and 

Remaining Rural Areas
30 30 10 0 20 10 100

South-West Oxford 220 120 50 0 330 200 910
Serviced Village 200 90 50 0 320 190 850
Unserviced Settlement Area and 

Remaining Rural Areas
20 30 0 0 10 10 70

Zorra 210 270 70 0 570 230 1,350
Serviced Villages 190 240 70 0 520 210 1,230
Unserviced Settlement Area and 

Remaining Rural Areas
20 30 0 0 50 20 120

Oxford County 16,810 11,470 5,760 0 4,280 5,280 43,600

Area

Employment Forecast (2024 to 2061)

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 113 of 245



 

 

Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  PAGE 12 
Oxford County 2024 - Growth Analysis and Land Needs Assessment Package - September 10 2025 

2. County of Oxford Land Needs 
2.1 Residential Land Supply 

2.1.1 Approach  

Working with County of Oxford planning staff and Dillon Consulting Ltd. (Dillon), Watson 
& Associates Economists Ltd. (Watson) has summarized the residential housing supply 
potential within the Serviced Settlement Areas in accordance with two major policy 
areas: Built-up Area (B.U.A.) and Greenfield Area.  Within the B.U.A., there are two sub-
areas: Nodes and Corridors and Remaining B.U.A. The Nodes and Corridors review 
within the B.U.A. was carried out by Dillon with input from County staff and staff from 
local municipalities. This analysis identifies vacant lands, infill sites and near-term 
redevelopment opportunities within key intensification areas of the County’s Serviced 
Settlement Areas. Land supply that falls within the B.U.A. is considered intensification 
potential, while land supply that falls within the greenfield areas is directly utilized in the 
land needs assessment. It is important to note that Watson has taken an intensification 
first approach in addressing the County’s long-term land needs.  
 
Under this approach, all at-grade housing unit supply (i.e., low and medium density 
housing) in the B.U.A. have been utilized over the planning horizon before assessing 
land needs, however, not all near-term and longer-term high-density housing supply 
opportunities within the County are expected to be developed over the long-term.  
Provided below are components of the housing supply potential in the County for 
serviced settlement areas.  

Active Applications 

• County planning staff have inventoried all active applications in the Serviced 
Settlement Areas. No changes have been made by Watson. Active applications 
are organized according to whether they are in the B.U.A. or within greenfield 
areas.  

Vacant Lands with no Applications 

• County planning staff have inventoried the vacant land of sites in the Serviced 
Settlement Areas with no active applications. These lands are inventoried based 
on land area and the County has made assumptions based on Secondary Plans, 

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 114 of 245



 

 

Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  PAGE 13 
Oxford County 2024 - Growth Analysis and Land Needs Assessment Package - September 10 2025 

land use designations and/or zoning on the type of housing to be accommodated 
on the vacant land (i.e., low density, medium density and high density housing) 

• As previously discussed in the land supply section, to convert the lands to 
housing potential, Watson has applied an average gross-to-net factor recognizing 
sites may require internal infrastructure upon subdivision of land. The gross-to-
net factor is a downward adjustment and is applied differently to the Townships 
versus the larger municipalities (City of Woodstock, Town of Ingersoll and City of 
Tillsonburg) and include the following:  

o Woodstock, Ingersoll and Tillsonburg: 55% 
o Townships: 60%  

• Average density assumptions (i.e. units per hectare) have been based on trends 
observed within the County, as well as assumptions generated in land needs 
assessments for comparable municipalities across Ontario, including the 
Municipality of Chatham-Kent, City of Stratford and County of Middlesex.  
Density assumptions are considered an average, recognizing that there may be 
variation by development. The County’s larger urban centres – Woodstock, 
Ingersoll and Tillsonburg have a higher units per hectare assumption than the 
County’s serviced settlement areas in the Townships. Provided below are the 
average density  assumptions:  

o Woodstock, Ingersoll and Tillsonburg 
▪ Low Density (single-detached/semi-detached): 23 units per hectare  
▪ Medium Density (townhouses): 42 units per hectare 
▪ High Density (apartments): 80 units per hectare  

o Serviced settlement areas in Townships: 
▪ Low Density (single-detached/semi-detached): 19 units per hectare  
▪ Medium Density (townhouses): 35 units per hectare 
▪ High Density (apartments): 50 units per hectare 

Intensification Opportunities within Nodes and Corridors 

• As previously discussed, the Nodes and Corridors review identifies vacant and 
redevelopment opportunities within key intensification areas of the County’s 
Serviced Settlement Areas. The results of this analysis carried out by Dillon 
assisted in informing Watson’s intensification analysis.  

 
 
 

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 115 of 245



 

 

Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  PAGE 14 
Oxford County 2024 - Growth Analysis and Land Needs Assessment Package - September 10 2025 

Future Urban Growth Lands/Secondary Plan Areas (Not Designated Yet) 

In addition to the above housing supply potential, the County has Future Urban Growth 
(F.U.G.) and Secondary Plan Areas within designated settlement boundaries that have 
been identified for residential uses but the lands have not been designated for specific 
residential uses/densities. The gross developable area of these lands has been used to 
reduce the land need where applicable. 

2.1.2 Residential Housing Unit Potential Supply 

Figure 8 provides a summary of the housing unit potential supply in the County’s 
greenfield area (outside of the B.U.A., but within the serviced settlement areas). This 
includes supply in active applications, as well as remaining vacant sites. In total it 
estimated that the Greenfield Area can accommodate approximately 10,500 housing 
units. The supply in the Greenfield Areas represents 58% of the total supply identified in 
the County (the total land supply is approximately 18,090 housing units, as a result, 
10,500 / 18,090 = 58%). 

Figure 8 
County of Oxford 

Total Housing Unit Supply Potential in Greenfield Area                                              
(Approvals and Remaining Vacant) 

Municipality Low Density Medium 
Density High Density Total 

Woodstock            1,336                724                714             2,774  
Tillsonburg            1,359             1,020             1,385             3,764  
Ingersoll               588                775                   -               1,363  
Zorra               464                327                   -                  791  

Embro                 70                   -                     -                    70  
Thamesford               394                327                   -                  721  

Norwich               222                  12                138                372  
East Zorra-Tavistock               259                  45                   -                  304  

Innerkip                 58                   -                     -                    58  
Tavistock               201                  45                   -                  246  

Blandford-Blenheim                509                275                   -                  784  
Drumbo               315                263                   -                  578  

Plattsville               194                  12                   -                  206  
South-West Oxford               285                  69                   -                  354  
Total County            5,022             3,247             2,237           10,506  

Source: Derived from Oxford County land supply data by Watson & Associates Economists Ltd. 
 

Figure 9 provides a summary of the housing unit potential supply in the County’s 
Greenfield Area (outside of the B.U.A., but within the serviced settlement areas) based 

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 116 of 245



Watson & Associates Economists Ltd. PAGE 15 
Oxford County 2024 - Growth Analysis and Land Needs Assessment Package - September 10 2025 

on approval status, while Figure 10 provides a summary of the remaining vacant 
greenfield lands. As summarized in Figure 9,  approximately 7,770 housing units are 
potentially available in the Greenfield Area in active applications – this represents 
approximately 74% of the total Greenfield Area unit potential (7,774 / 10,506 = 74%). As 
such, the majority of the housing unit potential in the County’s Greenfield Area is largely 
in active applications. The remaining 26% of the housing unit potential in the County’s 
Greenfield Area is summarized in Figure 10 which represents approximately 2,730 
housing units. 

Figure 9 
County of Oxford 

Housing Unit Supply Potential in Greenfield Area – Active Applications Only 

Municipality Low Density Medium 
Density High Density Total 

Woodstock  1,250      724      714   2,688 
Tillsonburg  1,036   1,020      960   3,016 
Ingersoll     109  -   -        109 
Zorra     454      243  -        697 

Embro       70  -   -          70 
Thamesford     384      243  -        627 

Norwich       86        12      138      236 
East Zorra-Tavistock     142        45  -        187 

Innerkip   4  -   -     4 
Tavistock     138        45  -        183 

Blandford-Blenheim     362      224  -        586 
Drumbo     169      212  -        381 

Plattsville     193        12  -        205 
South-West Oxford     186        69  -        255 
Total County  3,625   2,337   1,812   7,774 

Source: Derived from Oxford County land supply data by Watson & Associates Economists Ltd. 

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 117 of 245



 

 

Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  PAGE 16 
Oxford County 2024 - Growth Analysis and Land Needs Assessment Package - September 10 2025 

 
Figure 10 

County of Oxford 
Housing Unit Supply Potential in Greenfield Area –  

Remaining Vacant (No Active Applications) 
 

 
        Source: Derived from Oxford County land supply data by Watson & Associates Economists Ltd. 

 

Figure 11 provides a summary of the housing unit potential supply within the B.U.A. in 
the County’s serviced settlement areas. This includes all potential regardless of 
application status (approvals, nodes and corridors and remaining vacant sites). As 
previously discussed, any growth in the B.U.A., regardless of housing type counts as 
intensification. As summarized in Figure 11, the B.U.A. has the potential to 
accommodate approximately 7,580 housing units. The housing unit supply potential in 
the B.U.A. includes a range of housing types, approximately 23% of the supply is in low- 
density housing, while 34% is in medium-density housing and 43% is in high-density. 
The supply of low density housing, primarily represents potential in active applications.  

Municipality Low Density Medium 
Density High Density Total

Woodstock 86                -               -               86                
Tillsonburg 323              -               425              748              
Ingersoll 479              775              -               1,254           
Zorra 10                84                -               94                

Embro -               -               -               -               
Thamesford 10                84                -               94                

Norwich 136              -               -               136              
East Zorra-Tavistock 117              -               -               117              

Innerkip 54                -               -               54                
Tavistock 63                -               -               63                

Blandford-Blenheim 147              51                -               198              
Drumbo 146              51                -               197              

Plattsville 1                  -               -               1                  
South-West Oxford 99                -               -               99                
Total County 1,397           910              425              2,732           

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 118 of 245



Watson & Associates Economists Ltd. PAGE 17 
Oxford County 2024 - Growth Analysis and Land Needs Assessment Package - September 10 2025 

Figure 11 
County of Oxford 

Housing Unit Supply Potential in B.U.A. 
Active Applications, Nodes and Corridors and Remaining Vacant Lands 

Source: Derived from Oxford County land supply data by Watson & Associates Economists Ltd. and 
Dillon Consulting Ltd. 

2.2 Residential Land Needs by Serviced Settlement Area 

Provided in the following section is the summary of the residential lands by each 
serviced settlement area in the County. Provided below is a summary of the 
components of the land needs figures.  

• The forecast for housing growth over the 20-, 25- and 30-year periods to be
accommodated in the greenfield areas (lands in the serviced settlement area
outside the B.U.A.), as identified in Lines A, B and C.

• The identified greenfield housing supply potential provides a summary of the
potential for housing within the greenfield area and includes housing units from
active applications, as well as potential on vacant lands with no applications. The
total housing supply potential in the greenfield areas is identified in Line D.

• Excess approved housing supply not fully utilized in the B.U.A. growth allocation
has been carried forward in the land needs assessment for Ingersoll and
Thamesford.

• The gross developable land area of Future Growth Areas (F.U.G.) and new
Secondary Plans area Areas are included in the designated land supply,
identified in line O.

Low Density Medium Density High Density Total
Woodstock 605 681 1,653 2,940 
Tillsonburg 378 399 620 1,396 
Ingersoll 465 458 530 1,453 
Zorra (Thamesford/Embro) 42 764 388 1,194 

Embro 10 42 - 52 
Thamesford 32 721 388 1,141 

Norwich (Norwich) 144 45 76 265 
East Zorra-Tavistock (Innerkip/Tavistock) 63 114 - 177 

Innerkip 22 18 - 40 
Tavistock 41 96 - 137 

Blandford Blenheim (Drumbo/Plattsville) 54 68 - 122 
Drumbo 36 24 - 60 
Platsville 16 43 - 59 

South West Oxford (Mount Elgin) - 37 - 37 
County 1,750 2,566 3,267 7,584 

Municipality Total B.U.A.

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 119 of 245



 

 

Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  PAGE 18 
Oxford County 2024 - Growth Analysis and Land Needs Assessment Package - September 10 2025 

• The designated greenfield housing demand is compared with the greenfield 
housing supply in order to determine whether there is a shortfall or surplus of 
greenfield housing supply, as identified in Lines E, F and G. 

• The shortfall of housing units is then converted to net land area by applying an 
average units per hectare assumption by housing type. The housing units per 
hectare assumption is provided in Line H. The average density assumption is 
based on trends observed within the County, as well as assumptions generated 
in land needs assessments for comparable municipalities across Ontario, 
including the Municipality of Chatham-Kent, City of Stratford and County of 
Middlesex. The residential density assumption is considered an average, 
recognizing that there may be variation by development. The County’s larger 
urban centres – Woodstock, Ingersoll and Tillsonburg have a higher density 
assumption than the County’s serviced settlement areas in the Townships. 
Provided below are the units per hectare assumptions:  

o Woodstock, Ingersoll and Tillsonburg 
▪ Low Density (single-detached/semi-detached): 23 units per hectare  
▪ Medium Density (townhouses): 42 units per hectare 
▪ High Density (apartments): 80 units per hectare  

o Serviced settlement areas in Townships: 
▪ Low Density (single-detached/semi-detached): 19 units per hectare  
▪ Medium Density (townhouses): 35 units per hectare 
▪ High Density (apartments): 50 units per hectare  

• The net land area needs is provided in Lines I, J and K which is calculated by 
dividing the shortfall of housing units by the average density assumptions. This 
represents the additional land area needed to accommodate housing 
development; however, this land area excludes roads, stormwater ponds, 
parks/trails, and non-residential uses such as schools, community centres, and 
commercial uses. When planning for an outward expansion of the settlement 
boundary, it is important to factor in the additional uses required to support 
housing growth and the development of complete communities. 

• Recognizing that planning for residential uses includes the need for infrastructure 
such as local roads, stormwater ponds, parks, trails, and select non-residential 
uses (e.g., schools, and commercial and institutional uses), Watson has 
upwardly adjusted the land area shortfall to account for additional lands to 
accommodate these uses, as identified in Lines L, M and N. Additional land is 
provided to account for other Community Area uses required to support the 
function of residential uses. This upward adjustment is referred to as a “net to 

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 120 of 245



 

 

Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  PAGE 19 
Oxford County 2024 - Growth Analysis and Land Needs Assessment Package - September 10 2025 

gross ratio factor.” Watson utilized two sets of “net to gross” assumptions based 
on the following:  

o Woodstock, Ingersoll and Tillsonburg 
▪ An additional 45% of the land area is required for commercial and 

institutional uses, parks, roads and internal infrastructure. As a 
result, the residential lots would represent 55% of the land needs.  

o Serviced Settlement Areas in Townships 
▪ An additional 40% of the land area is required for commercial and 

institutional uses, parks, roads and internal infrastructure.  As a 
result, the residential lots would represent 60% of the land needs. 

• As a result, Woodstock, Ingersoll and Tillsonburg have a higher upward 
adjustment to account for other uses to support the residential area which 
typically require more land for parkland, commercial and institutional uses.   

• It is important to ensure that while housing development lots are getting smaller 
on average, the County accommodates an adequate amount of parkland and 
non-residential lands to support the development of complete communities.  

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 121 of 245



 

 

Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  PAGE 20 
Oxford County 2024 - Growth Analysis and Land Needs Assessment Package - September 10 2025 

Figure 12 
City of Woodstock 

Residential Land Needs 
(Gross Developable Hectares) 

Period Calculation Low 
Density 

Medium 
Density 

High 
Density Total 

Greenfield Growth (Units) 
2024-2044 A 3,735 1,453 2,013 7,201 
2024-2049 B 4,690 1,959 2,209 8,858 
2024-2054 C 5,598 2,496 2,418 10,512 

Designated Greenfield Supply (Units) 
Vacant Supply D 1,336 724 714 2,774 

Designated Greenfield Unit Shortfall (Units) 
2024-2044 E = D – A -2,399 -729 -1,299 -4,427 
2024-2049 F = D – B -3,354 -1,235 -1,495 -6,084 
2024-2054 G = D – C -4,262 -1,772 -1,704 -7,738 

Greenfield Housing Unit Per Ha Assumptions 
Units Per Ha (Net) H 23 42 80 n/a 

Designated Greenfield Land Needs, Net Land Area 
2024-2044 I = E / H -104 -17 -16 -138 
2024-2049 J = F / H -146 -29 -19 -194 
2024-2054 K = G / H -185 -42 -21 -249 

Greenfield Land Needs, Gross-to-Net (55% Residential / 45% Other) 
2024-2044 L = I / 55% -190 -32 -30 -251 
2024-2049 M = J / 55% -265 -53 -34 -353 
2024-2054 N = K / 55% -337 -77 -39 -452 

Future Urban Growth Area/Secondary Plan, Gross Developable, Hectares 
Vacant Supply, ha O       0 

Final Greenfield Area Land Needs, Gross Developable, Hectares 
2024-2044 P = L + O       -251 
2024-2049 Q = M + O       -353 
2024-2054 R = N + O       -452 

 

Notes: Gross developable land area is based on the land required to accommodate residential development, as well 
as lands to support the residential uses, including institutional and commercial uses, as well as infrastructure as 
roads, sidewalks, parks and stormwater ponds.  
Source: Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 122 of 245



 

 

Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  PAGE 21 
Oxford County 2024 - Growth Analysis and Land Needs Assessment Package - September 10 2025 

Figure 13 
Town of Ingersoll 

Residential Land Needs 
(Gross Developable Hectares) 

Period Calculation Low 
Density 

Medium 
Density 

High 
Density 

Total 

Greenfield Growth (Units) 
2024-2044 A 933 207 394 1,534 
2024-2049 B 1,099 250 503 1,853 
2024-2054 C 1,242 297 625 2,164 

Designated Greenfield Supply (Units) 
Vacant Supply 

 
588 775 0 1,363 

B.U.A. Approved 
Supply (Excess) 

 
0 0 423 423 

Total Adjusted 
Vacant Supply 

D 588 775 423 1,786 

Designated Greenfield Unit Shortfall (Units) 
2024-2044 E = D - A -345 568 29 252 
2024-2049 F = D - B -511 525 -80 -67 
2024-2054 G = D - C -654 478 -202 -378 

Greenfield Housing Unit Per Hectare Assumptions 
Units Per Ha 
(Net) 

H 23 42 80 n/a 

Designated Greenfield Land Needs, Net Land Area 
2024-2044 I = E / H -15 14 0 -1 
2024-2049 J = F / H -22 12 -1 -11 
2024-2054 K = G / H -28 11 -3 -20 

Greenfield Land Needs, Gross-to-Net  (55% Residential / 45% Other) 
2024-2044 L = I / 55% -27 25 1 -2 
2024-2049 M = J / 55% -40 23 -2 -20 
2024-2054 N = K / 55% -52 21 -5 -36 

Future Urban Growth Area/Secondary Plan, Gross Developable, Hectares 
Vacant Supply, 
ha 

O 
   

0 

Final Greenfield Area Land Needs, Gross Developable, Hectares 
2024-2044 P = L + O 

   
-2 

2024-2049 Q = M + O 
   

-20 
2024-2054 R = N + O 

   
-36 

 

Notes:  
[1] B.U.A. Approved Supply (Excess) refers to the additional housing units that have been approved, beyond the 
forecast amount for intensification. 
Gross developable land area is based on the land required to accommodate residential development, as well as 
lands to support the residential uses, including institutional and commercial uses, as well as infrastructure as roads, 
sidewalks, parks and stormwater ponds.  
Source: Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 123 of 245



 

 

Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  PAGE 22 
Oxford County 2024 - Growth Analysis and Land Needs Assessment Package - September 10 2025 

Figure 14 
Town of Tillsonburg 

Residential Land Needs 
(Gross Developable Hectares) 

Period Calculation Low Density Medium 
Density 

High 
Density Total 

Greenfield Growth (Units) 
2024-2044 A 2,602 784 341 3,727 
2024-2049 B 3,141 1,029 384 4,554 
2024-2054 C 3,638 1,288 442 5,368 

Designated Greenfield Supply (Units) 
Vacant Supply D 1,359 1,020 1,385 3,764 

Designated Greenfield Unit Shortfall (Units) 
2024-2044 E = D - A -1,243 236 1,044 37 
2024-2049 F = D - B -1,782 -9 1,001 -790 
2024-2054 G = D - C -2,279 -268 943 -1,604 

Greenfield Housing Unit Per Ha Assumptions 
Units Per Ha (Net) H 23 42 80 n/a 

Designated Greenfield Land Needs, Net Land Area 
2024-2044 I = E / H -54 6 13 -35 
2024-2049 J = F / H -77 0 13 -65 
2024-2054 K = G / H -99 -6 12 -94 

Greenfield Land Needs, Gross-to-Net  (55% Residential / 45% Other) 
2024-2044 L = I / 55% -98 10 24 -64 

2024-2049 
M = J / 
55% 

-141 -0.4 23 -119 

2024-2054 
N = K / 
55% 

-180 -12 21 -170 

Future Urban Growth Area/Secondary Plan, Gross Developable, Hectares 
Vacant Supply, ha O       0 

Final Greenfield Area Land Needs, Gross Developable, Hectares 
2024-2044 P = L + O       -64 
2024-2049 Q = M + O       -119 
2024-2054 R = N + O       -170 

 
Notes: Gross developable land area is based on the land required to accommodate residential development, as well 
as lands to support the residential uses, including institutional and commercial uses, as well as infrastructure as 
roads, sidewalks, parks and stormwater ponds.  
Source: Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 124 of 245



 

 

Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  PAGE 23 
Oxford County 2024 - Growth Analysis and Land Needs Assessment Package - September 10 2025 

Figure 15 
Township of Zorra  

Residential Land Needs 
(Gross Developable Hectares) 

Period Calculation Low Density Medium 
Density 

High 
Density Total 

Greenfield Growth (Units) 
2024-2044 A 630 102 105 837 
2024-2049 B 717 159 170 1,046 
2024-2054 C 774 230 254 1,258 

Designated Greenfield Supply (Units) 
Vacant Supply   464 327 0 791 
B.U.A. Approved Supply 
(Excess) [1]   

0 394 234 628 

Total Adjusted Vacant 
Supply D 

464 721 234 1,419 

Designated Greenfield Unit Shortfall (Units) 
2024-2044 E = D - A -166 619 129 582 
2024-2049 F = D - B -253 562 64 373 
2024-2054 G = D - C -310 491 -20 161 

Greenfield Housing Unit Per Ha Assumptions 
Units Per Ha (Net) H 19 35 50 n/a 

Designated Greenfield Land Needs, Net Land Area 
2024-2044 I = E / H -9 18 3 12 
2024-2049 J = F / H -13 16 1 4 
2024-2054 K = G / H -16 14 0 -3 

Greenfield Land Needs, Gross-to-Net  (60% Residential / 40% Other) 
2024-2044 L = I / 60% -15 29 4 19 
2024-2049 M = J / 60% -22 27 2 7 
2024-2054 N = K / 60% -27 23 -1 -4 

Future Urban Growth Area/Secondary Plan, Gross Developable, Hectares 
Vacant Supply, ha O       20 

Final Greenfield Area Land Needs, Gross Developable, Hectares 
2024-2044 P = L + O       39 
2024-2049 Q = M + O       27 
2024-2054 R = N + O       16 

 
Notes:  
[1] B.U.A. Approved Supply (Excess) refers to the additional housing units that have been approved, beyond the 
forecast amount for intensification. 
Gross developable land area is based on the land required to accommodate residential development, as well as 
lands to support the residential uses, including institutional and commercial uses, as well as infrastructure as roads, 
sidewalks, parks and stormwater ponds.  
Source: Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 125 of 245



 

 

Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  PAGE 24 
Oxford County 2024 - Growth Analysis and Land Needs Assessment Package - September 10 2025 

 
Figure 16 

Township of Norwich  
Residential Land Needs 

(Gross Developable Hectares) 

Period Calculation Low 
Density 

Medium 
Density 

High 
Density Total 

Greenfield Growth (Units) 
2024-2044 A 549 105 280 934 
2024-2049 B 713 145 303 1,161 
2024-2054 C 868 189 333 1,390 

Designated Greenfield Supply (Units) 
Vacant Supply D 222 12 138 372 

Designated Greenfield Unit Shortfall (Units) 
2024-2044 E = D - A -327 -93 -142 -562 
2024-2049 F = D - B -491 -133 -165 -789 
2024-2054 G = D - C -646 -177 -195 -1,018 

Greenfield Housing Unit Per Ha Assumptions 
Units Per Ha (Net) H 19 35 50 n/a 

Designated Greenfield Land Needs, Net Land Area 
2024-2044 I = E / H -17 -3 -3 -23 
2024-2049 J = F / H -26 -4 -3 -33 
2024-2054 K = G / H -34 -5 -4 -43 

Greenfield Land Needs, Gross-to-Net  (60% Residential / 40% Other) 
2024-2044 L = I / 60% -29 -4 -5 -38 
2024-2049 M = J / 60% -43 -6 -6 -55 
2024-2054 N = K / 60% -57 -8 -7 -72 

Future Urban Growth Area/Secondary Plan, Gross Developable, Hectares 
Vacant Supply, ha O       29 

Final Greenfield Area Land Needs, Gross Developable, Hectares 
2024-2044 P = L + O       -9 
2024-2049 Q = M + O       -26 
2024-2054 R = N + O       -43 

 
Notes: Gross developable land area is based on the land required to accommodate residential development, as well 
as lands to support the residential uses, including institutional and commercial uses, as well as infrastructure as 
roads, sidewalks, parks and stormwater ponds.  
Source: Watson & Associates Economists Ltd. 

  

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 126 of 245



 

 

Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  PAGE 25 
Oxford County 2024 - Growth Analysis and Land Needs Assessment Package - September 10 2025 

Figure 17 
Township of East Zorra-Tavistock  

Residential Land Needs 
(Gross Developable Hectares) 

Period Calculation Low Density Medium 
Density High Density Total 

Greenfield Growth (Units) 
2024-2044 A 779 141 90 1,010 
2024-2049 B 974 169 106 1,249 
2024-2054 C 1,157 226 111 1,494 

Designated Greenfield Supply (Units) 
Vacant Supply D 259 45 0 304 

Designated Greenfield Unit Shortfall (Units) 
2024-2044 E = D - A -520 -96 -90 -706 
2024-2049 F = D - B -715 -124 -106 -945 
2024-2054 G = D - C -898 -181 -111 -1,190 

Greenfield Housing Unit Per Ha Assumptions 
Units Per Ha (Net) H 19 35 50 n/a 

Designated Greenfield Land Needs, Net Land Area 
2024-2044 I = E / H -27 -3 -2 -32 
2024-2049 J = F / H -38 -4 -2 -43 
2024-2054 K = G / H -47 -5 -2 -55 

Greenfield Land Needs, Gross-to-Net  (60% Residential / 40% Other) 
2024-2044 L = I / 60% -46 -5 -3 -53 
2024-2049 M = J / 60% -63 -6 -4 -72 
2024-2054 N = K / 60% -79 -9 -4 -91 

Future Urban Growth Area/Secondary Plan, Gross Developable, Hectares 
Vacant Supply, ha O       0 

Final Greenfield Area Land Needs, Gross Developable, Hectares 
2024-2044 P = L + O       -53 
2024-2049 Q = M + O       -72 
2024-2054 R = N + O       -91 

 
Notes: Gross developable land area is based on the land required to accommodate residential development, as well 
as lands to support the residential uses, including institutional and commercial uses, as well as infrastructure as 
roads, sidewalks, parks and stormwater ponds.  
Source: Watson & Associates Economists Ltd. 

  

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 127 of 245



 

 

Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  PAGE 26 
Oxford County 2024 - Growth Analysis and Land Needs Assessment Package - September 10 2025 

Figure 18 
Township of Blandford-Blenheim  

Residential Land Needs 
(Gross Developable Hectares) 

Period Calculation Low Density Medium 
Density 

High 
Density Total 

Greenfield Growth (Units) 
2024-2044 A 441 71 60 572 
2024-2049 B 541 93 64 698 
2024-2054 C 634 117 71 822 

Designated Greenfield Supply (Units) 
Vacant Supply D 509 275 0 784 

Designated Greenfield Unit Shortfall (Units) 
2024-2044 E = D - A 68 204 -60 212 
2024-2049 F = D - B -32 182 -64 86 
2024-2054 G = D - C -125 158 -71 -38 

Greenfield Housing Unit Per Ha Assumptions 
Units Per Ha (Net) H 19 35 50 n/a 

Designated Greenfield Land Needs, Net Land Area 
2024-2044 I = E / H 4 6 -1 8 
2024-2049 J = F / H -2 5 -1 2 
2024-2054 K = G / H -7 5 -1 -3 

Greenfield Land Needs, Gross-to-Net  (60% Residential / 40% Other) 
2024-2044 L = I / 60% 6 10 -2 14 
2024-2049 M = J / 60% -3 9 -2 4 
2024-2054 N = K / 60% -11 8 -2 -6 

Future Urban Growth Area/Secondary Plan, Gross Developable, Hectares 
Vacant Supply, ha O       11 

Final Greenfield Area Land Needs, Gross Developable, Hectares 
2024-2044 P = L + O       24 
2024-2049 Q = M + O       14 
2024-2054 R = N + O       5 

 
Notes: Gross developable land area is based on the land required to accommodate residential development, as well 
as lands to support the residential uses, including institutional and commercial uses, as well as infrastructure as 
roads, sidewalks, parks and stormwater ponds.  
Source: Watson & Associates Economists Ltd. 

 
 
 

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 128 of 245



 

 

Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  PAGE 27 
Oxford County 2024 - Growth Analysis and Land Needs Assessment Package - September 10 2025 

Figure 19 
Township of South-West Oxford  

Residential Land Needs 
(Gross Developable Hectares) 

Period Calculation Low Density Medium 
Density 

High 
Density Total 

Greenfield Growth (Units) 
2024-2044 A 408 75 0 483 
2024-2049 B 503 101 0 604 
2024-2054 C 593 130 0 723 

Designated Greenfield Supply (Units) 
Vacant Supply D 285 69 0 354 

Designated Greenfield Unit Shortfall (Units) 
2024-2044 E = D - A -123 -6 0 -129 
2024-2049 F = D - B -218 -32 0 -250 
2024-2054 G = D - C -308 -61 0 -369 

Greenfield Housing Unit Per Ha Assumptions 
Units Per Ha (Net) H 19 35 50 n/a 

Designated Greenfield Land Needs, Net Land Area 
2024-2044 I = E / H -6 0 0 -7 
2024-2049 J = F / H -11 -1 0 -12 
2024-2054 K = G / H -16 -2 0 -18 

Greenfield Land Needs, Gross-to-Net  (60% Residential / 40% Other) 
2024-2044 L = I / 60% -11 0 0 -11 
2024-2049 M = J / 60% -19 -2 0 -21 
2024-2054 N = K / 60% -27 -3 0 -30 

Future Urban Growth Area/Secondary Plan, Gross Developable, Hectares 
Vacant Supply, ha O       0 

Final Greenfield Area Land Needs, Gross Developable, Hectares 
2024-2044 P = L + O       -11 
2024-2049 Q = M + O       -21 
2024-2054 R = N + O       -30 

Notes: Gross developable land area is based on the land required to accommodate residential 
development, as well as lands to support the residential uses, including institutional and commercial 
uses, as well as infrastructure as roads, sidewalks, parks and stormwater ponds. 
Source: Watson & Associates Economists Ltd. 
 

Figure 20 provides a summary of the Community Area land needs by Area Municipality. 
Figures that include negative values indicate a shortfall of land and require additional 
Community Area, while positive values indicate a surplus of Community Area land and 
do not require an expansion. As summarized in Figure 20, approximately 390 gross 
developable hectares of Community Area would be required in the County over the 20-
year horizon to support residential development and supporting uses (commercial, 
institutional and local and civic infrastructure). With the exception of the Township of 
Blandford-Blenheim and the Township of Zorra, all other municipalities would require 

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 129 of 245



 

 

Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  PAGE 28 
Oxford County 2024 - Growth Analysis and Land Needs Assessment Package - September 10 2025 

additional Community Area land over the 20-year horizon. The Township of Blandford-
Blenheim and the Township of Zorra have a surplus of Community Area lands. 

Figure 20 
County of Oxford 

Summary of Residential Land Needs (Gross Developable Hectares) 

Municipality 20-Year Land 
Needs 

25-Year Land 
Needs 

30-Year Land 
Needs 

City of Woodstock -251  -353  -452  
Town of Tillsonburg -64  -119  -170  
Township of East Zorra-Tavistock -53  -72  -91  
Township of Norwich -9  -26  -43  
Town of Ingersoll -2  -20  -36 
Township of South-West Oxford -11  -21  -30  
Township of Blandford-Blenheim 24  14  5  
Township of Zorra 39  27  16  

County of Oxford Total (excludes 
surpluses) 

-390 -611 -822 

Note: Surpluses (i.e., positive figures) are not counted in the totals.  
Source: Watson & Associates Economists Ltd. 
 

Figure 21 provides a summary of all key assumptions utilized in the land needs 
assessment as previously discussed.  

 
 

 

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 130 of 245



 

 

Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  PAGE 29 
Oxford County 2024 - Growth Analysis and Land Needs Assessment Package - September 10 2025 

Figure 21 
County of Oxford 

Summary of Key Residential Land Needs Assumptions 

Municipality  
Rural 

Housing 
Growth 

Share (%) 

Intensification 
Rate (%) 

Greenfield 
Housing 
Growth 

Share (%) 

Total 
Housing 

Growth (%) 
Units Per Ha 

(U.P.H.), Net Ha 
Gross-to 

Net 
Factor [1] 

City of Woodstock 0% 25% 75% 100%  
Low: 23 U.P.H. 

Medium: 42 U.P.H. 
High: 80 U.P.H. 

 

55% Town of Tillsonburg 0% 25% 75% 100% 

Town of Ingersoll 0% 25% 75% 100% 

Township of Zorra 12% 25% 63% 100% 

Low: 19 U.P.H. 
Medium: 35 U.P.H. 

High: 50 U.P.H. 
 

60% 

Township of Norwich 13% 15% 72% 100% 

Township of East Zorra-Tavistock 8% 15% 77% 100% 

Township of Blandford-Blenheim 12% 15% 73% 100% 

South-West Oxford 15% 10% 75% 100% 

County of Oxford  3% 23% 74% 100% - - 
[1] The gross-to-net factor is the assumption that provides a gross developable land area including other land-uses to support residential land needs, including 
institutional and commercial uses, as well as infrastructure as roads, sidewalks, parks and stormwater ponds.  

Note: Based on 30-year period, over 2024 to 2054 planning horizon. 
Source: Watson & Associates Economists Ltd. 
 

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 131 of 245



 

 

Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  PAGE 30 
Oxford County 2024 - Growth Analysis and Land Needs Assessment Package - September 10 2025 

2.3 Employment Area Land Needs 

Figure 22 provides a summary of the Employment Area land supply by Area 
Municipality. This supply only includes Employment Area lands within the Urban 
Centres and fully serviced settlement areas in the Townships. The Employment Area 
land supply has been adjusted on net basis with a further reduction of 15% for long-term 
vacancy. A long-term land vacancy adjustment of is applied to account for lands that 
may not develop over the planning horizon for various factors such as marketability, site 
constraints, parcel configuration, landowner willingness, etc. 

Figure 22 
County of Oxford 

Employment Area Land Supply 

Municipality  Employment 
Supply, Gross 
Developable  

Employment 
Supply, Net 
Developable 

(80%)  

Employment 
Supply, ha 

Adjusted (15% 
long-term 
vacancy)   

Woodstock [1]  429   343   291   

Tillsonburg  83   67   57   

Ingersoll  272   218   185   

Zorra  1   1   1   

Norwich  23   19   16   

East Zorra-Tavistock  4   3   2   

Blandford Blenheim   21   17   14   

South-West Oxford  16   13   11   

Total  848   679   577   
[1] There are lands outside of the settlement boundary that have been identified for industrial use through the 
Southeast Woodstock Secondary Plan. These lands were not included in the employment land supply as they still 
require additional planning study prior to being brought into the settlement boundary, but would be first priority for any 
future settlement area boundary expansion for employment uses. 
Source: Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  

Figure 23 provides a summary of the forecast employment to be allocated on 
Employment Area lands. The forecast is only for Urban Centres and fully serviced 
settlement areas. An adjustment has been made to account for an estimated amount of 
Employment Area growth to be accommodated through intensification. It is assumed 
that 10% of employment growth in Woodstock, Ingersoll, and Tillsonburg will be 
accommodated through intensification, while a lower share of 5% is assumed for the 
serviced settlement areas in the Townships, acknowledging their smaller developed 
Employment Area base. 

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 132 of 245



 

 

Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  PAGE 31 
Oxford County 2024 - Growth Analysis and Land Needs Assessment Package - September 10 2025 

Figure 23 
County of Oxford 

Employment Area Forecast 

Municipality 
Employment Employment Adjusted for 

Intensification 
2024-
2044 2024-2049 2024-

2054 
2024-
2044 

2024-
2049 2024-2054 

Woodstock  6,020   7,160   8,250   5,420   6,440   7,430  
Tillsonburg  1,340   1,600   1,840   1,210   1,440   1,660  
Ingersoll  2,170   2,590   2,980   1,950   2,330   2,680  
Zorra  120   140   160   110   130   150  
Norwich  190   230   270   180   220   260  
East Zorra-Tavistock  180   210   240   170   200   230  
Blandford Blenheim   227   270   310   220   260   290  
South-West Oxford  120   140   170   110   130   160  
Total  10,367   12,340   14,220   9,370   11,150   12,860  

Source: Watson & Associates Economists Ltd. 

Figure 24 provides a summary of the Employment Area land demand forecast by Area 
Municipality. An average Employment Area density of 15 jobs per net hectare is utilized 
for Woodstock, Tillsonburg and Ingersoll, while an Employment Area density of 10 jobs 
per hectare is utilized for the serviced settlement areas in the Townships. 

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 133 of 245



 

 

Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  PAGE 32 
Oxford County 2024 - Growth Analysis and Land Needs Assessment Package - September 10 2025 

Figure 24 
County of Oxford 

Employment Area Land Demand 

Municipality 
Employment Adjusted for 

Intensification Density 
(jobs/Net 

ha) 

Land Demand 
2024-
2044 

2024-
2049 

2024-
2054 

2024-
2044 

2024-
2049 

2024-
2054 

Woodstock  5,420   6,440   7,430  15  361   429   495  
Tillsonburg  1,210   1,440   1,660  15  81   96   111  
Ingersoll  1,950   2,330   2,680  15  130   155   179  
Zorra  110   130   150  10  11   13   15  
Norwich  180   220   260  10  18   22   26  
East Zorra-Tavistock  170   200   230  10  17   20   23  
Blandford Blenheim   220   260   290  10  22   26   29  
South-West Oxford  110   130   160  10  11   13   16  
Total  9,370   11,150   12,860  

 
 651   775   894  

Source: Watson & Associates Economists Ltd. 

Figure 25 provides a summary of the Employment Area land needs by Area 
Municipality. The Employment Area land demand is compared to the Employment Area 
supply to determine the Employment Area land needs. The land needs are then 
adjusted downward to account for Future Growth Areas and Secondary Plans that were 
not included in the previous designated supply.

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 134 of 245



 

 

Watson & Associates Economists Ltd.  PAGE 33 
Oxford County 2024 - Growth Analysis and Land Needs Assessment Package - September 10 2025 

Figure 25 
County of Oxford 

Employment Area Land Needs 

Municipality 

Land Needs, Net, ha Land Needs, Gross Developable, ha 
Future Growth 

Area/Secondary 
Plan Areas 

20-Year 
Land Needs 

Gross 
Developable 

(ha)  

25-Year 
Land Needs 

Gross 
Developable 

(ha) 

30-Year 
Land Needs 

Gross 
Developable 

(ha) 
2024-2044 2024-2049 2024-2054 2024-2044 2024-2049 2024-2054 

Woodstock [1] -70  -138  -204  -87  -172  -255  4  -83  -168  -251  
Tillsonburg -24  -39  -54  -30  -49  -68  0  -30  -49  -68  
Ingersoll 55  30  6  69  37  8  0  69  37  8  
Zorra -10  -12  -14  -13  -15  -18  24  11  9  6  
Norwich -2  -6  -10  -3  -8  -13  0  -3  -8  -13  
East Zorra-Tavistock -15  -18  -21  -18  -22  -26  0  -18  -22  -26  
Blandford Blenheim  -8  -12  -15  -10  -15  -19  0  -10  -15  -19  
South-West Oxford -0  -2  -5  -0  -3  -7  0  -0  -3  -7  
Total 

      
 28  -135  -250  -363  

[1] There are lands outside of the settlement boundary that have been identified for industrial use through the Southeast Woodstock Secondary Plan. These lands were not included in the 
employment land supply as they still require additional planning study prior to being brought into the settlement boundary, but would be first priority for any future settlement area boundary 
expansion for employment uses. 
Source: Watson & Associates Economists Ltd. 
 

Item 8.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 135 of 245



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Community Planning  
P.O. Box 1614, 21 Reeve Street 
Woodstock  Ontario  N4S 7Y3 

Phone: 519-539-9800  •   Fax: 519-421-4712 
Web site: www.oxfordcounty.ca  
 
 

MEMO 
DATE: September 15, 2025 
TO: All Area Municipal CAOs and Clerks 
FROM: Paul Michiels, Director, Community Planning  
RE: Updating Implementation Policies in the Official Plan 
 

  
On September 10th, 2025, Community Planning report CP 2025-236 was presented to the 
Council of the County of Oxford, which contained the following recommendations: 
 

1. That County Council direct Planning staff to initiate an Official Plan Amendment to update 
the implementation policies in Chapter 10 of the Plan and other related updates, including 
associated consultation, as generally outlined in Report CP 2025-236; 
 

2. And further, that Report CP 2025-236 be circulated to the Area Municipalities for 
information. 

 
Oxford County Council then passed the following resolution: 
 
RESOLUTION NO. 9 
Moved By: Deborah Tait 
Seconded By: Mark Peterson  
 
Resolved that the recommendations contained in Report CP 2025-236 titled "Updating the 
Implementation Policies of the Official Plan", be adopted.  
 
DISPOSITION: Motion Carried 
 
As such, please find attached the report for your information. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Paul Michiels 
Director 
Community Planning 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 136 of 245

http://www.oxfordcounty.ca/


Page 1 of 10 

  
 

Report CP 2025-236  
COMMUNITY PLANNING 

Council Date: September 10, 2025 
 

REPORT TO COUNTY COUNCIL  

Updating the Implementation Policies of the Official Plan 
 
To: Warden and Members of County Council 
 
From: Director of Community Planning  

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. That County Council direct Planning staff to initiate an Official Plan Amendment to 
update the implementation policies in Chapter 10 of the Plan and other related 
updates, including associated consultation, as generally outlined in Report  
CP 2025-236;  

2. And further, that Report CP 2025-236 be circulated to the Area Municipalities for 
information. 

REPORT HIGHLIGHTS 

• This report provides highlights of proposed changes to the implementation polices in the 
Official Plan (i.e. Chapter 10), in response to the numerous changes to the Planning Act that 
have occurred in recent years, and to further support continuous improvement of development 
related processes.  
 

• These updates are intended to help provide clear policies and tools for the County and area 
municipalities to further improve planning processes and provide enhanced consistency and 
efficiency when dealing with various matters under the Planning Act. 

 
• The proposed changes (Attachment 1), predominantly affect Chapter 10 of the Official Plan, 

but would also provide for cross-references in other sections of the Plan and restore two site 
specific policies deleted by the Province’s approval of updates to the Agricultural policies 
(OPA 269). 

IMPLEMENTATION POINTS 

If County Council provides direction to initiate amendments to the Official Plan, Planning staff will 
formally initiate the required process under the requirements of the Planning Act.   
 
 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 137 of 245



Report CP 2025-236 
COMMUNITY PLANNING 

Council Date: September 10, 2025 
 

Page 2 of 10 

A revised draft version of the proposed changes would be brought forward to a statutory public 
meeting under the Planning Act and consideration by County Council for a decision at a later date. 
Revisions to the current draft proposed changes may be made based on further staff review and 
consultation with the area municipalities, as well any other feedback received. 
 
Financial Impact 

The approval of the recommendations contained in this Report will have no financial impact 
beyond what has been approved in the current year’s budget. 
 
Communications 

Preliminary consultation with area municipal staff regarding potential implementation of policy 
updates helped to inform the draft policies that are included as Attachment 1. Further consultation 
with area municipal staff will follow the release of the draft policies.  
At minimum, all required notice requirements under the Planning Act will be met. 

2023-2026 STRATEGIC PLAN 

Oxford County Council approved the 2023-2026 Strategic Plan on September 13, 2023. The 
Plan outlines 39 goals across three strategic pillars that advance Council’s vision of “Working 
together for a healthy, vibrant, and sustainable future.” These pillars are: (1) Promoting 
community vitality, (2) Enhancing environmental sustainability, and (3) Fostering progressive 
government.  
 
The recommendations in this report supports the following strategic goals. 
 
Strategic Plan Pillars and Goals 

PILLAR 1 PILLAR 2 PILLAR 3 

   

Promoting community  
vitality 

Enhancing environmental 
sustainability 

Fostering progressive 
government 

Goal 1.2 – Sustainable 
infrastructure and development 

 

 
 

Goal 3.1 – Continuous 
improvement and results-driven 
solutions 

 
See: Oxford County 2023-2026 Strategic Plan 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 138 of 245

http://www.oxfordcounty.ca/strategicplan
https://webresources.oxfordcounty.ca/documents/OC_2023_2026_StrategicPlan_upd20230918_A_web.pdf#page=9
https://webresources.oxfordcounty.ca/documents/OC_2023_2026_StrategicPlan_upd20230918_A_web.pdf#page=14
http://www.oxfordcounty.ca/strategicplan


Report CP 2025-236 
COMMUNITY PLANNING 

Council Date: September 10, 2025 
 

Page 3 of 10 

DISCUSSION 

Background 

Initially, as described in report CP 2022-48, the review of the implementation policies in Chapter 
10 was proposed to be included in Phase 3 of the review and update of the Official Plan. However, 
since that report, the Province has made numerous revisions to the Planning Act through multiple 
Bills (i.e. Bills 109, 23, 97, 185, and 17) that have impacted many facets of the development 
review process (e.g. fee refunds, application requirements, appeal rights), as well as establishing 
a new Provincial Planning Statement, 2024 (PPS). In a few instances, these changes have also 
resulted in additional tools, or added flexibility, that may assist the County and area municipalities 
in further streamlining local processes and providing enhanced consistency and efficiency when 
dealing with matters under the Planning Act. 
  
To help expedite the continuous improvement of planning processes, staff are proposing to 
proceed with the proposed policy changes outlined in this report in advance of the other policy 
updates contemplated as part of the broader Official Plan review and the proposed initiation of a 
new Official Plan. Some of the strategic benefits of advancing these key policy changes include: 
  

• Providing the opportunity for the County and area municipalities to consider options to 
delegate certain, more straightforward, planning approvals to staff and otherwise 
streamline and enhance development review processes; and 

• Providing greater clarity for users of the Official Plan with respect to County and area 
municipal requirements for development review and other planning processes. 

Comments 

The discussion below includes key highlights of the proposed changes contemplated through the 
proposed draft policies, included in Attachment 1. The discussion below organizes these 
highlights into four categories:  

1. Updates to support and/or clarify requirements and processes for major projects and 
studies, including secondary planning; 

2. Updates to support improving development approval processes, including establishing 
more detailed complete application requirements, delegation of approval authority, 
servicing allocation, site plan and subdivision approvals, and alternative methods of 
consultation; 

3. Minor amendments to reflect changes to municipal responsibilities (e.g. mandatory 
delegation of site plan approval) under the Planning Act and improve clarity of the existing 
evaluation criteria for various planning applications; and  

4. Technical amendments to restore two site specific policies that were inadvertently deleted 
by the Province with the approval of OPA 269 (agricultural amendment). 

 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 139 of 245

https://pub-oxfordcounty.escribemeetings.com/filestream.ashx?DocumentId=5039


Report CP 2025-236 
COMMUNITY PLANNING 

Council Date: September 10, 2025 
 

Page 4 of 10 

1. Updates to Support Major Projects and Studies 

Completion of secondary plans, area plans, and other planning studies is fundamental to 
achieving and supporting the effective implementation of County and area municipal planning 
objectives. Proposed updates to the policies will provide greater clarity with respect to these 
processes and related requirements and better reflect some of the updated requirements for 
settlement area expansions in the 2024 PPS.  
 
This will help to ensure the full range of required studies and measures are clearly identified and 
appropriately scoped as part of the secondary planning process, where one is required and/or 
proposed. The proposed updates are intended to provide further support for ensuring planned 
growth is directed to appropriate areas on appropriate services (e.g. municipal water and 
wastewater services), increasing the range and mix of housing types across the County, 
protecting prime agricultural areas and the environment, and building complete, liveable 
communities. 

2. Updates to Improve the Development Review Process 

The following proposed updates are intended to help further streamline the development 
application review and approval process, including enabling the County and/or Area Municipal 
councils to consider the implementation of various optional Planning Act tools and processes. 
Others are intended to improve consistency, efficiency, and transparency in the overall planning 
process and better reflect updated Planning Act requirements. 
 
a) Complete Application Requirements 

The Planning Act and its regulations set out the minimum requirements for information that must 
be submitted with various planning applications (i.e. official plan and zoning by-law amendments, 
plans of subdivisions, consents to sever, and site plan approval). Municipalities can also generally 
require information or materials in addition to the minimum provincial requirements, if set out in 
their Official Plan policies. 
 
A planning application is considered “complete” when it contains all the information required by 
the applicable sections of the Planning Act, relevant Minister’s regulation(s), as well as the 
additional materials or requirements set out in the Official Plan. Complete application 
requirements ensure that the key information needed to assess a planning proposal is included 
with the application, so that municipalities have all the information necessary to properly assess 
the potential impacts of the proposal and make informed and timely decisions. This is a key 
process step, as once a municipality has deemed an application to be ‘complete’, it triggers the 
Planning Act decision making timeline requirements (e.g. 60 to 120 days depending on the 
application type) and, if the municipality has not made a decision within the applicable timeline, 
the applicant has the right to appeal the ‘lack of decision’ to the Ontario Land Tribunal (OLT). 
 
Although complete application requirements have not been a particularly contentious issue in 
Oxford to date, pre-consultation is widely supported by municipal staff and applicants as an 
important step that improves the speed and efficiency of the overall planning process. Further, 
while mandatory pre-consultation is no longer something municipalities are permitted to require 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 140 of 245



Report CP 2025-236 
COMMUNITY PLANNING 

Council Date: September 10, 2025 
 

Page 5 of 10 

(i.e. due to recent Planning Act changes), pre-consultation continues to be strongly recommended 
to applicants, particularly for more complex or potentially contentious types of applications. 
 
Overall, the proposed changes to Section 10.5.3 are intended to provide greater clarity with 
respect to the application process and associated submission requirements in Oxford, including 
the various studies and reports that may be required by the County and/or Area Municipality as 
part of a ‘complete’ application in accordance with current Planning Act requirements, Official 
Plan policies, and other County and/or Area Municipal standards. The proposed updates to the 
complete application requirements will recognize that there may be Area Municipal specific 
application submission requirements, such as those set out in local site plan guidelines.  
 
Bill 17 now requires ‘any new or revised’ Official Plan requirements for complete applications to 
be approved by the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing (MMAH) prior to adoption by County 
Council. Although it appears this MMAH approval process may be a temporary measure (i.e. until 
a future regulation is passed to provide further direction), to date there has been no indication as 
to when this requirement might be repealed and replaced by regulation. As outlined in Report 
CP 2025-158, the Province has recently given itself the ability to enact regulations that list the 
prohibited topics and permitted studies that may be required by municipalities as part of a 
‘complete application’. As such, planning staff will continue to monitor the status of the MMAH 
approval process for complete application requirements and any associated regulations and 
address these, as necessary, as part of the update process. For example, the proposed 
amendments may be separated into multiple parts to expedite those matters that are not subject 
to the MMAH pre-approval process (i.e. matters not related to complete applications). 
 
b) Delegation of Approvals to Staff 

The Planning Act contains provisions that enable municipalities to delegate certain planning 
approvals to staff to help reduce Council and staff time (e.g. writing reports) spent on relatively 
straightforward and/or technical type planning matters and expedite the overall approval process. 
As the Province has recently expanded the range of planning authorities that may be delegated 
to staff, to help municipalities further expedite and streamline their planning approval processes, 
staff are proposing a number of policy updates to clarify which planning authorities under the 
Planning Act that Council may now choose to delegate to staff (i.e. through the delegation by-law), 
including: 
 

i) Subsection 10.5.1 (Delegation of Planning Authority) is proposed to be amended to 
recognize the County’s ability to delegate approval authority for certain additional aspects 
of County level planning applications to planning staff. These include aspects of consent 
approval (e.g. certificates of validation and cancellation), as well as subdivision approval 
(e.g. deeming and part lot control by-laws, vacant land condominiums) and related 
technical amendments (e.g. extensions to draft plan approval, minor revisions to existing 
draft approved plans, etc.). To date, only extensions to draft plan approval and final 
approval of subdivision plans have been formally delegated to planning staff. 

ii) Proposed changes to 10.3.11 (Site Plan Control) to reflect the fact that delegation of 
approval authority for site plan control to municipal staff become mandatory as a result of 
Bill 185 (Cutting Red Tape to Build More Homes Act, 2024).  
 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 141 of 245

https://pub-oxfordcounty.escribemeetings.com/filestream.ashx?DocumentId=12190


Report CP 2025-236 
COMMUNITY PLANNING 

Council Date: September 10, 2025 
 

Page 6 of 10 

iii) Introducing policies to enable the delegation of approval authority for zone changes 
that are ‘minor in nature’ to staff (as established through Bill 23), which requires that 
the parameters for such delegation be set out in Official Plan Policy. Based on Planning 
Act requirements, minor zone changes may include zone changes to remove holding 
provisions and authorize a temporary use. In addition, staff are proposing to enable 
Council to consider delegating approval authority for other types of zoning by-law 
amendments that may also be considered ‘minor in nature’, such as zoning by-law 
amendments required as a condition of surplus farm dwelling severances (i.e. rezoning 
of retained residential lot from agricultural to rural residential and/or to prohibit any new 
dwelling on a resulting agricultural lot), provided it meets all other requirements of the 
local zoning by-law and Official Plan. 

 
Delegating approval authority for certain planning approvals to staff (e.g. for matters that are 
relatively straightforward, technical, and/or non-controversial) can help to reduce the time and 
resources required to process such approvals and expedite approval timelines. For example, 
delegated approval authority could help to reduce the time and cost for removal of a holding zone 
provision (e.g. typically required for confirmation of servicing capacity prior to development), or to 
extend a temporary use by-law (e.g. permitting a garden suite to remain on a property). 
 
It is noted that, while the proposed policy updates will establish the enabling framework necessary 
to allow for County and/or Area Municipal Council to delegate certain planning approval 
authorities to staff, the actual delegation to staff would still require updating their respective 
municipal delegation by-law/policy. It is currently intended that the formal delegation of any of the 
additional approval authorities identified in the proposed polices to staff would be brought forward 
for further consideration by County and/or Area Municipal Council as part of proposed updates to 
their delegation by-law/policy (i.e. once the enabling OP polices are in effect and based on the 
feedback received through Area Municipal consultation). 
 
c) Community Planning Permit Systems 

A Community Planning Permit System (CPPS) is a tool that has been available to municipalities 
in some form since 2007. The enabling legislation has been updated and revised by the Province 
a number of times since, to try to encourage greater use of the CPPSs by municipalities. The 
CPPS is intended to be a tool that can be implemented to streamline the development approval 
process for a particular area by combining several planning approval processes (i.e. zoning 
by-law amendment, minor variance, and site plan) into a single planning ‘permit’ approval 
process.  
 
There can be several potential benefits to implementing a CPPS, including making the planning 
approval process faster and more efficient by reducing the number of applications required for a 
particular development and/or simplifying the process through the establishment of a focused 
scope and set of development criteria. A CPPS is a relatively flexible tool – it can apply to a broad 
or specified geographic area, and to a specific type or all forms of development and may also 
exempt certain types of development (e.g. single detached dwellings or agricultural buildings) 
from permit approval if they meet specific criteria (i.e. would only require a building permit). The 
CPPS can prescribe criteria and standards for development that go beyond what is permitted in 
zoning by-laws or through site plan control and can also address other municipal by-laws and/or 
standards through the CPPS permitting process (e.g. tree and vegetation removal, landscaping, 
urban design, heritage character etc.). Flexibility is also provided through permitting the approval 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 142 of 245



Report CP 2025-236 
COMMUNITY PLANNING 

Council Date: September 10, 2025 
 

Page 7 of 10 

authority to include conditions to be met prior to the permit being approved and/or after the permit 
being approved. Currently the inclusion of conditions is restricted through the zoning amendment 
process. 
 
The proposed draft policies in Attachment 1 would simply establish the ability for Council to 
consider passing a CPPS By-Law based on the requirements of the Planning Act and 
O. Reg 173/16, where the implementation of a CPPS is determined to be beneficial and 
appropriate. It is currently anticipated that a future amendment to the Official Plan would still be 
required to identify the specific area that would be subject to each CPPS, the scope of delegated 
authority, the municipality’s specific goals for the CPPS, and the development criteria and 
conditions that are to be included in the CPPS By-Law.  
 
This proposed approach will allow staff to have further discussion with area municipalities 
regarding the potential benefits of implementing this tool in their particular context and, where 
there is interest, to work together to undertake the required background studies and public 
consultation necessary to establish the specific goals and scope for that particular CPPS and 
ensure that the area and matters to be subject to the CPPS are specifically tailored to each local 
context. A subsequent amendment to the Official Plan would be required to provide this detailed 
direction and allow the Area Municipality to pass a CPPS By-Law. 
 
d) Allocation of Serving Capacity 

Bill 185 enacted amendments to the Municipal Act to give municipalities the clear authority to 
pass a By-Law establishing criteria with respect to the assignment, withdrawal, or reallocation of 
water and/or wastewater service capacity.   
 
In this regard, County Public Works and Planning staff have been working together to develop a 
draft by-law and supporting policies and protocol to provide greater clarity, transparency, and 
certainty with respect to the County’s process and requirements for servicing capacity allocation. 
Initial consultation with the Area Municipalities on these draft documents has been completed, 
with a final report and By-law expected to be presented for County Council consideration before 
year end. Minor policy updates are being proposed to ensure that the Official Plan contains 
appropriate references to the proposed by-law and provides clarity on how it will integrate with 
the planning approval process. These consist of updates to Section 5.5 (County Servicing Policy) 
and related cross references in the subdivision and site plan sections of Chapter 10. 
 
e) Alternative Measures for Notice and Public Participation 

Staff are also proposing policy updates to provide flexibility to consider and/or utilize alternative 
measures for public notice and engagement. The updates to the Planning Act through Bill 17 
(Smart Growth for Our Communities Act, 2015) provided authority for municipalities to describe 
alternative measures for notice and public participation in their Official Plans. To implement these 
alternative measures requires: 
 

• that decision makers continue to consider any input received from members of the public;  

• alternative form of notice to provide the public with the statutory information relevant to the 
application and any applicable appeal rights; and 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 143 of 245



Report CP 2025-236 
COMMUNITY PLANNING 

Council Date: September 10, 2025 
 

Page 8 of 10 

• clarity as to whether alternative measures are also intended to satisfy requirements for, 
and be sent to, prescribed persons and public bodies (or if traditional forms of notice would 
continue to be used for this purpose). 
  

Examples of alternative notice measures may include, but are not limited to: e-mail, posting 
information on the County website or engagement platforms like Speak Up Oxford, social media, 
and hosting in-person or virtual workshops. A review of other municipalities suggests that 
alternative measures of notice are typically used in tandem with delegation of approval authority 
(e.g. for minor zoning by-law amendments) and for simple applications that are largely 
administrative in nature and typically receive no public concern (e.g. removal of holding 
provisions, extensions of temporary use provisions), but alternative measures may also be 
generally used for official plan amendment, zoning by-law amendment, consent and plan of 
subdivision processes. 
 
Municipalities may also consider utilizing alternative notice measures in conjunction with the 
power to waive the requirement for a public meeting. While community planning staff recognize 
that public meetings are an important form of community engagement, allowing for alternative 
measures can provide the flexibility to tailor the form of notice and engagement to a particular 
planning matter and level of community interest. For example, waiving the public meeting 
requirement for a planning matter of a technical nature, that is unlikely to have any community 
impact or concern, could assist in expediting the approval process and reduce demands on 
Council and staff time. Alternative approaches may also be beneficial to consider for matters such 
as County-initiated Official Plan amendments (e.g. to allow staff to utilize virtual engagement 
methods in place of a traditional in-person open house). The potential benefit would be that by 
allowing for broader diversity of engagement options (e.g. virtual open house, while maintaining 
the in-person statutory public meetings), more residents may choose to participate in the planning 
process, while still ensuring Planning Act requirements are met. 
 
Providing additional flexibility for notice could assist in further streamlining and expediting the 
processing of certain applications, help meet statutory deadlines, and allow municipalities to 
better adapt to disruptions to traditional methods of notice and/or engagement – such as limited 
or no newspaper circulation for an area, a postal strike, or inclement weather. Specific use of the 
alterative tools for notice and engagement will be dependent on the type and nature of application 
and be discussed in greater detail with the Area municipalities as part the consideration of 
potential delegation of approval authorities. 

3. Other Proposed Minor Policy Updates 

Logistical and Clarifying Edits for Planning Applications 

Minor policy updates and revisions are proposed to improve the clarity and intent of certain 
development evaluation criteria, based on the feedback received from planning staff during initial 
consultation on potential changes to the implementation policies. Other changes include adding 
cross-references, replicating existing language from other Chapters of the Official Plan to improve 
consistency, and ensuring the language reflects the current wording in the Planning Act. Overall, 
these changes are intended to improve the flexibility, accuracy, and implementation of existing 
policy requirements, while also ensuring planning principles are consistently applied in the 
evaluation of applications.  

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 144 of 245



Report CP 2025-236 
COMMUNITY PLANNING 

Council Date: September 10, 2025 
 

Page 9 of 10 

Other Existing Powers 

Some implementation tools have been long established in the Official Plan and are generally 
already actively used in the development and planning process in Oxford County. However, 
staff are proposing minor amendments to the policies to: 

• clarify and reflect current practice; 

• clarify that certain legislative tools that are not currently utilized are available and may be 
implemented in the future; and 

• add transparency with respect to the planning process and municipal responsibilities 
under the Planning Act.   

For example, updates to Section 10.3.3 (Plans of Subdivision) are proposed to better recognize 
that approval authorities have the power to review and change the conditions, and/or extend the 
length, of draft plan approval. Similarly, updates to Section 10.3.4 (Consents) are proposed to 
reflect the current ability for an approval authority to consider the approval of minor lot adjustments 
and certificates of cancellations.  
 
The Planning Act also specifies that subdivisions must, and site plans may, have lapsing dates 
identified when approvals are granted. Similarly, the Act requires that a consent’s approval lapses 
if conditions are not met within the specified time period. As such, updates are proposed to reflect 
that lapsing dates are already required by Oxford County for subdivisions and consents and may 
be required by the Area municipalities for site plan approval. 

4. Restoring Site-Specific Amendments 

Staff are proposing to reinstate two site-specific amendments that were adopted and approved 
by Oxford County Council in 2023 but later deleted in error by the province during the approval of 
OPA 269 (Agricultural Policy updates). The two site-specific amendments were approved after 
the submission of OPA 269 to the Province for approval and, although planning staff requested 
that the subject site specific policies be carried forward in the Minister’s approval, they were 
deleted and replaced by the policies in OPA 269 when the Minister’s final decision was issued 
(i.e. almost 2 years from the date that the OPA was submitted to the Province). Accordingly, these 
proposed amendments will simply restore the policies originally approved by County Council (i.e. 
will not result in any changes to those policies). 

CONCLUSIONS 

The purpose of this report is to present Council with proposed updates to the implementation 
policies in the Official Plan and obtain direction to initiate the formal Official Plan Amendment 
process and related consultation. The general intent of the proposed policy updates is to improve 
the efficiency, consistency, clarity, and flexibility of the various planning implementation measures 
and tools set out in the Official Plan, which are primarily contained in Chapter 10. The proposed 
amendments are based on extensive background research, consideration of applicable provincial 
legislation, and preliminary consultation with Area Municipal and County staff. 
 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 145 of 245



Report CP 2025-236 
COMMUNITY PLANNING 

Council Date: September 10, 2025 
 

Page 10 of 10 

A revised draft of the proposed changes will be brought forward at a future date for a statutory 
public meeting under the Planning Act and decision by County Council. It is noted that further 
revisions to the draft policies contained in Attachment 1 of this report may result from further 
consultation with the area municipalities and consideration of any other feedback received. 
 
Although County Council is the approval authority for the proposed changes, approval from 
MMAH is currently required for any ‘new or revised’ Official Plan requirements for complete 
applications prior to adoption by County Council. As such, staff may elect to bring back the 
proposed changes in the form of multiple amendments to allow the County to continue to move 
ahead with amendments that are not subject to approval by MMAH. Staff continue to have 
discussions with MMAH in this regard.  
 

SIGNATURES 
 
Report Author: 
 
 
Original signed by        
Hanne Yager 
Policy Planner 
 
Reviewed By:  
 
 
Original signed by       
April Nix, MCIP, RPP 
Manager of Policy Planning 
 
Departmental approval: 
 
 
Original signed by      
Paul Michiels 
Director of Community Planning  
 
Approved for submission: 
 
 
Original signed by      
Benjamin R. Addley 
Chief Administrative Officer 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
Attachment 1 - Draft Implementation Policies  

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 146 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 

Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-1 
10.3 Implementation Tools 

10.0 Implementation Measures 

10.3 Implementation Tools 

10.3.2 Secondary Plans, Area Studies and Issue Based Studies 

This Plan establishes the principle that detailed planning for 
communities, neighbourhoods, and neighbourhood blocks other 
strategic planning areas is required prior to development.  Such 
planning will typically be undertaken by the Area Municipality and/or 
the County as part of an approved planning program.  In certain 
limited circumstances, at the sole discretion of the County and/or Area 
Municipality, as applicable, sStudies conducted by proponents on 
behalf of property owners may be accepted as a means of front-
ending development, but only where  they study boundaries and 
scope are agreed to through a terms of reference  have been 
approved by the Area Municipality and the County, prior to 
commencement. Any applications made based on such studies shall 
implement the agreed to scope and be to the satisfaction of the 
County and/or Area Municipality, as applicable.   

This Plan identifies areas and situations where further detailed 
planning will be required and establishes the parameters and criteria 
upon which such detailed planning will take place. 

SECONDARY 
PLANS Secondary plans provide detailed policy direction for the development 

of a geographic area consistent with principles established in this Plan.  
Secondary plans are generally required in the following circumstances: 

CIRCUMSTANCES 
WHERE REQUIRED

i.• Pprior to redesignating lands designated Future Urban Growth or 
Residential Reserve, and that are fully contained within an existing 
settlement, for development purposes; 

• prior to redesignating lands designated as Residential Reserve for
development purposes;

• pPrior to the installation, or significant expansion of municipal water
and sewage services and stormwater management facilities
within Serviced Villages which facilitate additional growth 
capacity; and 

• pPrior to the expansion of a settlement boundarythe boundaries of
any designated Village or Serviced Village.

Report No. CP 2025-236 - Attachment 1

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 147 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-2 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

REGARD FOR 
CLASS EA STUDIES 

The secondary planning process may also be used to implement the 
conclusions and recommendations of Class Environmental 
Assessment proceedings. Where this is the case, the County shall 
coordinate Class Environmental Assessment and Planning Act 
processes shall be integrated to the satisfaction of the County and/or 
Area Municipality, responsible for the infrastructure. 

 
AMENDMENT 

REQUIRED County CouncilThe County shall incorporate the policy and schedule 
updates deemed necessary to effectively implement adopted 
Secondary Plans within the Official Plan by amendment after public 
consultation as set out in Section 10.8. 

 
CRITERIA The criteria for Secondary Plans are established in Sections 4.2.2.4, 

4.2.2.6, 7.2.3.2,.2 ,and 7.2.7, and 8.5.3.3 and 9.4.3.3. as applicable. 
 
For greater clarity, where secondary plans are proposing the expansion 
of a settlement boundary they shall also be subject to the requirements 
of 4.2.2.6.1 

 
AREA STUDIES Area Studies may be used to assist in the implementation and 

refinement of this Plan.  Area Studies allow the analysis and conceptual 
planning of a specific geographic area at a level of detail which may not 
require the same range of studies or may have a more focused 
scope/purpose than that of a secondary plan be appropriate for the 
Official Plan. Area Studies may incorporate guideline documents to 
elaborate upon the implementation of policies that have general 
application in the control of development. Area Studies are viewed as 
guideline documents and do not form part of the Official Plan.  

 
CIRCUMSTANCES 

WHERE REQUIRED Examples of areas that may warrant an area study include: 
 
• iIndustrial and commercial areas that are subject to pressures for 

transition to other types of land use; 
 

 • rResidential neighbourhoods that are experiencing pressure for 
development to a higher density residential land use or to other 
types of land use; 

 
 • aAreas subject to the preparation of Community Improvement 

Plans as set out in Section 10.4; 
 

 • aAreas that may be subject to substantial change as a result of a 
proposed major development; 

 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 148 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-3 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

/ • aAreas proposed to be designated as Heritage Conservation 
Districts in accordance with the Ontario Heritage Actwith a high 
concentration of cultural heritage resources or community 
amenities and services, such as main streets and commercial 
areas, health or education facilities, transit hubs, major parks or 
recreation facilities, that have been identified to be in need of 
intensification, interconnection, stabilization, or enhancement; 

 
 • aAreas proposed to be the subject of urban or community design 

guidelines; 
 

 • aAreas intended for improvement to facilitate recreational or 
public use, including trails.  

 
 • aAreas where an Environmental Impact Studywhere additional 

study or management plans may be required to provide more 
specific direction with respect to the restoration and 
enhancement of natural heritage features and areas as set out 
in Section 3.2.6. is required; 

 
 

• aAreas where a study may be required for the identification or 
refinement of natural hazards as set out in Section 3.2.8X 
proposed as Two Zone Flood Plain Policy Areas=; 

 
 

• aAreas proposed for sub-watershed studies in accordance with 
Section 3.2.7.2.1. 

 
STATUS An Area Study will be adopted by a resolution of the Area Municipal 

Council and will be used as a guideline for the review of development 
applications and the planning of public facilities and services for the 
area.  It may also provide the basis for an amendment to the Official 
Plan and/or Zoning By-Law if the recommendations of the study 
suggest that a change or refinement in policies, land use designations 
or zoning regulations is appropriate or warranted.. 

 
PUBLIC 

PARTICIPATION Area Studies may be subject to the public notification procedures as 
outlined in Section 10.8. 

 
ISSUE BASED 
STUDIES Issue based studies will be used in situations where a specific theme 

or topic relates to an issue rather than a geographic area.  Issue based 
studies will be approved by a resolution of County Council or Area 
Municipal Council and may provide the basis for an amendment to the 
Official Plan and/or Zoning By-Law.  Issue based studies may be 
subject to the public notification procedures as outlined in Section 10.8. 

 
10.3.3  Plans of Subdivision and Condominium  

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 149 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-4 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

 
 The process of subdividing land into lots and blocks for various land 

uses is governed by the Planning Act. Oxford County Council is the 
approval authority for plans of subdivision and condominium. 

 
WHERE REQUIRED Where a proposal to divide land for more than five lots (including the 

retained parcel) is made, including the remnant parcel, such 
development shall be by a plan of subdivision or condominium. 
Proposals to divide land into five lots or less, including the remnant 
parcel, may take place by consent to sever as set out in Section 10.3.4. 

 
PUBLIC 
PARTICIATION The County shall consider measures for informing and obtaining the 

views of the public, prescribed persons and public bodies in respect of 
proposed plans of subdivision, in accordance with Section 10.3.8 Public 
Participation measures. 

 
SUBDIVISION 
REVIEW CRITERIA 

County Council and the Area Municipal Councils will evaluate 
applications for plans of subdivision or condominium on the basis of 
based on the requirements of the Planning Act as well as criteria 
including, but not limited to, the following: 

 
CONFORMITY TO 

THE OFFICIAL PLAN  • The plan is consistent with the policies of the Provincial Planning 
Statement and objectives and policies of the Official Plan and any 
applicable Secondary Plan and/or Area Plan. 

 
SERVICING 
CAPACITY 

• There is capacity available in the centralized water and/or 
wastewater facilities. Capacity availability should be confirmed with 
the County at the time of pre-consultation.  

 
 The allocation of capacity shall be in accordance with County 

procedures and standards and Section 5.5.5 of this Plan. In order to 
demonstrate and address servicing capacity, the proposed  
development shall be required to prepare a servicing strategy in 
accordance with servicing strategy criteria of Section 4.2.2.6.1 

 
COMMUNITY 

SERVICES 
AVAILABILITY 

• There is capacity available in the municipal water and sewage 
treatment systems and tThere is suitable provision for roads, water, 
storm and sanitary sewers, waste disposal and , recyclable 
collection, public utilities, fire and police protection, parks, schools, 
and other community facilities. and further, that the provision of 
these services will be financially viable over their lifecycle. 

 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 150 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-5 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

ENVIRONMENTAL 
CONSTRAINTS 

• The plan is designed to effectively accommodate Environmental 
Resources and mitigate environmental constraints in accordance 
with Section 3.2 and human-made constraints in accordance with 
Section 3.3. 

 
NEGATIVE 
EFFECTS • The plan is designed to reduce any negative effect on surrounding 

land uses, the transportation network, or significant natural 
features. 

•  
ACCESS • The plan is designed to ensure adequate and safe vehicle access 

is provided, including emergency vehicle access. No shared 
easements which traverse multiple lots shall be permitted as a 
primary means of obtaining access to a public road, unless 
otherwise required by the authority having jurisdiction over the road. 

 
INTEGRATION • The plan is designed to be integrated with adjacent developments. 

 
TOPOGRAPHY • The plan is designed to be compatible  with the natural features and 

topography of the site and adjacent lands.  Subdivisions proposing 
extensive areas of cut and fill will be discouraged and may require 
the preparation and submission of detailed grading plans and, 
sediment and erosion control plans as part of the plan of subdivision 
or condominium application.. 

 
RENTAL HOUSING 

CONVERSION 
• Proposals to convert rental housing units to condominium 

ownership will be reviewed by the criteria set out Sections 7.2.2.2., 
8.2.2.2, or 9.2.2.2. 

 
RETAINED 
PARCEL  

• The number and configuration of proposed lots and overall design of 
the subdivision does not compromise the long-term use, future 
development, or planned function of the retained parcel, or other 
surrounding lands.  

 
OTHER 

APPLICABLE 
POLICIES  

 

• Proposals shall also comply with all other applicable policies of 
this Plan, including, but not limited to: Section 3.2, Environmental 
Resource Policies, Section 3.3, Cultural Resource Policies and 
Chapter 5 Functional Support Elements 

 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 151 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-6 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

DRAFT PLAN 
APPROVAL As a condition of draft plan approval, County Council will require an 

applicant to satisfy conditions prior to final approval and registration of 
the plan of subdivision or condominium.  The applicant will  be required 
to meet conditions of draft approval within the  specified time period, 
failing which, draft plan approval may lapse.  
 
To provide for the fulfilment of these conditions and for the installation 
of services according to municipal standards, County Council shall 
require an applicant to enter into a subdivision agreement with the Area 
Municipality and, where necessary, the County, prior to final approval 
of the plan. 

 
LAPSING 
 The County shall require that plans of subdivision, or parts thereof, that 

have been approved for 3 years or as prescribed by the Planning Act 
which have had no construction occur or infrastructure installed on-site, 
and do not meet the growth management objectives of this Plan, to no 
longer be a registered plan of subdivision. 

 
REVIEW SUBDIVISION 
CONDITIONS The County may, in consultation with the Province, Area Municipal 

Councils and other external agencies, review draft approved plans of 
subdivision to determine if the draft approval should be maintained, and 
if required, modify the conditions of draft approval or extend draft plan 
approval. 

 
EXTENSION The County may consider requests to extend the lapsing date for a draft 

approved plan of subdivision for an additional period, not generally 
exceeding 2 years, provided that: 
 
• The applicable Area Municipality has been consulted and is in 

support of the proposed extension;  
 

• It has been demonstrated that a concerted effort and progress has 
been made toward satisfying the existing conditions of approval, 
or exceptional circumstances beyond the applicant's control have 
prevented them from registering the draft approved plan, or phase 
thereof; and 

 
• The draft plan is consistent with applicable federal and provincial 

legislation, matters of provincial interest, and the policies of the 
Provincial Planning Statement and this Plan, including growth 
management objectives, in effect at the time of such request.  

 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 152 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-7 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

EXEMPTION FROM 
PART LOT 
CONTROL 

In accordance with the provisions of the Planning Act, County Council 
may pass, or delegate its authority to approve, by-laws to exempt all, 
or parts of registered plans of subdivision from part lot control.  Such 
exemption will only be permitted when no further conditions for 
development are required. 

 
DEEMING In accordance with the provisions of the Planning Act, an Area 

Municipal Council may pass a By-law to deem any plan of subdivision, 
or part thereof, that has been registered for eight years or more, to no 
longer be a registered plan of subdivision. 

 
CONDOMINIUM 
EXEMPTION The County may exempt a plan of condominium from review under the 

Planning Act. Such exemption will only be considered if the Area 
Municipality is satisfied that that no further conditions for development 
are required.  

 
10.3.4  Consents (Severance) 

 
 Under the Planning Act , County Council has delegated the authority to 

give consent to sever land to the Oxford County Land Division 
Committee. 

 
REVIEW CRITERIA The Oxford County Land Division Committee will evaluate applications 

for consents in accordance with the requirements of the Planning Act 
and , but also on the basis of the following criteria:. 

 
SUBDIVISION PLAN 

NOT REQUIRED 
• The Land Division Committee shall be satisfied that a plan of 

subdivision is not necessary for the proper and orderly development 
of land and that the plan of subdivision process is upheld as the 
primary method of lot creation. Where a proposal to divide land for 
more than five lots is made, including the remnant parcel, such 
development shall be by a plan of subdivision or condominium as 
set out in Section 10.3.3. 

 
OFFICIAL PLAN 

AND ZONING BY-
LAW CONFORMITY 

• Any lot(s) to be created would conform to the policies of the 
Provincial Planning Statement and Official Plan and the provisions 
of the Zoning By-Law. 

 
FUTURE 

DEVELOPMENT 
• The granting of the consent application will not prejudice negatively 

impact or limit the planned use and/or future developmentlot 
creation potential of the retained lands, other adjacent lands, or the 
surrounding area. 

 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 153 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-8 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

ACCESS • The proposed lots shall have direct frontage on a permanent public 
road maintained year-round at a reasonable standard of 
construction. and will not require the opening or extension of a 
public road.   

 
• New vehicular access to any road shall be in accordance with the 

requirements of the authority having jurisdiction over the road and  
the applicable policies of Section 5.1 County Transportation Policy. 
The authority having jurisdiction over the road from which vehicular 
access is to be obtained shall be satisfied that there are no traffic 
safety concerns.  

 
• Access requirements for backyard infill shall be in accordance with 

the policies as set out in Chapters 6, 7, 8, and 9 of this Plan. 
 

SERVICING 
AVAILABILITY  The proposed lot(s) will have adequate water supplies and sewage 

services and stormwater management consistent with the 
requirements of this Plan, the Province and the Oxford County 
Board of Health. 

  
• Existing or proposed individual on-site water services and 

individual on-site sewage services are demonstrated to be 
adequate to serve the proposed lot and shall be in accordance 
with the applicable policies of Sections 3.2.7.2, Water Quality and 
Quantity and 5.5, County Servicing Policy.  

 
 

TRAFFIC HAZARDS Access to the proposed lot(s) would not create traffic problems or 
hazards, as identified by the authority with jurisdiction over the road. 

 
PUBLIC NOTICE • Property owners and residents in the vicinity of the proposed lot(s) 

are to receive sufficient notification of the application, pursuant to 
Section 10.8 of the Plan., and any submissions from such parties are 
to be considered. 

 
LAND USE 

DESIGNATION • Any criteria outlined in the policies associated with the land use 
designations that apply to the lands have been addressed. 

 
OTHER 

APPLICABLE 
POLICIES  

 

• Proposals shall also comply with all other applicable policies of this 
Plan, including, but not limited to: Section 3.2, Environmental 
Resource Policies, Section 3.3, Cultural Resource Policies and 
Chapter 5 Functional Support Elements. 

 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 154 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-9 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

LOT ADJUSTMENTS The County Land Division Committee may consider permitting minor 
lot adjustments, provided that it: 
 

• is for a demonstrable legal or technical reason;  
• does not result in the creation of a new lot; and  
• meets the applicable policies and review criteria of this Plan.  

 
Consideration shall also be given to any legal non-complying 
characteristics of the lands which may be aggravated or addressed 
through a proposed lot line adjustment. 

 
CERTIFICATES OF 
CANCELLATION Upon receipt of a request by an owner of a parcel of land that has been 

previously conveyed, the County Land Division Committee has the 
authority to approve or refuse the issuance of a certificate of 
cancellation, which, if approved, will have the effect of the parcel no 
longer to have been conveyed. 

 
CONDITIONS In granting a consent, the County Land Division Committee shall 

require applicants to satisfy conditions, prior to within the timeline 
prescribed under the Planning Act, prior to the issuance of the 
Certificate(s) of Official the stamping of deeds for registration purposes.  
To provide for the fulfillment of conditions, the applicant may be 
required to enter into a severance agreement with the Area Municipality 
and/or where necessary, the County. 

 
10.3.5  Zoning By-Laws and Non-Conforming Uses 

 
 

 The zoning by-law is one of the primary means of implementing the 
policies of this Plan. The zoning by-law defines the uses permitted in 
specific locations within a municipality and the specific development 
standards relating to those uses.  Non-conforming uses are legally 
established uses that do not conform to the current land use 
designations, policies, requirements, or zones of the Official Plan 
and/or zoning by-law. 

 
LONG-TERM 
CONFORMITY It is the intent of this Plan that the long-term use of land conform with 

the objectives and policies of this Plan.  Upon adoption of this Plan, and 
any subsequent amendments thereto, the zoning by-laws of the Area 
Municipalities shall be brought into conformity with the policies of this 
Plan.  It is the intent of this Plan that non-conforming uses will convert, 
relocate, or redevelop over time so that the subject land may be used 
in conformity with the policies of this Plan. 

 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 155 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-10 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

RECOGNITION OF 
NON-CONFORMING 
USES IN ZONING 
BY-LAW 

Notwithstanding the above, a legally established land use or a use 
permitted by existing zoning which does not conform to this Plan may 
be recognized as a permitted use in the zoning by-law where the Area 
Municipal Council is of the opinion that: 

 
HAZARDOUS 

SUBSTANCES The use, or existing zoning, does not involve hazardous activities or 
substances,. which would constitute a danger to surrounding uses 
and/or persons by virtue of their hazardous nature 

 
POLLUTION The legally established or permitted use or existing zoning, does not 

contribute to air, water or land pollution problems. 
 

COMPATIBILITY The legally established or permitted use or existing zoning, can 
achieve, or has achieved, an acceptable measure of compatibility with 
adjacent uses, is not associated with any building deterioration or lack 
of property maintenance, does not generate traffic that threatens the 
safety of the surrounding area, and does not interfere with the 
development of conforming uses in the surrounding area. 

 
MAINTENANCE OF 

EXISTING ROLE The long-term continuation and any potential expansion of the use or 
change in use is in compliance with existing zoning and will not detract 
from the general intent of the Official Plan for the long-term use of the 
lands. 

 
AMENDMENTS Recognition of the legally established or permitted use , or existing 

zoning in the zoning by-law, is not likely to result in proposals to amend 
the Plan to allow similar types of uses. 

 
EXPANSION OR 
MINOR CHANGE IN 
USE OF EXISTING 
RECOGNIZED USES 

For uses recognized by existing zoning, but that do not conform to this 
Plan, Area Municipal Councils may permit minor expansion or minor 
change in use and the Land Division Committee may consider the 
granting of consents for existing uses to permit the expansion of the 
use or readjustment of property boundaries provided that: 

 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 156 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-11 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

SERVICES Existing or proposed services including water supply, sewage facilities, 
stormwater management and road access are adequate or will be 
made adequate to serve the proposed development to the satisfaction 
of the Area Municipal Council and/or County Council.  
 
Individual Oon-site sewage services and individual on-site water 
facilities are demonstrated to be adequate for the proposed 
development and shall be in accordance with satisfy the applicable 
requirements of the County and the Board of Health and the policies of 
Section 3.2.7.2, Water Quality and Quantity, Environmental Resource 
Policies and 5.5, County Servicing PolicyChapter 4, Growth 
Management relating to water quality and quantity, as appropriate. 

 
PARKING AND 

LOADING 
Parking and loading facilities are adequate or will be made adequate to 
serve the proposed development to the satisfaction of the Area 
Municipal Council. 

 
COMPATIBILITY The proposal will be compatible with existing land uses in the vicinity in 

terms of noise, odour, emissions, vehicular traffic, and visual intrusion 
and may be required to include measures that reduce nuisances, 
protect adjacent properties, and improve compatibility of the use with 
the surrounding area.  Proposals may be subject to site plan control to 
ensure land use compatibility. 
The proposed use, scale and location shall be reviewed to ensure that 
potential compatibility issues with respect to traffic, vibration, lighting, 
visual intrusions, noise, dust, odour and other potential off-site 
impacts can be prevented or effectively mitigated. 
 
Further, the proposed use shall be appropriately designed, buffered 
and/or separated from nearby residential and other sensitive land 
uses to prevent, or acceptably mitigate, potential impacts and to 
minimize risk to public health and safety.  

All applicable provincial and municipal requirements regarding, 
emissions, noise, odour, nuisance, compatibility, Minimum Distance 
Separation Formulae, public health and safety, water and wastewater 
standards shall be addressed, including receipt of all applicable 
environmental approvals. 
 
Proposals may be subject to site specific zoning provisions and site 
plan approval that incorporate any restrictions or requirements 
necessary to implement this policy.  

 
ENVIRONMENT Proposals shall comply with the policies of Section 3.2, Environmental 

Resource Policies. 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 157 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-12 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

 
CONDITIONS OF 
APPROVAL 
 

 

The Land Division Committee may attach such conditions as it deems 
appropriate to the approval of a development application associated 
with an existing recognized use. 

 
 

EXTENSION , 
ENLARGEMENT, 
CHANGE OF USE 
FOR LEGAL NON-
CONFORMING 
USES 

A Committee of Adjustment may permit the extension or enlargement 
or change of use of  a legally established land use which does not 
conform to this Plan and the zoning by-law of the Area Municipality. In 
evaluating applications, the Committee shall consider the following 
criteria:  

 
 • tThe use has been continuous from the day the zoning by-law 

came into effect and forward ; 
 

 • tThere will be no extension  of the site or building beyond the 
limits of the land owned and used from the effective date ; 

 
 • pPermission for the extension, enlargement or change in the 

non-conforming use is in keeping with the general intent of the 
Official Plan and will not create new, or intensify existing, 
aggravate those aspects of the use that do not conform to the 
Official Plan and zoning by-law; 

 
 • tThat existing municipal services such as water, sewers, 

stormwater management facilities and roads will be adequate; 
 

 • tThat there are adequate parking and loading facilities to 
accommodate the proposed use; 

 
 • tThat the proposed extension, enlargement or change in use will 

not adversely affect desirable development in adjacent areas 
which is in conformity with the Official Plan and zoning by-law;  

 
 • tThat the proposed extension, enlargement or change in use 

would include measures that will reduce nuisances, protect 
adjacent properties, and improve the compatibility of the use 
with the surrounding area, and 

  
 • tThat the extension, enlargement or change in use is necessary 

to avoid undue hardship to the applicant, provided that all other 
criteria have been met, there are no negative effects on 
environmental resources identified in Section 3.2 and the 
proposed extension, enlargement, or change in use is more 
compatible than the existing use relative to the planned use of 
the property and surrounding lands as set out in the relevant 
Official Plan policies. 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 158 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-13 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

 
CONDITIONS OF 
APPROVAL The Committee of Adjustment may attach such conditions as it deems 

appropriate to the approval of an application within its jurisdiction to 
extend, enlarge, or change a legal non-conforming use. 

 
COUNTY ZONING 
BY-LAWS County Council may pass zoning by-laws in accordance with the 

Planning Act. If there is a conflict between a by-law passed by the 
County and a by-law passed by an Area Municipality, the by-law of the 
County prevails. 

 
DELEGATED 
AUTHORITY In accordance with the provisions of the Planning Act and Section 

10.5.1, County and/or Area Municipal Councils may delegate, by By-
law, their its approval authority to approve zoning by-laws which are 
minor in nature 

 
 

10.3.6  Minor Variances 
 

  
The Planning Act stipulates that each Area Municipal Council is 
deemed to be a Committee of Adjustment to deal with the following 
matters: 

 
NON-CONFORMING 
USES 

 
• aApplications to allow the extension or enlargement of a legal 

non-conforming use; 
 
• aApplications to allow a change in the use of buildings or land 

from a legal non-conforming use to a more compatible non-
conforming use. 

 
CONFORMING 
USES • aApplications to allow minor deviations from the provisions of 

the zoning by-law or any other by-law passed under Sections 34 
or 38 of the Planning Act that implements the Official Plan; and 

 
• aApplications to allow uses which are similar and conform to 

uses permitted in the zoning by-law, where such uses are 
defined in general terms in the zoning by-law. 

 
CRITERIA FOR 
REVIEWING 
APPLICATIONS 

The Committee of Adjustment, when considering an application for 
minor variance to the zoning by-law, or any other by-law passed under 
Sections 34 or 38 of the Planning Act that implements the Official Plan, 
shall take into account the provisions of the Planning Act and the 
following: 

 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 159 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-14 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

 • tThe general intent and purpose objectives and policies of the 
Official Plan can be metwould be maintained if the minor 
variance is granted; 

 
 • tThe request for variance constitutes a minor departure from the 

performance standards of the zoning by-law; 
 

 • tThe general intent and purpose of the zoning by-law would be 
maintained; and 

 
 • wWhether the variance is desirable for the appropriate 

development of use of the land, building, or structure. 
 

DETERMINING 
DESIRABILITY In addition to the considerations outlined above determining whether 

the variance is desirable for the appropriate development of the land, 
the Committee of Adjustment in determining whether the variance is 
desirable shall take into account the following: 

 
 • wWhether constraints and/or restrictions to meeting the 

requirements of the zoning by-law due to the physical or inherent 
conditions of the site are involved;physical or inherent conditions 
of the site make compliance with the provisions of the zoning by-
law unreasonable to satisfy; 

 
 • wWhether alternative designs of the proposal which would be in 

conformity comply with the relevant by-law are clearly not 
feasible or appropriate for the site, or would create additional 
impacts on adjacent land uses or the amenity of the area; 

 
 • tThe concerns of the effect potential impacts on adjacent and/or 

nearby ownersland uses, residents and the community in 
general have been considered and deemed acceptable or 
appropriately mitigated; 

 
 • tThe approval of the minor variance is based on the specific 

proposal and/or site conditions and would not create the 
expectation of, or assumed precedent for, a similar variance 
being appropriate and supportable for a different proposal and/or 
sitean undesirable precedent; 

 
 • that compliance with the standards of the relevant by-law would be 

unreasonable or impossible and would impose undue hardship on 
the applicant. 

 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 160 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-15 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

EXTENSION OR 
ENLARGEMENT 
FOR LEGAL NON-
CONFORMING 
USES 

For greater clarity, where the variance is to facilitate the extension or 
enlargement of a legal non-conforming use the applicable criteria under 
10.3.5. shall apply. 

 
OTHER 
APPLICABLE 
CRITERIA 

Proposals shall also comply with any other applicable criteria 
established by the County and/or Area Municipality through a By-Law 
enacted in accordance with Section 45 of the Planning Act.  

 
CONDITIONS The Committee of Adjustment may attach such conditions as it deems 

appropriate to the approval of an application for minor variance. 
 

10.3.7  Holding Zones 
 

 
 
 
 
PURPOSE 

 
County Council or the Area Municipal Councils, may pass a Holding 
Zone by-law and use the holding (H) symbol in conjunction with any 
zone in the zoning by-law.  The holding (H) symbol specifies that the 
development of these lands is considered premature or inappropriate 
for immediate development. 

 
CRITERIA FOR 
APPLYING 
HOLDING ZONES 

County Council or the Area Municipal Council may apply a holding (H) 
symbol in conjunction with the zoning by-law implementing any land 
use designation or performance category of this Plan in one or more of 
the following circumstances: 

 
DRY INDUSTRY • Where industrial or commercial development on private or partial 

services is proposed in the Serviced Villages or Large Urban 
Centres in accordance with Sections 4.2.2.4 or 4.2.2.5. 

 
SERVICES AND 

INFRASTRUCTURE • Where existing infrastructure services and facilities such as 
sanitary sewers, stormwater management facilities, water 
supply, roads, parks, schools, and community support services 
have been determined to have insufficient capacity to serve the 
proposed development, the holding zone can be used to prevent 
the development from proceeding until necessary improvements 
are made. 

 
SUPPORTING 

STUDIES 
• Where the submission and acceptance of secondary plans, area 

plans  or issue- based studies as required by this Plan is required 
prior to development, or where other supporting studies such as 
traffic impact analysis or market analysis are required. 

 
NATURAL 

FEATURES • To ensure that natural areas or specific natural features are 
protected and the proposed development is consistent with the 
policies of Section 3.2. 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 161 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-16 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

 
HAZARDS • To ensure that potential hazards or constraints are effectively 

mitigated consistent with the policies of Section 3.2, prior to 
development. 

 
CONTAMINATION • To ensure that potential environmental contamination isare 

effectively assessed and mitigated, as required by policies of 
Section 3.3, prior to development. 

 
 

NATURAL 
RESOURCES 

• To ensure that the location of natural resources such as mineral 
aggregates is identified in the Zoning By-Law of the Area 
Municipality. 

 
PHASING • Where it is necessary to require the phasing of an overall 

development or extraction activity in order to ensure logical and 
orderly development, use of land and/or infrastructure use, to 
mitigate impacts, or to secure commitments consistent with the 
policies of this Plan. 

 
CONSOLIDATION 

OF LAND • Where development is contingent upon other related matters 
occurring first, such as the consolidation of land ownership to 
ensure orderly development and phasing of the project or to 
secure funding agreements on necessary infrastructure or 
services. 

 
TRANSPORTATION 

CAPACITY • Where transportation facilities have inadequate capacity and/or 
would be of an inappropriate function relative to the proposed 
land use and anticipated type and volume of traffic generated. 

 
AFFORDABLE 

HOUSING • In order to achieve the construction and desirable distribution of 
affordable housing throughout a development. 

 
AREA OF 
APPLICATION Holding provisions may be applied municipality wide, to portions of the 

municipality such as servicing catchment areas, drainage sheds or 
flood plains, as well as on a site specific basis. 

 
REMOVAL OF THE 
(H) SYMBOL Conditions thatwhich must be satisfied prior to the removal of the 

holding (H) symbol may include, but are not limited to, appropriate 
financial and servicing requirements of the municipality, completion and 
approval of studies, and the signing of necessary agreements 
including, but not limited to, those under the provisions of the Planning 
Act. 

 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 162 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-17 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

 The zoning by-law will be amended to remove the holding (H) symbol 
when the County Council or the Area Municipality Council, or where or 
a delegated to a municipal official under Section 10.5.1, determines that 
the conditions as set out in this Plan and the Holding Zone By-Law have 
been met. 

 
INTERIM USES The By-Law may specify iInterim uses that are permitted while the 

holding provision is in place, which may shall include: 
 

 • eExisting uses, including minor additions and accessory 
buildings; and 

 
 • oOther uses deemed appropriate by County Council or the Area 

Council which are in conformity with the Official Plan and which 
do not adversely affect the future development potential of the 
lands. 

 
 The holding (H) symbol shall not apply to accessory buildings or minor 

building additions. 
 

10.3.9  Temporary Use 
 

 
 
 
 
TEMPORARY USE 
PROVISIONS 

 
Notwithstanding the requirement for zoning by-laws to comply with the 
Official Plan, County Council recognizes that the Official Plan 
represents the long-term direction to the development of the 
municipality.  As such, the Area Municipal Council may permit uses for 
specific temporary periods, up to a maximum of three years, as set out 
in the Planning Act, which would otherwise not conform to the Official 
Plan and/or the comprehensive Area Municipal zoning by-law, subject 
to re-application at 3-year intervals thereafter.   
 
Such uses may be permitted upon individual application and careful 
consideration by the Area Municipal Council of the need and 
appropriateness of a temporary use by-law and to ensure that the 
objectives and policy direction of the Official Plan are not adversely 
affected by the temporary use.  The Area Municipal Council shall also 
take into consideration the following matters: 

 
CRITERIA 

• cCompatibility of the proposed use with surrounding land uses; 
 

 • aAny requirement for temporary buildings or structures in 
association with the proposed use; 

 
 • aAny requirement for temporary connection to municipal 

services and utilities; 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 163 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-18 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

 
 • tThe potential impact of the proposed use on transportation 

facilities and traffic in the immediate area; 
 

 • aAccess requirements for the proposed use; and 
 

 • pParking required for the proposed use, and the ability to provide 
adequate parking on site. 

 
EXTENSION The Area Municipal Council may extend a temporary use by-law 

beyond the three year time period, as set out in the Planning Act, 
provided such extension does not exceed a three year time period and 
does not jeopardize the long-term development intentions for the 
subject lands as specified in the Official Plan. Area Municipal Council 
may delegate approval authority for such extensions to an Municipal 
official, in accordance with Section 10.5.1 of this Plan.  

 
EXPIRY Upon the expiry of the temporary use by-law, uses which may have 

been permitted by that temporary use by-law shall cease to exist, shall 
not be considered as legal non-conforming uses, and therefore shall be 
removed.  

 
GARDEN SUITES 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AMENDMENT NO. 285 

Area Municipalities may permit a garden suite on a farm unit or on a 
non-farm rural residential lot in the Agricultural Reserve, Open Space 
or Future Urban Growth designations, on a residential lot in the Rural 
Cluster or Village designations, or in Low Density Residential 
designations in Serviced Villages and Large Urban Centres. 

 
OCCUPANTS 
 
AMENDMENT NO. 285 

Garden Suites are intended to provide temporary housing for specified 
occupant(s), which shall be limited to: 

 
AMENDMENT NO. 285 • tThe parents or grandparents of a property owner or their 

spouse, or the child or grandchild of the property owner; 
AMENDMENT NO. 285  

• aA property owner provided that the principal dwelling is 
occupied by their parents, grandparents, child or grandchild. 

 
ZONING 
AMENDMENT 
REQUIRED 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AMENDMENT NO. 285 

Prior to permitting the construction of a garden suite, an amendment to 
the Zoning By-Law under Section 39.1 of the Planning Act, which 
relates to temporary use by-laws, will be required. The temporary use 
by-law may remain in effect for a maximum of 20 years. Extension(s) 
may be granted by the Area Municipality for up to three-years, subject 
to re-application and approval of an amendment to the Zoning By-law. 
The zoning amendment must satisfy the following criteria: 

 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 164 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-19 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

SERVICING 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AMENDMENT NO. 285 

The garden suite should generally use the existing sanitary sewage 
disposal, water supply and electrical services of the principal dwelling 
existing on the lot where the garden suite is proposed to be located.  
Prior to the zoning amendment, approvals shall be obtained from the 
authorities responsible for the various services to ensure that the 
existing servicing systems are adequate for shared use. In situations 
where the approval authority indicates that one or more of the services 
are not adequate for shared use, separate services will be required, 
provided these services can be accommodated on the subject property 
to the satisfaction of the approval authority. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

AMENDMENT NO. 285 

In the rural areas, Rural Clusters and Villages, it must be demonstrated 
that individual on-site water supply and sewage services are adequate 
to serve the proposed use, in accordance with the applicable policies 
of Section 3.3.2.7.2, Water Quality and Quantity and 5.5, County 
Servicing Policy. 

 
COMPATIBILITY The proposal is compatible with the surrounding area and, if applicable, 

be able to satisfy the Minimum Distance Separation Formula I or not 
further reduce an existing insufficient setback relative to MDS I for 
adjacent livestock operations. Within the Serviced Village and large 
Urban Centres, the proposal should be on a large lot greater than 929 
sq. m. (10,000 sq. ft.) in area on full municipal services.  

 
SUITABILITY The lot is suitable for an additional temporary dwelling unit with respect 

to lot area, lot coverage, yard setbacks, and setback from a public road 
allowance.    

 
BUFFERING The implementing Zoning By-Law may contain additional measures to 

ensure minimal disruption to adjacent land uses, such as the provision 
of grass strips, the planting of trees and shrubs or the erection of a 
fence. 

 
ACCESS The proposed garden suite will generally use the existing access to a 

permanent public road of reasonable construction maintained year 
round. 

 
LOCATION Generally, the garden suite will not be located to the front of the 

principal dwelling on the lot, although Area Municipal Council may give 
consideration to such siting on a site specific basis. 

 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 165 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-20 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

AGREEMENT The owner of the subject property shall be required to enter into an 
occupancy agreement with the Area Municipal Council, specifying the 
matters related to the temporary use of the garden suite as Area 
Municipal Council considers necessary, including, the installation, 
maintenance and removal of the garden suite; the period of occupancy 
of the garden suite by any of the persons named in the agreement; and 
the monetary or other form of security that Area Municipal Council may 
require for actual or potential costs to the municipality related to the 
garden suite. 

 
NO SEVERANCE Garden suites are intended to be temporary in nature and as such 

consent to sever a surplus garden suite will not be permitted by the 
Oxford County Land Division Committee.  

 
REMOVAL OF 
GARDEN SUITE When the garden suite is no longer required for the original use 

intended, it shall be removed from the lot and the temporary use by-law 
shall be allowed to lapse. 

 
10.3.10 Community Planning Permits Area 

 
 
 
 
PROVISIONS 
FOR COMMUNITY 
PLANNING PERMIT 
AREA(S) 

 
As an alternative to traditional zoning by-law provisions, the County 
and/or Area Municipalities may consider implementing the objectives of 
the Official Plan through a Community Planning Permit System.  
 
A Community Planning Permit System can potentially help to facilitate, 
streamline, and/or expedite development to support the achievement 
of certain policy goals or objectives (e.g. residential intensification). 
Such a system could be established for the entire County or Area 
Municipality, or for specific area(s) within the County or Area 
Municipality, as deemed appropriate. 
 
Prior to the passing of a Community Planning Permit System by-law by 
the County, or an Area Municipality, an amendment to this Plan is 
required to: 
 
• Identify the proposed community planning permit system area(s); 
• Set out the scope of any authority that may be delegated and any 

limitations on the delegation; 
• Contain a statement of the goals, objectives and policies for the 

community planning permit system proposed for the area;  
• Set out the types of criteria that may be included in the community 

planning permit by-law for determining whether a development 
or use of land may be permitted; and, 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 166 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-21 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

• Set out the types of conditions that may be included in the 
Community Planning Permit by-law, in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of the Planning Act. 

  
 
 

 
 
 
 
BONUS ZONING 
PROVISIONS 

10.3.10 Bonus Zoning 
 
Under the provisions of the Planning Act, a municipality may include in 
its Zoning By-Law regulations that permit increases to the height and 
density limits applicable to a proposed development in return for the 
provision of such facilities, services, or matters as set out in the By-
Law. This practice, commonly referred to as bonus zoning, is 
considered to be an appropriate means of assisting in the 
implementation of this Plan. 

 
PRINCIPLE The facilities, services or matters that would be provided in 

consideration of height or density bonus should be reasonable, in terms 
of the cost/benefit implications for both the municipality and the 
developer and must result in a benefit to the general public and/or an 
enhancement of the design or amenities of a development to the extent 
that a greater density or height is warranted.  Also, the height and 
density bonuses received should not result in a scale of development 
that is incompatible with adjacent uses or exceeds the capacity of 
available municipal services. 

 
CIRCUMSTANCES 
APPLICABLE Bonus zoning is applied to encourage social amenities and design 

features resulting in a public benefit which cannot be obtained through 
the normal development process.  Area Councils may pass by-laws 
providing for bonusing to achieve the following objectives: 

 
 • to support the provision of the development of affordable 

housing as provided for in this Plan; 
 

 • to encourage aesthetically attractive development through the 
provision of enhanced landscaped open space and architectural 
review relating to building design materials and colours; 

 
 • to support the provision of, and improved access to, public open 

space, supplementary to any parkland dedication requirements; 
 

 • to support the provision of day care facilities; 
 

 • to support the preservation of structures and/or districts 
identified as architecturally and/or historically significant by the 
municipality; 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 167 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-22 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

 
 • to support innovative and environmentally sensitive 

development which incorporates and protects environmental 
features, promotes energy conservation, encourages 
construction techniques to reduce waste and promote water 
conservation; 

 
 • to support the provision of amenities accessible and beneficial 

to the public, such as landscaped areas, public art and cultural 
features and transit shelters.  

 
IMPLEMENTATION The zoning by-law may contain bonus zoning provisions for all forms of 

development.  These provisions will describe the facilities, services, or 
matters that qualify for the density bonus provisions and the extent of 
the height and density increases that may be available. 

 
AGREEMENTS As a condition of the application of bonus zoning provisions to a 

proposed development, the owner of the subject land will be required 
to enter into an agreement with the Area Municipality to be registered 
against the title to the land.  The agreement will set out  the facilities, 
services, or matters that are to be provided, the timing of their provision, 
and the height or density bonus to be given. 

 
10.3.11 Site Plan Control 

 
DESCRIPTION Site plan control is a mechanism used to achieve appropriate siting and 

massing of a development on a site and to ensure safety, attractiveness 
and compatibility of a development with the surrounding area.  It is also 
used by the municipality to secure land for road widenings. 

 
APPLICATION It is the intent of this Plan that all forms of development or 

redevelopment within the land use designations established in this 
Plan, with the exception of mineral aggregate and oil and gas extraction 
and gypsum mining, may be subject to site plan control. 

 
 For the purposes of site plan control, development or redevelopment 

shall be defined as the construction, erection, or placing of one or more 
buildings or structures or three or more travel trailers or mobile homes 
on land, or the making of an addition or alteration to a building or 
structure that has the effect of substantially increasing its size or 
usability, or the laying out and establishment of a commercial parking 
lot.  The above noted definition of development shall not include the 
placement of a portable classroom on a school site of a district school 
board, if such school site was in existence on January 1, 2007 and any 
other uses that may be prescribed under the Planning Act as being 
exempted from the definition of 'development'. 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 168 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-23 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

 
 The Area Municipal Council may exempt certain additional classes of 

development from site plan control through the site plan control by-law 
passed in accordance with the Planning Act. 

 
DELEGATION As required by the Planning Act, Area Municipal Council shall delegate 

the approval authority for site plan applications to Municipal Officials as 
set out in Section 10.5.1. 

 
APPROVAL OF SITE 
PLANS Where the Area Municipal Council has passed a site plan control by-

law, plans showing all buildings and structures to be erected and all 
facilities and works, including facilities designed to have regard for 
accessibility for persons with disabilities, to be provided in conjunction 
with the development will be required consistent with the provisions of 
the Planning Act.  Drawings, showing plan, elevation and cross-section 
views may be required for all buildings to be erected including all 
buildings to be used for residential purposes in accordance with the 
Planning Act, regardless of the number of units within the site plan 
control area. 

 
 Such drawings shall be sufficient to display the massing and conceptual 

design of the proposed building, the relationship of the proposed 
building to adjacent buildings, streets and exterior areas and the 
provision of interior walkways, stairs elevators and escalators to which 
the public have access from streets, open spaces and interior 
walkways.  

 
 Where such matters are addressed in Area Municipal Site Plan Control 

By-Laws, such drawings shall also be sufficient to display the following: 
 

 • matters relating to urban design, including without limitation the 
character, scale, appearance and design features of buildings, and 
their sustainable design; 

 
 • sSustainable design elements such as trees, shrubs, hedges, 

plantings or other ground cover, permeable paving materials, street 
furniture, curb ramps, waste and recycling containers and bicycle 
parking facilities on any adjoining road under the jurisdiction of the 
County or Area Municipality. 

 
DESIGN POLICIES Where this Plan establishes site and urban design criteria for specific 

types of development, the Area Municipal Council will be satisfied that 
such policies have been addressed prior to approving site plans. 

 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 169 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-24 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

 In addition, County Council or Area Municipal Council may adopt site 
and/or urban design guidelines for various forms of development as a 
means of evaluating matters relating to detailed site and/or urban 
design through the site plan process.  Where such guidelines have 
been adopted, they shall be implemented through the Area Municipal 
Site Plan Control By-Law or Area Municipal Zoning By-Law. 

 
ROAD WIDENINGS Widenings of public roads shall be required as a condition of site plan 

approval at the discretion of the authority having jurisdiction over the 
road for all development within the site plan control area consistent with 
the policies of Sections 5.1.2, 7.6.6, 8.7.2 and 9.6.2 to this Plan. 
 

 
SERVICING 
CAPACITY 
 
 

Development proponents are strongly advised to confirm potential 
availability of servicing capacity for a proposed development with the 
County at the pre-consultation stage.  
 
The formal allocation of capacity shall be in accordance with applicable 
County procedures and standards and Section 5.5.5 of this Plan.  

 
OTHER 
APPLICABLE 
POLICIES   

Proposals should also comply with all other applicable policies of this 
Plan, including, but not limited to: Section 3.2, Environmental Resource 
Policies, Section 3.3, Cultural Resource Policies and Section 5.5, 
Functional Support Elements. 

 
LAPSING 
 Where County Council or Area Municipality Council have authorized an 

officer, employee or agent of the municipality to approve plans, those 
persons may also identify a time period beyond which the approval of 
such plans and drawings will lapse and no longer be approved. The 
time period identified shall be in accordance with the Planning Act.  
Notice shall be provided to the applicant or owner in accordance with 
the Planning Act. 

 
EXEMPTIONS 
 The approval shall not lapse if, before it has lapsed, a permit is issued 

under section 8 of the Building Code Act, 1992 to implement the site 
plan approval or as class of development as regulated by the Planning 
Act. 

 
PUBLIC 
NOTIFICATION To assist in encouraging the integration of new development with 

adjacent land uses, the Area Council may require public notification and 
a public meeting at the site plan approval stage in connection with: 

 
 • multiple residential infill projects; 

 
 • commercial or mixed-use projects in a Central Area or Village Core 

designations; 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 170 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-25 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

 
 • high density residential projects within and around a Central Area 

designation; 
 

 • proposals for new development within or contiguous to an 
Environmental Protection Area or a Provincially Significant Natural 
Feature; 

 
 • proposals where bonus zoning may be applied to permit increases 

in height and density, according to the policies of Section 10.3.10; 
 

 • proposals for new development in Heritage Conservation Districts 
established in accordance with the Ontario Heritage Act; 

 
 • proposals for new Regional Commercial Nodes or large Service 

Commercial developments or the expansion of existing Regional  
Commercial Nodes; 

 
 • proposals where holding provisions in the zoning by-law stipulate 

that public notification and public meetings will be required at the 
site plan approval stage; and 

 
 • other situations where the location, massing, and conceptual design 

of new development may significantly affect the character of the 
surrounding area. 

 
10.5 Planning and Development Approval Process  

 
INTRODUCTION The County is responsible for conducting county-wide planning and for 

ensuring that land use decisions are in conformity with this Plan.  In 
addition to this role, the County has the authority to approve plans of 
subdivision and condominium. Similarly, the Area Municipalities are the 
approval authority for their respective zoning by-laws and related 
applications for minor variance and site plan approval.  In these roles, 
the County and Area Municipalities will endeavour to make the 
development approval process efficient and timely through the following 
measures, where appropriate. 
 

 
10.5.1 Delegation of Approval Authority 

 
COUNTY 
DELEGATION County Council, in accordance with the regulations of the Planning Act, 

may delegate by By-law its approval authority for following planning 
matters to a standing committee or County officials: 

 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 171 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-26 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

PLANS OF SUBDIVISIONS 
APPROVALS AND 

CONSENTS  

• The County’s authority to approve draft plans of subdivision and 
condominium (including Vacant Land Condominium), or any aspect 
thereof, may be delegated to a County official. Such delegated 
approval authority may include, but is not limited to, red line 
revisions, extension of approval, exemption from condominium 
approvals, and changes to the conditions of draft plan approval, in 
accordance with Section 10.3.3. of this Plan. 
 
As set out in Section 10.3.4, the Oxford County Land Division 
Committee has the delegated authority for the approval of 
consents.  

 
LOCAL 
DELEGATION 
 
 

County Council shall encourage Area Municipal Councils to consider 
delegating local approval authority for planning matters to County or 
Area municipal officials, in accordance the Planning Act, where 
appropriate.  

 
 

SITE PLAN CONTROL 
 

As required by the Planning Act, Area Municipal Councils must delegate 
their approval authority with respect to Site Plan Control to County or Area 
Municipal officials.  

 
MINOR ZONING 
AMENDMENTS 

Area Municipal Councils may delegate their approval authority for Minor 
Zoning By-law Amendments to a County or Area Municipal official.  
 
A Minor Zoning By-law Amendment may include any or all of the 
following circumstances: 
 

• To remove an existing Holding Provision where the conditions 
have been satisfied, subject to the policies of Section 10.3.7;  

 To authorize a temporary use or grant an extension to an 
existing temporary use, including renewal of the time period that 
a garden suite is permitted to remain on the lot;  

• To remove existing site-specific zoning provisions where the 
effect would be to revert to the parent zoning in force and effect; 
and, . 

• To implement zoning as a result of an approved consent for a 
residence surplus to a farm operation, in accordance with the 
policies of 3.1.5.3 and including:  

a. To prohibit any new dwelling, including additional 
residential units, on  the resulting agricultural parcel, and 

b. To recognize a proposed residential use, where the 
proposed retained lot meets the provisions of the 
applicable rural residential zone. 

 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 172 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-27 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

NOTICE The officer, employee, or agent of the Municipality  who has been 
delegated the authority to approve minor zoning by law amendments 
shall follow the applicable notice and public meeting requirements of 
the Planning Act and section 10.8 of this Plan. 

 
LIMITATIONS TO 
DELEGATED 
AUTHORITY 

Where authority to approve an application under the Planning Acy has 
been delegated by County Council or Area Municipal Council to an 
officer, employee, or agent of the County or Area Municipality, as 
applicable, that shall not include the authority to refuse an application. 

 
DEVELOPMENT 
REQUIREMENTS 
AND CONDITIONS 

Where differences of opinion arise in relation to the implementation of 
the policies of this Plan through requirements for information or 
studies prior to development approvals or in relation to conditions of 
development approval, the Area Council and/or County Council, may 
upon request by interested parties, review the proposed requirement 
or condition and may waive, reduce the scope or content, or uphold 
the requirement or condition.  This policy shall not apply when such 
requirements or conditions are mandated by Provincial policy or 
legislation. 

 
10.5.2 Pre-Consultation 

 
PRE-
CONSULTATION It is recommended that proponents consult with the applicable approval 

authority prior to submitting a formal application for development to, at 
minimum, confirm the application(s), fees, and accompanying studies 
and other information that will be required by the County and/or Area 
Municipality to be considered a complete application(s), in accordance 
with Section 10.5.3 of this Plan. 
 

 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 173 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-28 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

PURPOSE OF PRE-
CONSULTATION The purpose of pre-consultation is to provide an opportunity for the 

municipality and proponent to review and discuss a draft development 
proposal in advance of the submission of formal application(s). 
Although optional, pre-consultation can be critical for identifying the 
need for, and scope of, other information and materials (i.e. beyond just 
the planning application and applicable fee) that will be required by the 
County and/or, Area Municipality to allow for comprehensive and timely 
review and consideration of the formal development application(s), 
when they are submitted.  
 
Pre-consultation can also assist in: 
 

• Providing proponents with clarity and greater certainty with 
respect to what applications, supporting studies/documents, 
and applicable fees will be required for the County/Area 
Municipality and review agencies to consider the proposed 
development and for the required application(s) to be deemed 
complete; 
 

• Providing proponents with initial feedback and suggestions on 
the proposed development concept and planning approach and 
help to identify and address potential issues and/or concerns in 
advance (i.e. to avoid costly delays and changes to the design 
and supporting technical studies later in the process); and 

 
• Streamlining the review process and submission requirements, 

while still eEnsuring approval authorities and review agencies 
have the information necessary to make timely and informed 
land use planning decisions. 

 
    10.5.3 Complete Submission Requirements 

 
SUPPORT 
EFFICIENT 
PROCESS 

Timely and effective land use planning processes and decisions require 
having all relevant information pertaining to a particular planning 
application available as early as possible in the application process.  
 
In practice, a planning application may require multiple reports, studies 
and plans to allow for appropriate consideration and assessment of its 
planning merits. Therefore, requiring all relevant information and 
material to be provided at the time a planning application is submitted 
is essential for: 
 

• enabling the County and/or Area Municipalities to make well-
informed decisions in a timely manner, 

• providing transparency by ensuring the public and other 
stakeholders have access to key information early in the 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 174 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-29 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

process; and,  
• avoiding unnecessary delays and identifying and resolving 

potential issues and concerns early in the process. 
 

REQUIREMENTS 
FOR COMPLETE 
APPLICATIONS 

The County or Area Municipality, as applicable, shall only accept and 
process applications for Official Plan Amendment, Zoning By-law 
Amendment, Draft Plan of Subdivision and Condominium and Site Plan 
Approval, if they have deemed them to be complete. 
 
Such applications shall not be deemed complete and the period in 
which the County or Area Municipality is required to make a decision 
shall not commence, unless the County and/or Area Municipality is 
satisfied that:  
 
a) it satisfies all applicable requirements of the Planning Act, including 
the applicable regulations, and any other provincial requirements;  
 
b) it satisfies all requirements set out in this Plan;   
 
c) it includes a completed Application Form; 
 
d) a draft of the proposed plan, including the proposed text and all 
proposed schedules where applicable; 
 
e) electronic submission of all documents is in compliance with 
applicable Provincial accessibility regulations; and  
 
f) the applicable application fee(s) have been received; and 
 
g) it is accompanied by any other information and materials identified 
by the County and/or Area Municipality as being required, in 
accordance with 10.5.3.1. below. 

 
INFORMATION 
AVAILABLE FOR 
PUBLIC REVIEW 

All information provided in support of an application for development 
submitted under the Planning Act is considered public and is available 
for public review. 

 
NOTICE Notice of a Complete Application recognizes that the required 

information has been provided by the applicant, however, it does not 
infer support of the application by the Area Municipality or County, or 
that an application will be approved by Council.  

 
10.5.3.1: Reports and Studies 

 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 175 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-30 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

 In addition to where the policies of this Plan identify studies, information 
and/or material which may be required to evaluate a development proposal, 
the County or Area Municipality may require other studies, information 
and/or material to be submitted as part of a complete application, in 
accordance with the Planning Act and any applicable regulations.  
 
The studies, information and/or materials that may be required as part of a 
complete application shall generally include, but are not limited to, the 
reports/studies listed in Table ___ below. These reports/studies have simply 
been grouped by theme for convenience and are not limited to any specific 
type of application.   

 
 

TERMS OF 
REFERENCE The review and approval of a Terms of Reference may be required by 

the County for certain reports or studies to confirm the scope and level 
of detail required, on a case-by-case basis. Submission and review of 
the terms of reference shall occur prior to the commencement of 
studies, and such studies shall incorporate feedback provided by the 
County and/or Area Municipality, following acceptance of the Terms of 
Reference.  

 
THIRD PARTY 
REVIEW Further, the County and/or Area Municipality may, depending on the 

scope and complexity of the application, require third party review of 
any information, materials or documentation required by the County 
and/or Area Municipality. The applicant will be responsible for the costs 
of the third party review as well as for the costs associated with any 
additional review resulting from revisions to any original materials that 
may be required as a result of the third party review. 
 
Submission of costs associated with any third party review must be 
received prior to consideration of the development application by the 
County or Area Municipality as applicable. 

 
 Table [X]: Reports and Studies 

 
Planning Matters 

Planning Justification Report  
Drawings and Design 

 Landscape Plan Phasing Plan 
Urban Design Report  

Agriculture 
Agricultural Impact 
Assessment 

MDS I/MDS II Formulae 
Calculation/Compliance 

Environment 
Disclosure Report Environmental Impact Study 
Floodplain Analysis and/or Hydrogeological Study 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 176 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-31 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

Slope Stability Report 
Phase I and/or II 
Environmental Site 
Assessment 

Risk Management Plan 

Record of Site Condition / 
Certificate of Property Use 

Tree Inventory/Tree Preservation Plan 
 

Cultural Heritage 
Archaeological Assessment Cultural Heritage Impact 

Assessment/Conservation Plan 
Cumulative Impact Assessment 

Mineral Aggregate Resource 
Analysis (ARA License 
Application and materials) 

Rehabilitation Plan 
 

Resource Management 
Report 

Traffic Plan (Haul Route Assessment) 

Servicing, Infrastructure and Engineering 
Functional Servicing Report 
 

Geotechnical Report 
 

Grading Plan (Cut and Fill 
Plan) 
 

Permit to Take Water  
 

Erosion and Sediment 
Control Plan 
 

Servicing Plan 
 

Servicing Capacity 
Confirmation 
 

Stormwater Management Report and/or 
Plan 
 

Compatibility and Nuisance 
Air Quality Study Dust, Odour and/or Emissions Study 
Emergency and Spills 
Management Plan  

Feasibility Assessment 

Noise and/or Vibration 
(Acoustic) Study 

Sun/Shadow and/or Wind Analysis  

Transportation 
Traffic/Transportation Impact 
Study 

 

Growth Planning and Housing 
Land Needs Justification 
Study 

Municipal Financial Impact Assessment 

Commercial 
Commercial Location Needs 
Assessment 

Retail or Market Impact Study 
 

 
10.5.4  Advisory Committees 

 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 177 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-32 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

ADVISORY 
COMMITTESS Tthe County and/or Area Municipalities may establish and consult with 

advisory committees on various land use related matters, where they 
deem it to be necessary or advisable to do so, or as required under the 
Planning Act.   

 
COMMITTEE 
MANDATE The land use planning and other matters for which a particular 

Committee’s input may be solicited shall be established by County 
and/or Area Municipal Council, as applicable, through the approval of 
a Terms of Reference for each Committee. 

 
 

10.8 Public Participation Measures 
 

 
 
 
 
INTRODUCTION 

 
County Council and the Area Councils will actively encourage public 
participation by seeking the opinions and the advice of individuals and 
community and special interest groups in the on-going task of 
implementing, monitoring and reviewing this Plan. 

 
MATTERS 
SUBJECT TO 
PUBLIC 
PARTICIPATION 

County Council and the Area Councils shall ensure that the public is 
adequately notified and consulted consistent with the following  
events: 

 
MAJOR PLANNING 

INITIATIVES 
• dDuring the course of determining the need to review the Official 

Plan; 
 

 
• dDuring the course of preparing and considering planning  

policies, studies and strategies associated with: 
 

•a) Official Plan amendments and review processes; 
•b) tThe development of zoning by-laws; 
•c) sSecondary plans and associated area studies; 
•d) Community Improvement Plans, and; 
•e) Municipal services planning consistent with the requirements of 

the Environmental Assessment Act. 
•f) oOther matters deemed appropriate such as issue based 

studies 
 
 

SITE SPECIFIC 
MATTERS • iIn the consideration of development review and approval 

matters associated with: 
 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 178 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-33 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

 
•a) Official Plan amendments; 
b) • zZoning by-law amendments; 
c) • mMinor variances; 
d) • cConsents; 
e) • sSubdivision  and vacant lot condominium approval; 
f) • aApplications for approval to demolish, convert or  

renovate any properties containing five or more rental 
unit 

•g) pProposals to designate heritage buildings, areas or elements 
pursuant to the Ontario Heritage Act or to remove such 
designation or demolish a designated structure; and 

h) • oOther matters as deemed appropriate including  
proposals for site plan approval or cash-in-lieu of  
parking. 

 
FORMS OF PUBLIC 
PARTICIPATION  Municipalities may use a range of Measurestools to facilitate public 

participation. These measures may include: 
 
• fFormal and informal public meetings; 
• pPublic notice replies; 
• wWorkshops, open houses and displays; 
• dDelegations at County Council and/or Area Councils or 

Committees of Council; 
• tThe use of advertising and information releases; 
• tThe establishment of advisory committees;  
• cConsultation with community, neighbourhood or special 

interest organizations; and 
• pPosting information on the County of Oxford and/or Area 

Municipal wWeb site and/or social media channels. 
• Providing information and notice of opportunities to provide 

feedback through mail or e-mail. 
• Using interactive virtual/online engagement tools or platforms, 

such as online surveys, community-based mapping, and 
message boards. 

• Hosting virtual meetings, webinars, moderated conferences, 
and/or sharing of pre-recorded sessions or videos to share 
information and obtain feedback.  

 
ENGAGEMENT 
PLAN The consideration of the combination of measures and types of notice 

to facilitate public participation for major planning initiatives shall be 
informed by the preparation of an engagement plan, to the satisfaction 
of the County and/or Area Municipality(s).  

 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 179 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-34 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

PUBLIC NOTICE 
 
MAJOR  PLANNING 

INITIATIVES 
County Council or the Area Councils may require that public meetings 
held for the purposes of soliciting public input relative to major planning 
initiatives be advertised in newspapers having general circulation in the 
municipality prior to the scheduled meeting.  Notice may also be 
delivered by first class mail to persons deemed to have interest in the 
matter, including agencies, land owners, business owners and 
residents and to other persons who have requested notice of the 
meeting in accordance with the provisions of the Planning Act. 
 
Such notice for Official Plan or Zoning By-law amendments shall be 
given at least 20 days prior to the public meeting. 

 
SITE SPECIFIC 
PROPOSALS Where the planning matter to be considered consists of site specific 

matters, County Council or the Area Council will ensure that, as a 
minimum, a notice is posted on the subject property and notice 
delivered by first class mail is provided to the following: 

 
 • eEvery owner of the land within the affected site and/or area to 

which the proposal applies as shown on the last revised 
assessment roll; 

 
 • eEvery owner of land within the distance prescribed by the 

regulations of the Planning Act or other applicable statute, 
external to the area to which the proposal applies, as shown on 
the last revised assessment roll; and 

 
 • eEvery person and agency that has given written request for 

such notice 
 
For a site-specific Official Plan or Zoning By-law amendment, notice 
shall be given at least 14 days prior to the public meeting. 

 
 

CONTENT OF 
NOTICE 

A notice of public meeting shall contain the following information: 
 
• tThe date, time and place of the meeting; 
 
• iIn the case of a site-specific amendment, a key plan showing 

the location of the site or area to which the proposed amendment 
would apply; and 

 
• tThe proposed amendment or an explanation of the proposed 

amendment sufficient to enable the public to understand the 
nature and general effect of the proposed amendment. 

 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 180 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-35 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

SPECIAL CASES Notwithstanding the above, where the proposal consists of an 
application for mineral aggregate extraction or gypsum mining 
consistent with Sections 3.4.1 and 3.4.3, or where development 
requiring an Environmental Impact Study as set out in Section 3.2.6 is 
proposed, the policies of these Sections establishing specific public 
notification requirements will take precedence. 

 
ALTERNATIVE 
CONSULTATION 
MEASURES 

County Council may pass a By-Law to establish alternative measures for 
informing and obtaining the views of the public with respect to 
applications for Official Plan Amendment, Draft Plan of Subdivision and/or 
Consents and Area Municipal Councils may pass a By-Law to establish 
alternative measures for applications for Zoning By-Law Amendment. 
 
Such alternative measures may include, but are not necessarily limited to: 
 

• Workshops, open houses and displays; 
• Advertising and information releases; 
• Consultation with community, neighbourhood, or special interest 

organizations 
• Posting information on the County of Oxford and/or Area Municipal 

website and/or social media channels 
• Providing information and notice of opportunities for feedback 

through mail or e-mail 
• Using interactive virtual/online engagement tools or platforms, such 

as online surveys community-based mapping, and message boards. 
• Hosting virtual meetings, webinars, moderated conferences and/or 

posting of pre-recorded sessions or videos to share information and 
obtain feedback 

 
CONTENT OF BY-LAW Where County or Area Municipal Council passes a By-law to establish 

alternative measures of consultation, this by-law shall identify: 
 

•  the required recipients of the notice and the date that feedback is 
due to the approval authority.   

 
CONTENT OF NOTICE  

• the notice shall, at minimum, contain the following required 
content: 

 
• the date on which comments must be submitted and method(s) 

of submission; 
• a key plan showing the location of the site or area to which the 

proposed amendment would apply; 
• The proposed amendment, or an explanation of the proposed 

amendment, sufficient to enable an understanding of its nature 
and general effect; 

• how information and materials will be made available; and 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 181 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-36 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

• rights of appeal 
 

ZONING BY-LAW AS A 
CONDITION OF CONSENT 

• Where an application for consent to sever will require a zoning by-
law amendment as a condition of approval, the notice for the 
application for consent may also include the notice information for 
the application for zoning by-law amendment, to satisfy the 
alternative consultation measures. 

 
CONSIDERATION 
OF PUBLIC 
SUBMISSIONS 

County Council and the Area Councils shall consider all written and 
verbal submissions concerning a planning matter when making 
decisions and/or recommendations.  An analysis of the written 
submissions and verbal presentations at public meetings may be 
prepared and submitted to County Council and the Area Councils as 
part of any planning report prepared. 

 
CONFLICT 
RESOLUTION Prior to making decisions relating to planning matters, County Council 

and the Area Councils will encourage appropriate steps to be taken to 
resolve conflicting issues associated with the proposal.  Where 
conflicting issues remain unresolved, these issues and the measures 
taken to respond to these issues shall be identified as part of any 
planning report prepared. 

 
PUBLIC 
NOTIFICATION AND 
MEETINGS NOT 
REQUIRED 

Notwithstanding the public notification procedures in this Section, 
County Council and Area Councils may forego public notification and 
public meetings(s) and may adopt changes to this Plan and municipal 
Zoning By-Laws in the following instances: 
 
• tTo correct a minor technical error or omission contained in an 

amendment which has undergone full public review; 
 
• tTo change punctuation or format, alter language, or correct 

clerical, grammatical, or typographical errors;  
 
• tTo insert footnotes or similar annotations to indicate the origin 

and approval of each provision; and 
 
• tTo change the names of various government ministries or 

agencies and reference to Provincial and Federal statutes in the 
Official Plan, as these may be amended or revised over the life 
of the Plan. 

 
MEETINGS NOT REQUIRED Notwithstanding the public meeting requirements for zoning by-law 

amendment applications, Area Municipalities may forego a public meeting 
if the following requirements have been met: 
 

• Approval authority has been delegated, through by-law, to a 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 182 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-37 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

County/Area Municipal official in accordance with Section 10.5.1; 
 

• A By-Law has been passed outlining the use of an alternative 
methods of consultation process which has been met; and, 
 

• No concerns have been identified through written submission 
during the commenting period identified in the notice.  

 
OPEN HOUSE NOT 
REQUIRED County Council and Area Councils may forego a public open house and 

instead use alternative methods of consultation for municipally-initiated 
updates to the Official Plan and Zoning By-law. 

 
  

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 183 of 245



County of Oxford Official Plan 
 
 

 
Chapter 10 Implementation Measures Page 10.3-38 
 10.3 Implementation Tools 

Addition of a new subsection 5.5.5 to add policies regarding servicing allocation and 
recognize the related by-law tools. 
 

SERVICING 
ALLOCATION 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Recognizing that centralized water and/or wastewater facilities have 
finite/limited capacity available to accommodate growth and 
development, the County may consider adopting a by-law and policy, 
pursuant to the applicable requirements of the Municipal Act, that 
provides for the allocation of sewage treatment and/or water supply 
system capacity and establishes criteria for determining the 
circumstances under which: 
 
• the allocation of such servicing capacity will be assigned to 

development approved under the Planning Act; and 
• the allocation of servicing capacity may be withdrawn, or 

reallocated.   
 
Where the County has enacted such a By-law, the allocation, 
reallocation, and withdrawal of servicing capacity shall be in 
accordance with that by-law.   

 
 
 

Item 9.b.1

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 184 of 245



 
 

 
Oxford O.P.P. Detachment Board 2 

MINUTES 
of the Meeting held on 

May 21, 2025 
 

 
 
The Oxford O.P.P. Detachment Board 2 met at the Township of Zorra Municipal Office at 
1:00 p.m. on Wednesday, May 21st, 2025. 
 
Present: Councillor Stewart (Chair, Zorra), Mayor Peterson (Vice 

Chair, BB), Councillor Gillespie (EZT), Councillor DePlancke 
(Norwich), Mayor Mayberry (SWOX), Tracy Litt (Community 
Appointee, BB), Anthony Hymers (O.P.P.) and Nicole 
Chambers (Secretary) 

  
Guests: Diane Larder (CAO, Zorra), Karen Martin (Director of 

Corporate and Protective Services, Zorra) 
  
Regrets: Provincial Representative (Not Yet Appointed) 

 
 

1. Call Meeting to Order: 

 The meeting was called to order at 1:00 p.m. by Chair, Councillor Kevin 
Stewart and a quorum was present. 

 
2. Approval of Agenda: 

 Moved by: David Mayberry 
Seconded by: Mark Peterson 
 
RESOLVED that the Oxford O.P.P. Detachment Board 2 approves the 
agenda for the May 21, 2025 meeting, as printed and circulated. 

 
CARRIED 

Item 9.b.2

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 185 of 245



Minutes of May 21, 2025 – Continued  Page 2 
  

 
3. Pecuniary Interest: 

 No member of the Board makes a declaration of pecuniary interest or the 
general nature thereof.  
 

4.  Confirm Minutes: 

 Moved by: Tracy Litt 
Seconded by: Mark Peterson 
 
RESOLVED that the Oxford O.P.P. Detachment Board 2 approves the 
minutes from the March 19, 2025 meeting. 

 
  CARRIED 

 
5. Business Arising from the Minutes: 

 5. (a) Annual Report 
 
Moved by: Mark Peterson 
Seconded by: Matthew Gillespie 
 
RESOLVED that the Oxford O.P.P. Detachment Board 2 provides 
direction for the Secretary to receive the 2024 Annual Report, including 
an action plan, as prepared by the Ontario Provincial Police (O.P.P.) for 
the Oxford Region upon its completion; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT the report be circulated to the respective Councils 
of the Township of Blandford-Blenheim, Township of East-Zorra 
Tavistock, Township of Norwich, Township of South-West Oxford and 
Township of Zorra for consideration. 
 

 
CARRIED 

 
 

6. Correspondence: 
 
No items 

 

7. Delegations and Appointments: 
 
No items 
 

Item 9.b.2

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 186 of 245



Minutes of May 21, 2025 – Continued  Page 3 
  

*Councillor DePlancke arrived at 1:09 p.m. 

8. Reports: 

 Moved by: Mark Peterson 
Seconded by: David Mayberry 
 
RESOLVED that the Oxford O.P.P. Detachment Board 2 receives O.P.P. 
Detachment Board Reports – February and March 2025 as information. 

 
  CARRIED 

 
9. New Business 

Oral presentations were received regarding the following topics: 
 

 9. (a) – Speed Concerns in Plattsville: Mayor Peterson 
9. (b) – Zone 4 – OAPSB Meeting Report: Councillor DePlancke 

10. Adjournment 

 Moved by: Mark Peterson 
Seconded by: Tracy Litt 
 
RESOLVED that the Oxford O.P.P. Detachment Board 2 does now 
adjourn at 1:26 p.m.; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT the Board meet on Wednesday, September 17th, 
2025 at 1:00 p.m. at the Township of Blandford-Blenheim Municipal 
Office. 

CARRIED 
 

 

 

 

 Councillor Stewart, Chair 
 

 

 Nicole Chambers, Secretary 

Item 9.b.2

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 187 of 245



TOWNSHIP OF BLANDFORD-BLENHEIM

To: Members of Council

From: Ray Belanger

Reviewed by: Josh Brick

Date: September 23, 2025

Council Meeting Date: October 1, 2025

Report Title:  Monthly Report

Report  No.: CBO-25-09

Recommendation:

That Report CBO-25-09 be received as information.

Executive Summary: 

Building permits issued for the month of August.

Background: 

To provide Council with an update regarding the monthly building activities for the period ending 
on August 31, 2025.

Analysis & Discussion:

Item 10.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 188 of 245



Strategic Priorities: 

Building services continues to ensure compliance with the Building Code Act through education, 
consultation, oversight and enforcement.

Financial Considerations: 

Building services continues to operate solely on building permit fees and has no financial 
impact on the Townships levy.

Respectfully submitted by:

Ray Belanger
Chief Building Official

Item 10.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 189 of 245



Appendix:

None.

Follow up

In adopting this report, what follow up action is required?
☐ By-law
☐ Agreement(s)/document(s) to be signed by Mayor and/or Clerk 
☐ Social media/Website update or communication 
☐ Other communication – Specify:  

Item 10.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 190 of 245



TOWNSHIP OF BLANDFORD-BLENHEIM

To: Members of Council

From: Jim Borton, Director of Public Works

Reviewed by: Josh Brick, Chief Administrative Officer

Date: September 25, 2025

Council Meeting Date: October 1, 2025

Report Title:  Monthly Report 

Report  No.: PW-25-16

Recommendation:

That Report PW-25-16 be received as information.

Executive Summary: 

Capital Work

• Princeton phase 4 (South section) – Cassidy Construction has been working on getting 
the main storm sewer system completed in the south end of Main St. The curbs and 
base gravel have been placed from Emma Street north to Railway Street. They will be 
starting to prepare for the new sidewalks and replacing driveways.

• Bridge 24 EA – Staff and KSmart have received some comments back about the 
archaeology report and it looks as though our Indigenous partners are satisfied with the 
report. Fisheries and Oceans Canada (DFO) are the next hurdle; they have concerns 
about fish habitats and have asked for a Marine study. DFO also has concerns about in 
water work and we may not be able to get a permit for this until 2026. We are still 
working through everything; the hope is to still tender and start in 2025.

County Shared Services/Road Association/AORS:

• Shared Services meeting – The committee met on September 11th in Tillsonburg. We 
discussed the joint winter maintenance training for all staff; half load season and 
equipment purchases and the possibility of sharing equipment.

Item 10.b

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 191 of 245



• Road Association – The association met on September 18 at the Springford Community 
center. There was a recap of the successful tradeshow, a supplier demonstration and a 
discussion about the 2026 dues and the Christmas get together.

• AORS – We had our fall board of directors meeting and our annual supplier appreciation 
meeting. The board was given an update on the finances so far in 2025 and a projection 
on where we are headed in 2026.  

Analysis & Discussion:
Drainage

• The Drainage Superintendent continues to monitor the Township storm water ponds.
• Is available to investigate any issue that may arise along a drainage system.
• Has been working with the KSmart inspector in Princeton to camera and locate the 

Private Drain Connections (PDC’s) for Cassidy Construction to ensure they are 
connected to the new drain system.

Public Works Staff:
• Staff have been working on the road project on Township Road 12 (Blenheim Rd – 

Trussler Rd) this includes building the road up with excess fill from Princeton to help 
mitigate flooding and future road closures. Staff have been grading the material, running 
a packer to ensure good compaction and we are using some of our fleet to haul the fill. 
Other activities being done are grading of gravel roads, roadside grass cutting, assisting 
the Drainage Superintendent with cutting grass and hauling excess soil from some 
ponds.

• Two staff members had the pleasure in competing in the AORS Provincial Truck Roadeo 
on September 24th. Shawn Crozier and Dennis Boult earned the right to compete by 
being the top drivers from Oxford County. This was the largest Provincial Roadeo, there 
were a total of 49 drivers competing from all over Ontario. The competition was stiff, and 
the course was very difficult, both drivers fared well and finished in the middle of the 
pack. 

Other:
• Working on approving road permits that would allow Xplorenet to use the Township right 

of way to run fibreoptic cable in the Township. This is a Provincially funded and 
mandated project that is to be completed by the end of 2025.

• Working with MESH, the Public Works service coordinator, Community Services and the 
Drainage Superintendent to create an on-line check list for equipment inspections and 
patrols. We will be looking into park inspections and some activities at the arena.

• Working with the Drainage Superintendent on finding suitable dump sites for the excess 
soil from the Princeton Drain project. 

• Attend biweekly meetings on the progress of the Princeton project.
• Staff is continuing to meet with landowners at outdoor sites to discuss ditch or road 

issues.
• Coordinate with the contractor for fill to build up Township Road 12 (Trussler-Blenheim)
• Coordinate the removal of fill from the Romano Pond. Ensure dump sites are accessible 

and are not restricted from dumping at the site.

Strategic Priorities:
Engaged and Informed Community

Item 10.b

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 192 of 245



Open communication and transparency.

Excellence in Public Service

Well-planned public works maintenance and capital projects.

Financial Considerations: 

None.

Respectfully submitted by:

Jim Borton
Director of Public Works

Appendix:

None.

Follow up

In adopting this report, what follow up action is required?
☐ By-law
☐ Agreement(s)/document(s) to be signed by Mayor and/or Clerk 
☐ Social media/Website update or communication 
☐ Other communication – Specify:  

Item 10.b

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 193 of 245



TOWNSHIP OF BLANDFORD-BLENHEIM

To: Members of Council

From: Trevor Baer, Manager of Community Services

Reviewed by: Sarah Matheson, Director Corporate Services, 
Denise Krug, Director of Finance

Date: September 23, 2025

Council Meeting Date: October 1, 2025

Report Title:  Capital Purchase – Arena Water Softener Replacement

Report  No.: CS-25-17

Recommendation:

That Report CS-25-17 be received as information; and further, 

That Council authorize staff to proceed under the Township’s Procurement Policy to purchase 
and install a new water softener at the Plattsville Arena, with funding to come from the Arena 
Reserve.

Executive Summary: 

The water softener located at the front of the Plattsville Arena has failed and is no longer 
operational. Parts for this model are increasingly difficult to source, and professional plumbing 
contractors have advised that repair is not recommended. While the Township’s long-term 
capital plan anticipated replacement of this unit in 2028, staff are recommending that Council 
approve early replacement. This is due to the equipment’s current failure, the lack of available 
replacement parts, and the need to maintain consistent water quality within the facility.

The total cost to supply and install a new water softener is expected to fall in the range of 
$14,000 to $17,000. Adequate funds are available in the Arena Reserve Fund to cover this 
expenditure. Once the new unit has been installed, the Township’s Asset Management Plan will 
be updated to reflect the revised life cycle.

Analysis & Discussion:

Item 10.c

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 194 of 245



The Plattsville Arena is served by a water softener system located at the front of the building. 
This system has reached the end of its serviceable life and recently broke down. Staff sought 
advice from a plumbing company, which subsequently consulted with a representative from the 
original equipment supplier. Both confirmed that repair of the existing unit is not practical given 
its age and the difficulty in obtaining parts.

The importance of this system is underscored by the nature of the local water supply. Water in 
Plattsville is considered very hard. In 2022, hardness was measured between 1,210 and 1,660 
milligrams per litre, which equates to approximately 71 to 97 grains per gallon. At these levels, 
scaling is severe. Hard water causes mineral deposits that build up within hot water heaters, 
shower heads, and taps. This reduces efficiency, increases maintenance needs, and shortens 
the overall life of plumbing fixtures. In a community recreation facility such as the arena, 
softened water is vital to maintaining the reliability of hot water systems and ensuring the 
building remains in good working order for both patrons and staff.

Although the unit was scheduled for replacement in 2028 under the Township’s Capital Plan, 
the combination of failure, difficulty in sourcing parts, and the documented hardness of 
Plattsville’s water means it is no longer practical to wait.

Replacing the water softener at this time will ensure that the facility continues to receive water 
that is properly conditioned for daily use. By softening the water, the Township will protect hot 
water heaters, taps, and shower heads from scaling and mineral buildup that would otherwise 
result in costly repairs or premature equipment replacement. The new unit will reduce ongoing 
maintenance requirements and extend the life of plumbing systems throughout the building.
Beyond equipment protection, softened water will also improve the user experience for those 
who regularly use the facility. Residents, sports teams, and community groups who rely on the 
arena’s showers and washrooms will notice a difference in water quality. Softer water reduces 
issues such as soap scum, poor lathering, and mineral residue, providing a cleaner and more 
comfortable experience. This is particularly important in a recreation setting where amenities 
such as showers are heavily used and form part of the overall service provided to the public.
From an operational perspective, addressing the failed unit now demonstrates proactive asset 
management. Rather than risk further damage to connected systems or inconvenience to 
facility users, the Township can ensure that its recreation facility remains safe, reliable, and 
welcoming. The recommendation to replace the unit rather than attempt repair comes directly 
from industry professionals, providing staff with confidence that this is the most responsible and 
cost-effective solution

Strategic Priorities:

This project supports the Township’s Strategic Plan, particularly the pillar of Excellence in 
Public Service. By taking proactive steps to replace aging equipment, the Township 
demonstrates its commitment to prolonging the life of major facility systems, reducing future 
maintenance costs, and ensuring community facilities remain safe, clean, and dependable. It 
also reflects a responsible approach to asset management by addressing a piece of 
infrastructure that has already reached the end of its useful life

Financial Considerations: 

Item 10.c

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 195 of 245



The estimated cost for the supply and installation of a new water softener is between $14,000 
and $17,000. This amount will be funded through the Arena Reserve, where funding is already 
available. This purchase simply advances the planned replacement to an earlier date due to the 
current failure of the existing unit. Once the replacement has been completed, the Township’s 
Asset Management Plan will be updated to reflect the new life cycle of the equipment. No 
additional operating funds are required to support this purchase.

Respectfully submitted by:

Trevor Baer
Manager of Community Services

Appendix:

None.

Follow up

In adopting this report, what follow up action is required?
☐ By-law
☐ Agreement(s)/document(s) to be signed by Mayor and/or Clerk 
☐ Social media/Website update or communication 
☐ Other communication – Specify:  

Item 10.c

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 196 of 245



TOWNSHIP OF BLANDFORD-BLENHEIM

To: Members of Council

From: Trevor Baer, Manager of Community Services

Reviewed by: Sarah Matheson, Director Corporate Services / Clerk

Date: September 23, 2025

Council Meeting Date: October 1, 2025

Report Title:  Monthly Report

Report  No.: CS-25-18

Recommendation:

That Report CS-25-18 be received as information.

Executive Summary: 

The Community Services Department has had a productive September, with operations running 
smoothly across arenas, parks, and community facilities. The Plattsville Arena has been 
operational with ice for three weeks, and most of the Township’s regular rental groups have 
begun their winter seasons. Parks remained busy this month as both Drumbo Park and 
Plattsville Park hosted successful adult year-end tournaments, while the Drumbo Fair was also 
held and well attended. The Princeton Park playground project is currently awaiting the arrival 
of materials, and staff will bring a construction timeline forward to Council once this information 
becomes available. Finally, staff will be releasing a public tender for the operation of the 
Plattsville Arena canteen to improve service for patrons and strengthen the arena’s role as a 
community hub.

Background:

Each month, the Community Services Department provides Council with an update on 
departmental activities, ongoing projects, and key events across Township facilities. September 
marked the start of the busy fall and winter recreation season, as arenas returned to full 
operation and community groups wrapped up their summer activities in the Township’s parks.

Analysis & Discussion:

Item 10.d

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 197 of 245



Arena operations are off to a strong start. The Plattsville Arena has been running with ice in 
place for three weeks, and most of the Township’s regular rental groups have now returned to 
begin their seasons. Early feedback from user groups has been positive, with many expressing 
appreciation that the arena remains a welcoming hub for recreation and social connection 
during the winter months. Having the ice back in is a sign of seasonal transition, and it 
reinforces the arena’s role as a true community gathering place.

The Township’s parks also continued to see strong usage in September. Both Drumbo Park 
and Plattsville Park successfully hosted adult year-end tournaments, providing an opportunity 
for players and residents to come together and celebrate the close of the summer ball season. 
These events not only encourage physical activity but also strengthen community bonds. The 
Drumbo Fair also took place this month and was once again a highlight on the local calendar, 
drawing residents and visitors alike for a weekend of tradition, celebration, and community 
pride.

Township staff recently met with the Drumbo Lions Club to review and discuss the plans for the 
Drumbo playground project. Following this meeting, staff are now preparing the Request for 
Proposal (RFP) for the project, which is expected to be released within the coming weeks.

At Princeton Park, the playground project remains pending as staff continue to wait for 
materials from the supplier. Staff are monitoring the situation closely and will provide Council 
with a confirmed installation date once the supplier indicates delivery is forthcoming.

Staff have had ongoing discussions with EarlyON regarding the proposed partnership 
agreement to use Drumbo Hall as a program site.

Staff will also be releasing a tender for the operation of the canteen at the Plattsville Arena. 
Opening the canteen to a public tender process is a positive step forward, as it provides an 
opportunity for local businesses or community groups to operate the concession in a way that 
enhances the overall arena experience. A well-run canteen not only improves convenience for 
arena patrons and user groups but also strengthens the arena’s role as a welcoming and 
vibrant community hub. This approach ensures transparency, fairness, and the best possible 
service delivery for the general public.

Strategic Priorities:

This report aligns with the Township’s Strategic Plan pillar of Community Well-Being and 
Inclusivity. The return of ice at the arena brings people together and reinforces the facility as a 
central hub during the winter months. Parks have hosted a variety of tournaments and events 
that foster active and social lifestyles, while community partnerships like the proposed Drumbo 
Hall agreement ensure that facilities are being used in ways that directly support residents. 
Together, these efforts demonstrate the Township’s commitment to supporting recreation, 
social connection, and inclusive.

Financial Considerations: 

Item 10.d

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 198 of 245



There are no new or unbudgeted financial implications arising directly from this report. All 
activities, including the operation of the Plattsville Arena, parks events, and playground 
construction planning, are being carried out within existing budgets and approved capital 
allocations.

Respectfully submitted by:

Trevor Baer
Manager of Community Services

Appendix:

None.

Follow up

In adopting this report, what follow up action is required?
☐ By-law
☐ Agreement(s)/document(s) to be signed by Mayor and/or Clerk 
☐ Social media/Website update or communication 
☐ Other communication – Specify:  

Item 10.d

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 199 of 245



TOWNSHIP OF BLANDFORD-BLENHEIM

To: Members of Council

From: Denise Krug, Director of Finance / Treasurer

Reviewed by: Josh Brick, CAO

Date: September 22, 2025

Council Meeting Date: October 1, 2025

Report Title:  TR-13-25 2026 Budget Survey Results

Report  No.: TR-25-13

Recommendation:

That Report TR-25-13 be received as information.

Executive Summary:

The annual Budget Survey was conducted to gather input from property owners on municipal 
service priorities and budget considerations. The number of responses received this year 
remained consistent with last year, indicating ongoing engagement and interest from the 
community.

Survey results demonstrate a clear and continued preference among respondents for 
maintaining or enhancing current levels of municipal services. As in previous years, the majority 
of participants expressed strong support for preserving service standards, with many 
advocating for strategic improvements where necessary.

Importantly, the key areas identified as priorities by respondents have remained consistent with 
last year’s findings. This ongoing alignment suggests stable community expectations and 
provides a reliable foundation for Council decision-making in the upcoming budget cycle.

These survey insights reinforce the importance of aligning budget planning with the 
community's established service expectations and priority areas.

Background: 

Item 10.e

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 200 of 245



The Township once again participated in the County wide Budget Consultation Online Survey 
which began in June and ran through to the end of August.  It was promoted though the 
Township and County websites, our Facebook page, local media and tax bill inserts.
 
Meaningful and effective public engagement improves the quality of decisions made, facilitates 
citizen understanding of issues and government process, fosters respect for the views of others 
and increases support, understanding and ownership of decisions made.

Analysis & Discussion: 

There were 149 responses from the Township of Blandford-Blenheim, a decrease of 9% from 
last year where we had seen an increase of 125% from the previous survey conducted in 2023. 
The full results of the survey are attached.

The survey illustrated how property taxes were allocated in 2025 and asked respondents to 
indicate whether the same services should be enhanced, maintained or reduced in the 
upcoming year.  The large majority of respondents want to see all services maintained at 
current levels or improved.  When asked about the overall value received from Township tax 
dollars, 73.48% of respondents rated it Fair to Good, up over 2% from the last survey.

Respondents were asked to identify their top five priorities in their community.  The most 
common options chosen were:  Infrastructure – Roads, bridges and stormwater (36.43%), 
Affordable Housing (33.33%), Safe Communities – Police (42.64%) and Waste Management – 
Curbside collection (garbage and recycling) (30.23%).  These were all top priorities in last 
year’s survey as well.  New to the top five list this year is Safe Communities – Paramedics 
(31.01%).

Strategic Priorities:  

This report directly aligns with Council’s adopted Strategic Plan (2025–2028) and its 
commitment to fostering a connected, inclusive, and informed community.
 

Engaged & Informed Community 
  Strengthen two-way communication through transparent and effective outreach, and
  Increase public participation in municipal decision-making and initiatives.

Financial Considerations:

There is no direct financial impact to the current budget; however, survey results referenced in 
the report will be considered in determining the 2026 budget and tax levy.

Respectfully submitted by:

Denise Krug
Treasurer / Director of Finance

Item 10.e

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 201 of 245



Appendix:

2026 Budget Survey Results

Follow up

In adopting this report, what follow up action is required?
☐ By-law
☐ Agreement(s)/document(s) to be signed by Mayor and/or Clerk 
☐ Social media/Website update or communication 
☐ Other communication – Specify:  

Item 10.e

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 202 of 245



Item 10.e

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 203 of 245



2026 Budget survey - Township of Blandford-Blenheim and Oxford County

1 / 39

94.63% 141

10.07% 15

3.36% 5

Q1
Tell us about yourselfWhich of the following statements describes your
connection to Blandford-Blenheim Township? Please select all that apply.

Answered: 149
 Skipped: 0

Total Respondents: 149  

# OTHER (PLEASE EXPLAIN) DATE

1 Homeowner 8/26/2025 6:37 PM

2 Plattsville 8/13/2025 12:04 PM

3 Dairy Farm 8/13/2025 8:44 AM

4 Rent 7/25/2025 8:25 PM

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Resident (I
live here)

I own or
operate a

business here

Prefer not to
say/ none of

the above

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Resident (I live here)

I own or operate a business here

Prefer not to say/ none of the above

Item 10.e

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 204 of 245



2026 Budget survey - Township of Blandford-Blenheim and Oxford County

2 / 39

4.70% 7

12.08% 18

16.78% 25

22.15% 33

41.61% 62

1.34% 2

1.34% 2

Q2
How many years have you lived in Blandford-Blenheim Township?
Answered: 149
 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 149

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Less than 2
years

2-5 years

6-10 years

11-20 years

More than 20
years

Not a resident

Prefer not to
say

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Less than 2 years

2-5 years

6-10 years

11-20 years

More than 20 years

Not a resident

Prefer not to say

Item 10.e

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 205 of 245



2026 Budget survey - Township of Blandford-Blenheim and Oxford County

3 / 39

0.00% 0

2.01% 3

11.41% 17

22.15% 33

20.81% 31

22.15% 33

21.48% 32

Q3
What is your age?
Answered: 149
 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 149

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Under 18

18-24

25-34

35-44

45-54

55-64

65+

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Under 18

18-24

25-34

35-44

45-54

55-64

65+

Item 10.e

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 206 of 245



2026 Budget survey - Township of Blandford-Blenheim and Oxford County

4 / 39

33.56% 50

48.32% 72

5.37% 8

1.34% 2

4.70% 7

10.74% 16

3.36% 5

2.01% 3

Q4
How did you hear about this survey? Check all that apply.
Answered: 149
 Skipped: 0

Total Respondents: 149  

# OTHER (PLEASE EXPLAIN) DATE

1 Facebook 8/26/2025 6:37 PM

2 Property mail 8/16/2025 8:44 PM

3 Looking up Oxford County News 6/12/2025 10:37 AM

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Flyer, notice
or bill insert

Social media

News media
(newspaper,

radio, etc.)
Council

meeting or
updates

E-mail

Website or web
ad

From someone
else

Other (please
explain)

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Flyer, notice or bill insert

Social media

News media (newspaper, radio, etc.)

Council meeting or updates

E-mail

Website or web ad

From someone else

Other (please explain)

Item 10.e

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 207 of 245



2026 Budget survey - Township of Blandford-Blenheim and Oxford County

5 / 39

Q5
The following questions are about services funded through Blandford-
Blenheim Township tax dollars and delivered by the Township.For each,

you will be given the tax paid per household in 2025* and then asked if the
service should be:
Improved, even if it means a tax increase
Maintained,

with only an inflationary increase to taxes
Reduce to lower taxes
*Household is based on the average residential MPAC Assessment of

$275,000Parks and RecreationApproximately $150 per household in 2025
The Parks and Recreation department provides recreation programs;
manages and operates parks and recreation facilities (facilities include
community centres, arena, parks, trails); and supports local sport and

special event initiatives.
The department maintains 4 parks, 6 ball
diamonds, 4 playgrounds, 1 arena, 3 community centres, 2 skateboard

parks, 2 outdoor sporting pads, 1 recreational trail and 2 splash pads.
Fire
ServicesApproximately $250 per household in 2025
The Fire Department
provides fire suppression services, fire prevention programs, training and
education related to prevention, detection or extinguishment of fires and

emergency rescue services.
The Fire Department is comprised of 69
volunteer firefighters, 1 full-time chief, and 1 full-time deputy chief that

respond to an average of 233 incidents per year. There are 4 fire stations
and 12 vehicles.
Police - OPP ContractApproximately $182 per household

in 2025
The Ontario Provincial Police (OPP) provides policing services.
The OPP maintains the safety and security of all citizens by reducing or
eliminating loss of life and property, maintaining law enforcements, and
preserving peace and good order.
The OPP responds to approximately

800 calls per year.
Answered: 143
 Skipped: 6

Item 10.e

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 208 of 245



2026 Budget survey - Township of Blandford-Blenheim and Oxford County

6 / 39

16.78%
24

69.23%
99

11.89%
17

2.10%
3

 
143

13.29%
19

72.03%
103

11.89%
17

2.80%
4

 
143

34.97%
50

49.65%
71

11.89%
17

3.50%
5

 
143

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Improve Maintain Reduce Not sure

Parks and
Recreation

Fire Services

Police - OPP
Contract

  IMPROVE MAINTAIN REDUCE NOT SURE TOTAL

Parks and Recreation

Fire Services

Police - OPP Contract

Item 10.e

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 209 of 245



2026 Budget survey - Township of Blandford-Blenheim and Oxford County

7 / 39

Q6
Should the following services be:
Improved, even if it means a tax
increase
Maintained, with only an inflationary increase to taxes
Reduce to
lower taxes
Roads and BridgesApproximately $865 per household in 2025
Responsible for maintenance of the township’s roadway system, including

sidewalk repairs, road repairs, pothole repairs, snowplowing, snow
removal, traffic signs, streetlights and traffic signals.
Township of

Blandford-Blenheim maintains 667 lane kilometers of roads, 75 kilometers
of sidewalks and 60 bridge structures/ culverts with span over 3 metres.

According to the current Asset Management Plan, the average condition of
the roads and bridges are rated as good.
Municipal By-law

EnforcementApproximately $9 per household in 2025
The By-law
Department enforces numerous regulations involving parking, noise and

animal control.
The By-law Department is comprised of 1 part-time officer
and investigate an average of 24 complaints per year.
Building and

Drainage ServicesApproximately $12 per household in 2025
The Building
Department reviews and processes Building permit application in

accordance with the Ontario Building Code and obligations of compliance
and duty of care to the current and future building occupants.
The Building
Department is comprised of 1 full-time employee and 1 part-time employee

and issues an average of 150 building permits annually.
The Township
maintains approximately 200 km of closed municipal drains and 90 km of

open municipal drains in the rural and urban areas of the Township in
accordance with the Ontario Drainage Act.
The Drainage Department is

comprised of 1 part-time employee.
Answered: 143
 Skipped: 6

Item 10.e

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 210 of 245



2026 Budget survey - Township of Blandford-Blenheim and Oxford County

8 / 39

34.97%
50

55.94%
80

7.69%
11

1.40%
2

 
143

14.69%
21

60.14%
86

22.38%
32

2.80%
4

 
143

9.09%
13

72.73%
104

14.69%
21

3.50%
5

 
143

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Improve Maintain Reduce Not sure

Roads and
Bridges

Municipal
By-law

Enforcement

Building and
Drainage
Services

  IMPROVE MAINTAIN REDUCE NOT SURE TOTAL

Roads and Bridges

Municipal By-law Enforcement

Building and Drainage Services

Item 10.e

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 211 of 245



2026 Budget survey - Township of Blandford-Blenheim and Oxford County

9 / 39

Q7
Do you have any feedback or comments about your ratings?
Answered: 134
 Skipped: 15

# RESPONSES DATE

1 Improvement is always needed. Keeping any increases to tax at a steady and affordable rate
will help homeowners avoid or reduce hardships in deciding what to dismiss and what to keep
without feeling guilty.

8/29/2025 10:13 PM

2 None 8/28/2025 5:23 PM

3 not really 8/28/2025 4:13 PM

4 would like to maintain current services so as to avoid too big an increase, but do feel that
policy and bylaw enforcement needs to be increased

8/28/2025 1:30 PM

5 No 8/28/2025 11:25 AM

6 no 8/28/2025 9:20 AM

7 Too much growth far too quickly. Not enough infrastructure 8/27/2025 9:54 PM

8 N/A 8/27/2025 6:03 AM

9 The roads are awful and need more attention in my opinion 8/27/2025 5:54 AM

10 There is not enough resources to upgrade my property which falls on Grca property Erosion
issues are not addressed and the homeowner is responsible for. This should change .

8/26/2025 8:34 PM

11 To much for grass cutting road side 8/26/2025 6:40 PM

12 None 8/26/2025 4:29 PM

13 O 8/26/2025 2:58 PM

14 Every penny seems to be pinched as cost of living soars. We as tax payers expect that our
tax dollars are managed as efficiently as possible to avoid waste

8/26/2025 9:51 AM

15 no 8/25/2025 8:50 PM

16 No 8/25/2025 7:41 PM

17 No 8/25/2025 8:43 AM

18 In many of these areas, too much money is spent on administration and expenditures are often
too top heavy in this respect

8/25/2025 7:27 AM

19 Cost of water is too high, not enough % of tax goes into education and waste management
price is also increasing despite poor service provided so far I.e inconsistent pick up times and
no green been program so far (and only coming until 2027)

8/20/2025 10:47 AM

20 no 8/19/2025 7:46 PM

21 Not at this time 8/19/2025 4:42 PM

22 We have experienced a tax increase all 5 years we have lived here. Do not support further
increases as there is only so much residents can handle in this economy.

8/19/2025 3:23 PM

23 I would like to see implementation of recreational facilities for the elderly in our community.
Park for children is good, however, what is there for people over 65?

8/16/2025 9:04 PM

24 I live in plattsville. I don't have traffic lights and we are last to be plowed. Park is well
maintained but my taxes are extremely high and I really don't understand why. Sorry.

8/15/2025 3:06 PM

25 No 8/14/2025 10:56 PM

26 More gravel roads need to be paved 8/14/2025 12:16 AM

Item 10.e

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 212 of 245



2026 Budget survey - Township of Blandford-Blenheim and Oxford County

10 / 39

27 N/a 8/13/2025 11:16 PM

28 Not enough is being done to protect pedestrians and bicycle riders. Not enough is being to for
tree and canopy cover for future generations. There is a lack of commercial retail space for
small start-ups -for local people that want to grow a gig economy.

8/13/2025 10:39 PM

29 Get rid of council they don't do anything for Plattsville 8/13/2025 6:29 PM

30 Puddicombe Rd & Bridge St needs serious safety improvements, way too many accidents...../
I think rumble strips back a ways from stop sign would be a benefit so people not paying
attention over the hill will hit the strips and then notice stop sign

8/13/2025 12:10 PM

31 No 8/13/2025 12:06 PM

32 No 8/13/2025 12:05 PM

33 Cycling lanes increased Pave gravel roads at the entry points as tractors and increased traffic
create ruts - that continue to stir up recycled gravel/nails in tires on Motheral Road and Oxford
Road 29

8/13/2025 8:49 AM

34 Na 8/13/2025 7:52 AM

35 no 8/12/2025 7:15 AM

36 Start being more efficient. I see the gravel grader operator being picked up for coffee breaks.
It’s a high waste of time and resources. I’m sure there many other things that could be
improved

8/11/2025 12:49 PM

37 No return calls from the drainage department, gravel grader grades before rain 8/11/2025 12:49 PM

38 I don't ever see police in our area so cut from that for sure. Bylaw? I didn't even know that
existed. I've never seen a single bylaw officer proactively patrolling or anything, we've got cars
all over no parking zones all the time, if the bylaw officer isn't doing checks, then those signs
are useless, take them down, reduce bylaw funding. Need to improve funding on parks and
rec, we need some community pools, better sports programming, better maintenance of
existing facilities.

8/11/2025 9:24 AM

39 do more community outreach. folks would be interested in getting involved, especially if we are
working to keep our taxes steady while at the same time continuously improving our
communities as a community. Contract out work as much as possible to local community
businesses or volunteer opportunities. let's do better together!

8/11/2025 8:05 AM

40 no 8/10/2025 7:33 PM

41 No 8/10/2025 8:22 AM

42 Would really like to have a focus on starting to pave or tar/chip rural gravel roads. Many other
municipalities have done this, and I believe studies show they end up being cheaper to
maintain.

8/10/2025 8:16 AM

43 Install sewage lines in roads for household sewage
Open school back up in Princeton 8/9/2025 10:20 PM

44 No 8/9/2025 6:52 PM

45 My taxes for 2025 are now 25% higher than 2021. The increase in taxes has been significantly
higher than inflation for 4 years running now and our service level has not improved. I am on a
fixed income and cannot afford to continue paying these inflationary increases. Why???

8/9/2025 1:45 PM

46 no 8/9/2025 10:39 AM

47 It is nice to see the parks getting more upgrades, lets keep doing that. 8/9/2025 9:53 AM

48 N/A 8/8/2025 10:20 PM

49 many sideroads should have improved maintenance and gravel roads with significant traffic
should be paved

8/8/2025 3:15 PM

50 No 8/8/2025 2:52 PM

51 I would like to see more visual OPP presence in our township 8/8/2025 1:42 PM

52 Water quality is very poor and need improvement rather than the unnecessary speed reduction 8/7/2025 7:28 PM

Item 10.e

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 213 of 245



2026 Budget survey - Township of Blandford-Blenheim and Oxford County

11 / 39

road work was completed.

53 No 8/7/2025 6:01 PM

54 No 8/7/2025 2:52 PM

55 No 8/7/2025 11:27 AM

56 no 8/7/2025 8:37 AM

57 no comments 8/6/2025 7:59 PM

58 . 8/6/2025 6:04 PM

59 Would like to have green bin service. Just saw it's coming but not until 2027. Believe we can
divert a lot of waste and should accelerate bringing the program.

8/6/2025 4:34 PM

60 Our gravel roads are horrible!! start paving them 8/6/2025 4:32 PM

61 Not at the moment 8/6/2025 2:12 PM

62 The city doesn’t maintain fallen or dead trees on properties along highway two 8/6/2025 1:38 PM

63 N/A 8/6/2025 11:24 AM

64 N 8/5/2025 9:32 PM

65 Our property taxes have gone up 10.3% in 2025 and 25% since 2022. We dont benefit from
most of the services provided by the township. We clear and maintain a neat property, trim
roadside trees, clear roadways when not done by township in timely manner, trim roadside
ditch grass not cut by township. We invest in our property which is more than we can say
about neighboring homes and we are seeing increases that are not reasonable and quite
frankly sad and disappointing.

8/5/2025 8:15 PM

66 - excellent service from the Township regarding snow removal on Road 10, and tree cleanup....
I called about a tree on the road and a crew was here within 20 minutes!!!!

8/5/2025 7:38 PM

67 No 8/5/2025 5:44 PM

68 No 8/5/2025 5:33 PM

69 Don't waste money on EV charging stations, people how own a EV vehicle should provide for
themselves. The By-law officer needs to look around the village of Drumbo and have properties
with weeds told to clean-up their properties or twp. employees clean up and owner sent a bill.

8/5/2025 2:31 PM

70 No 8/5/2025 1:52 PM

71 no 8/5/2025 12:51 PM

72 I said improve to roads and bridges BUT only if the money is spent wisely. (e.g. the recently
added "traffic calming" in Plattsville at Albert St & Hofstetter is not effective at slowing traffic.
That money would have been better spent fixing the sidewalks in the old section of town as
they are in such poor shape that they are hazardous)

8/5/2025 10:40 AM

73 No 7/30/2025 10:57 AM

74 N/A 7/28/2025 12:18 PM

75 No 7/25/2025 8:25 PM

76 No 7/22/2025 8:56 PM

77 No 7/22/2025 5:34 PM

78 The MPaC average assessment is too low and causes real value homes with current values to
have an artificially inflated tax rate.

7/22/2025 3:00 PM

79 N/A 7/22/2025 9:08 AM

80 Pave more roads 7/21/2025 10:41 PM

81 No 7/21/2025 7:07 PM

82 No 7/21/2025 7:05 PM

Item 10.e

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 214 of 245



2026 Budget survey - Township of Blandford-Blenheim and Oxford County

12 / 39

83 I selected “improve” for parks and recreation. Continue to improve the Drumbo park
specifically. Turf instead of stones would be great around the playgrounds. More playground
structures for smaller children would be great too. Additional benches and picnic tables.

7/21/2025 6:31 PM

84 No 7/21/2025 5:10 PM

85 Bridges are unsafe, roadwork sucks and so do train tracks 7/21/2025 4:08 PM

86 No 7/21/2025 4:03 PM

87 No 7/21/2025 4:03 PM

88 - 7/18/2025 12:09 PM

89 Overall happy with services, there should be OPP located in Drumbo 7/11/2025 1:09 AM

90 No 7/9/2025 8:13 PM

91 Gravel roads could be better maintained. The twp could start doing tar/gravel to improve roads. 7/9/2025 12:19 PM

92 Bylaws officer never seen in two. They should be patrolling and using their own eyes instead of
waiting for a complaint!! Too many homes/businesses in Drumbo are unkept long weeds or
vacant for years. One building by the bank in Drumbo is disgusting and looks unsafe, as well
as homes in that area. Downtown needs empty buildings filled. Let's improve the downtown
and offer more NECCESSITIES.

7/9/2025 8:47 AM

93 I can't wait to retire and get away from this shithole Oxford County has become. 7/7/2025 4:01 PM

94 no 7/2/2025 10:03 AM

95 No 7/1/2025 8:58 AM

96 N/a 7/1/2025 6:14 AM

97 Why do we need 2 fire chiefs? 6/30/2025 9:45 PM

98 I would like to see more money spent on infrastructure but not wasted like the money on the
Plattsville calming project, which was a complete waste of money.

6/30/2025 8:20 PM

99 I think things are pretty good other than the money wasted this year on the Plattsville
"calming" on Albert Strret that did absolutely nothing to slow any traffic when a stop sign or
speed bumps would have helped.

6/30/2025 8:04 PM

100 How can MPAC even know or understand the needs in this community 6/30/2025 7:27 PM

101 No 6/30/2025 12:30 PM

102 No 6/30/2025 12:07 PM

103 going up 6/25/2025 11:40 AM

104 By-law does not really enforce much in the smaller communities. Residents won't complain
about a neighbour for fear of being called out or worse.

6/23/2025 9:52 AM

105 No 6/22/2025 7:53 PM

106 Did not see any major improvement in town 6/21/2025 2:45 PM

107 Bylaws are sorely under enforced, and need to be better. Would love to see the roads without
sidewalks better plowed and maintained in the winter for pedestrian traffic as well.

6/17/2025 4:30 PM

108 No 6/17/2025 12:50 PM

109 We have 2 potholes on our sidewalk that have never been fixed since I moved in in 2020.. and
we pay taxes for this.

6/17/2025 9:47 AM

110 Please provide leaf collection in some way! It is very hard to get rid of branches, leaves and
such when you don’t own a truck and have to drive 10 minutes to Drumbo. The trees are
mature in this county and a means of getting rid of them would be very helpful. Thank you.
Please pass this suggestion along to the correction person. Thank you.

6/16/2025 9:23 PM

111 Snow plows on roads in town are so rare during the winter it is hard to get off the streets to go
to work. Hoffsteader road was terrible this winter with more vehicles in the ditch than I’ve seen

6/16/2025 8:40 PM

Item 10.e

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 215 of 245



2026 Budget survey - Township of Blandford-Blenheim and Oxford County

13 / 39

the whole time I’ve lived here. Increased police presence at night. Park services is awesome.

112 We do not have enough police presence and our roads are horrible. More should be done to
improve our roads. Garbage should not be a tag system. Just raise the taxes $50 per house
and get rid of the stupid garbage tags.

6/16/2025 7:50 PM

113 No 6/16/2025 7:17 PM

114 No 6/16/2025 2:23 PM

115 I would actually like to see the township workers do some work. Not just driving township
vehicles around town to their homes or napping in the cemetery.

6/16/2025 2:11 PM

116 Increased police services and roads and bridges open and maintained are import 6/16/2025 2:07 PM

117 No 6/15/2025 6:21 PM

118 No comment 6/15/2025 9:15 AM

119 Vvv 6/14/2025 5:14 PM

120 Please get more gravel roads paved , this is a big issue with me and others on our roads,
either dirt or mud

6/13/2025 5:48 PM

121 the value received is ok but the efficiency is poor i see many trucks just driving around and job
sites with far too many crew

6/13/2025 10:20 AM

122 No 6/13/2025 8:21 AM

123 I understand that taxes have to be shared even if you don’t use the service provided. Kind of
an overall book of taxes but feel that residents that have paid into the taxes for years and
years should have some kinda break. More housing? More affordable housing More incentive
for businesses to levitate the taxes?

6/12/2025 11:42 PM

124 I think the township does a really good job of controlling expenses and I am happy with the
rates we pay and the support we receive. And I am not on council or related to anyone who is!

6/12/2025 10:12 PM

125 No 6/12/2025 8:21 PM

126 No. 6/12/2025 8:02 PM

127 No 6/12/2025 6:47 PM

128 Roads are the worst in this area, there have been roads closed due to bridges for well over 2
yrs. FIX THEM!

6/12/2025 2:48 PM

129 I would like to add that (and I believe I am speaking on the majority of citizens within Bright
specifically), that we do NOT want any more building within the small town. I know multiple
estate homes were built behind Charles ST, however, we moved to this town to escape the
stress, crime, and business of a City. PLEASE do not add more housing occupancy to Bright.
We cannot lose small towns to the prospect of building and earning more property taxes.
Please please please continue to prioritize keeping our small towns as small towns. The more
houses we add, the bigger the population grows, more demand on services, demand on our
already dated water facilities, more crime, and more unhappy citizens. I think this small town
is functioning perfectly and I have no complaints about the way our town is Serviced either.
PLEASE don't allow any more building in Bright. Let's cherish our small towns and keep these
communities from dying off to larger towns which turns into Cities. Plattsville is already
becoming quilte built up and has lost the small-town status for lack of better words. Please
don't let that happen to Bright. Thank-you!

6/12/2025 10:37 AM

130 Police are not aggressive enough in stopping speeding drivers 6/12/2025 8:55 AM

131 N/a 6/11/2025 11:34 PM

132 Policing, By-Law and Roads (snowplowing) has not kept up with greater population and
increase use

6/11/2025 8:24 PM

133 Doesn't seem like much of my tax dollars are being used for the improvements that it is
supposed to be funding in my area. My taxes are double what you listed below yet my property
is not double of the value amount you listed. Doesn't make sense.

6/11/2025 8:20 PM

134 No 6/11/2025 7:32 PM

Item 10.e

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 216 of 245



2026 Budget survey - Township of Blandford-Blenheim and Oxford County

15 / 39

27.27% 36

46.21% 61

21.21% 28

5.30% 7

Q8
In 2025, the Blandford-Blenheim Township share of municipal taxes for
an MPAC-assessed average residential property of $275,000 is

$1,462.*How would you rate the overall value received from your
Blandford-Blenheim Township tax dollars?* This does not include the part

of your municipal tax bill that is paid to Oxford County and to your
preferred Ontario school board.

Answered: 132
 Skipped: 17

TOTAL 132

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Good

Fair

Poor

Not sure

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Good

Fair

Poor

Not sure

Item 10.e

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 217 of 245



2026 Budget survey - Township of Blandford-Blenheim and Oxford County

31 / 39

Q16
Other comments and suggestionsNow it’s your chance to provide
additional information relevant to building next year’s budget. What would

you say are the Top 5 priorities for your community right now? Please
select 5.

Answered: 129
 Skipped: 20

Active living
– Parks, trails

and recreation

Active
transportation

(e.g.,...

Affordable
housing

Arts and
culture

Communication
and

transparency

Downtown
revitalization

Economic
Development

Emergency
Management

Environment/cli
mate

change/susta...

Information -
High-speed

internet
Infrastructure

- Roads,
bridges and...

Infrastructure
– Water and
wastewater

Library
services

Long-term care

Public Health
(Southwestern
Public Health)

Quality
neighbourhoods

– Planning
Quality

neighbourhoods

Item 10.e

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 218 of 245



2026 Budget survey - Township of Blandford-Blenheim and Oxford County

32 / 39

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

– Property...
Safe

communities –
Fire
Safe

communities –
Paramedic...

Safe
communities –

Police

Snow/ice
control

Social
concerns –
Child care

Social
concerns –

Poverty

Transit

Waste
management -

Curbside...

Waste
management –

Waste dispos...

Item 10.e

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 219 of 245



2026 Budget survey - Township of Blandford-Blenheim and Oxford County

33 / 39

28.68% 37

7.75% 10

33.33% 43

2.33% 3

13.95% 18

10.08% 13

17.05% 22

10.08% 13

10.85% 14

26.36% 34

36.43% 47

22.48% 29

11.63% 15

27.13% 35

26.36% 34

10.08% 13

17.05% 22

24.81% 32

31.01% 40

42.64% 55

20.16% 26

10.08% 13

18.60% 24

4.65% 6

30.23% 39

6.20% 8

Total Respondents: 129  

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Active living – Parks, trails and recreation

Active transportation (e.g., pedestrian and cycling infrastructure)

Affordable housing

Arts and culture

Communication and transparency

Downtown revitalization

Economic Development

Emergency Management

Environment/climate change/sustainability

Information - High-speed internet

Infrastructure - Roads, bridges and stormwater

Infrastructure – Water and wastewater

Library services

Long-term care

Public Health (Southwestern Public Health)

Quality neighbourhoods – Planning

Quality neighbourhoods – Property standards and by-law

Safe communities – Fire

Safe communities – Paramedic Services

Safe communities – Police

Snow/ice control

Social concerns – Child care

Social concerns – Poverty

Transit

Waste management - Curbside collection (garbage and new organics program in 2026-2027)

Waste management – Waste disposal (Landfill)

Item 10.e

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 220 of 245



2026 Budget survey - Township of Blandford-Blenheim and Oxford County

34 / 39

Q17
Are there any further comments or suggestions you would like us to
consider for either Blandford-Blenheim Township or Oxford County's 2026

budget?
Answered: 55
 Skipped: 94

# RESPONSES DATE

1 no 8/28/2025 9:26 AM

2 Slow down and stop overdeveloping small communities. We moved to the country to get away
from the city. Stop bringing the city to the country. Develop larger communities first before
using up farmland and ruining small town life. Stop the greedy developers.

8/27/2025 10:01 PM

3 To many county trucks and to much grass road side cutting, and grading 8/26/2025 6:47 PM

4 Garbage bag tags. 1st bag should be free. Additional bags need tags. 8/26/2025 4:32 PM

5 No 8/26/2025 3:02 PM

6 Just that decision makers think of tax dollars as there own and spend only on necessities as
time remain hard and cost of living is out of control. We expect each department to be
accountable for each tax dollar. It is not free money! Someone has worked hard for it.

8/26/2025 10:10 AM

7 High speed Internet access for everyone. Not starlink. 8/25/2025 7:51 PM

8 Paved shoulder on hwy 19 so you can ride bikes to town Stop lights at Ostrander road and
Hwy 19. (accidents waiting to happen) Reduce speed between Ostrander and Tillsonburg

8/19/2025 7:51 PM

9 no 8/19/2025 3:29 PM

10 As our community ages, we need affordable transportation in our area so they can get around,
doctors, shopping and recreation. If one does drive one cannot leave one's home.

8/16/2025 9:17 PM

11 Replace aging bridges 8/14/2025 12:38 AM

12 Links don't work, Council doesn't look out for Plattsville because they are only doing what the
county or province says, so why have council?

8/13/2025 6:35 PM

13 No 8/13/2025 12:09 PM

14 Strong supporter of recreation and cultural activities that build a strong community Spray park
in Princeton Cycling trails that connect to Transcanada trails

8/13/2025 8:55 AM

15 I find the Townships website hard to find information using the search functions. Council
meetings are hard to hear on youtube.

8/12/2025 7:25 AM

16 no 8/10/2025 7:41 PM

17 No 8/10/2025 8:34 AM

18 Put garbage cans and pick up around Drumbo 8/10/2025 8:19 AM

19 Install sewage lines in roads for household sewage
Open school back up in Princeton 8/9/2025 10:23 PM

20 Re: affordable housing, there needs to be a way to follow up and support residents with
maintenance and upkeep to keep property from looking derelict. We appreciate the opportunity
to provide input and feedback.

8/9/2025 7:19 PM

21 Keep tax increases in line with CPI instead of gouging taxpayers with inflationary increases
every year, something thats been going on now for four years in a row. This is unsustainable.

8/9/2025 1:52 PM

22 no 8/7/2025 8:42 AM

23 I continue to be impressed with the parks and amenities available in plattsville (eg. Arena,
splash pad, sports pad, tennis courts, ball diamond, park etc.)

8/6/2025 4:39 PM

Item 10.e

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 221 of 245



2026 Budget survey - Township of Blandford-Blenheim and Oxford County

35 / 39

24 Maintenance on highway two the amount of dead trees and brush that needs to be cleared is
insane and no one has done anything about it for the last five years that we have lived here

8/6/2025 1:43 PM

25 I would like to opt out of the organics program. I live in the country so I don't need it and won't
use it.

8/5/2025 5:49 PM

26 No 8/5/2025 5:36 PM

27 get rid of the twp offices, most of employees and the mayors as county makes the final
decisions any way. Cancel the EV charging sites slated to be put in around the twps.

8/5/2025 2:40 PM

28 No 7/25/2025 8:25 PM

29 More business. Need to bring in more to keep taxes at bay 7/22/2025 5:34 PM

30 Be accountable to tax payers. 7/22/2025 3:00 PM

31 Pave more roads 7/21/2025 10:41 PM

32 No 7/21/2025 7:07 PM

33 No 7/21/2025 4:03 PM

34 - 7/18/2025 12:09 PM

35 Stop hiring extra people. More people should be multi tasking. Their work does not justify huge
salaries. Especially bylaws department when you can see that nothing is being done about
vacant buildings, long weeds, unkempt properties. Some vacant buildings have rats in them
now. Neighbours and others hesitate to complain due to lack of confidentiality. Visitors to
Drumbo often exclaim, why are there so many unkept and disgusting properties!

7/9/2025 8:47 AM

36 no 7/2/2025 10:03 AM

37 No 7/1/2025 6:14 AM

38 No 6/30/2025 12:30 PM

39 I am concerned that the salaries for BB Township employees are significantly higher than the
average household income. In this time of increasing poverty and homelessness it behooves
decision makers to give serious consideration to this aspect of the budget.

6/30/2025 12:07 PM

40 water needs an overhaul, its very bad 6/25/2025 11:40 AM

41 Needs more lights in town Need pedestrians safe crosswalk with lights activated for students
going to school even for after school activities Need more streetlights to limit crime during
night times

6/21/2025 2:45 PM

42 Cap the water & sewer fees as well as the garbage fees. 6/17/2025 4:30 PM

43 No 6/17/2025 12:50 PM

44 Get rid of the garbage tags and stop looping in the smaller communities with Woodstock.
Woodstock has its own issues that does not affect the smaller communities.

6/16/2025 7:50 PM

45 No 6/16/2025 7:17 PM

46 I understand that our township is not required to have a CAO because of the population size,
so why do we need one? The salary alone would be a great savings.

6/16/2025 2:23 PM

47 Tax increases are unavoidable and as a long term homeowner I’m ok with increases when
those services are reflected. Tough to keep seeing Plattsville only have housing growth a
larger bedroom community we’ve stayed here for 16 years hoping to see growth in amenities
and the water! The main reasons we will likely leave

6/16/2025 2:07 PM

48 look for efficiencies and stay at or below the cost of living 6/13/2025 10:20 AM

49 No 6/13/2025 8:21 AM

50 We need to grow in many areas only if it will help in the reduction or keeping taxes at bay.
Keep people coming to our community. We need maple grove to expand for people that have
lived in the community so long and want to stay. We need more affordable housing. The more
options we have the more monies will be put into our two. I have never had. Problem with our

6/12/2025 11:42 PM

Item 10.e

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 222 of 245



2026 Budget survey - Township of Blandford-Blenheim and Oxford County

36 / 39

emergency section of ambulance or fire. Policing is another story. We need the station back
here. Would that cut costs. With a small town of ours circumstances are not as huge as a
bigger city. Time factor in their response is not as good as it was. Ingersoll is too far for
response time. Central location for the small communities. We want people to stay. Not defer
them from us. Drumbo is detour city. We are close to major highways. Water and sewer should
have been calculated for growth and not burdened on people who have lived most of their lives
here. Bringing in more taxes should lessen the burden on the faithful business and faithful
people who have supported the township for years. And those people should be looked upon
and reassessed accordingly. It’s hard in our times. Hard with our economy the way it is but
something can and should be done. Don’t drown us

51 No 6/12/2025 8:21 PM

52 Police need to target the aggressive, speeding and dangerous drivers. The amount of
unnecessary transport trucks that are speeding through Drumbo is NOT being stopped. Why
are there never police on Oxford Road 29 during the hours of 5am to 9am and 3pm to 7pm
when most of the nonsense is taking place???

6/12/2025 8:55 AM

53 N/a 6/11/2025 11:34 PM

54 Let's hope not another tax increase for everyone 6/11/2025 8:20 PM

55 Just to reiterate the importance of a good sustainable water supply for Bright. 6/11/2025 7:32 PM

Item 10.e

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 223 of 245



2026 Budget survey - Township of Blandford-Blenheim and Oxford County

37 / 39

52.54% 62

18.64% 22

55.93% 66

38.14% 45

29.66% 35

23.73% 28

3.39% 4

4.24% 5

Q18
In addition to this survey, there are other ways to learn more and have
a say on the budget process.How would you like to be informed about the

Oxford County and/or the Township of Blandford-Blenheim budgets?
Select all that apply.

Answered: 118
 Skipped: 31

Total Respondents: 118  

# OTHER (PLEASE EXPLAIN) DATE

1 Mail 8/29/2025 10:19 PM

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Website updates

Council Budget
meetings

Social media

E-mail or
e-alerts from

website
Newsletter,

summary or fact
sheet/infogr...

Local news
media

(newspaper,...

Podcast or
video

Other (please
explain)

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Website updates

Council Budget meetings

Social media

E-mail or e-alerts from website

Newsletter, summary or fact sheet/infographic

Local news media (newspaper, radio)

Podcast or video

Other (please explain)

Item 10.e

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 224 of 245



2026 Budget survey - Township of Blandford-Blenheim and Oxford County

38 / 39

2 Mail 8/25/2025 7:51 PM

3 Town Hall meetings 8/16/2025 9:17 PM

4 One that way works 8/13/2025 6:35 PM

5 make finding information more efficient in search engine on website 8/12/2025 7:25 AM

Item 10.e

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 225 of 245



2026 Budget survey - Township of Blandford-Blenheim and Oxford County

39 / 39

Q19
How would you rate this survey?
Answered: 91
 Skipped: 58

3.30%
3

1.10%
1

19.78%
18

50.55%
46

25.27%
23

 
91

 
3.93

3.9
average rating

  1 2 3 4 5 TOTAL WEIGHTED AVERAGE

S

Item 10.e

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 226 of 245



TOWNSHIP OF BLANDFORD-BLENHEIM

To: Members of Council

From: Kevin Brandt, Deputy Clerk/Communications Coordinator

Reviewed by: Sarah Matheson, Director of Corporate Services/Clerk

Date: September 19, 2025

Council Meeting Date: October 1, 2025

Report Title:  Installation of Third Flag Pole

Report  No.: DC-25-13

Recommendation:

That Report DC-25-13 be received for information; and,
 
That Council direct staff to include $4,300 in a future budget cycle for the purchase and installation 
of a third flag pole at the Township Administration Office; and further, 

That Council adopt the Flag Protocol Policy revision, to include the installation of a third flag pole, 
as attached to Report DC-25-13.

Executive Summary:

This report recommends installing a third flag pole at the Township Administration Office and 
amending the Flag Protocol Policy to permanently fly the Canadian and Ontario flags, reserving 
the third pole for community recognition. The estimated cost is $4,300, to be included in a future 
budget. This change enhances civic pride, supports community engagement, and aligns with 
Council’s 2025–2028 Strategic Plan priorities for an engaged, inclusive, and informed 
community.

Background:

The Township’s Flag Protocol Policy currently outlines the guidelines for flying flags on municipal 
property. At present, the Township Administration Office is equipped with two flag poles, which 
are used to display the Canadian flag and either the Ontario flag or an approved community or 

Item 10.f

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 227 of 245



organizational flag. This configuration limits the Township’s ability to display both the Canadian 
and Ontario flags at the same time while also recognizing community initiatives or organizations 
of significance. On August 6, 2025, Councillor Barnes submitted a notice of motion directing staff 
to assess the costs and prepare a draft amendment to the policy, which was adopted by Council: 

WHEREAS the Township’s current Flag Protocol Policy provides guidelines for the flying 
of flags on municipal property; and,
 
WHEREAS the existing layout accommodates only two flag poles, which display the 
Canadian Flag and either the Ontario Flag or a flag recognizing a community event or 
organization; and,
 
WHEREAS the lack of a third flag pole limits the Township’s ability to consistently fly 
both the Canadian and Ontario flags while also celebrating local achievements or 
recognizing organizations of significance in accordance with the Policy;
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council direct staff to prepare a staff 
report and draft amendment to the Flag Protocol Policy that includes:

• An assessment of the estimated costs of installing a third flag pole at the Township 
Office location; and,
 • A draft policy amendment to enable permanent flying of both the Canadian and Ontario 
flags, with the third flag pole reserved for:

o Celebrating community initiatives;
 o Increasing public awareness of Township programs and activities;
 o Acknowledging organizations that have achieved national or international 
distinction or made significant contributions to the community; or
 o Recognizing organizations that have enhanced the Township in a positive 
manner;

 
AND THAT staff be directed to prepare a report for Council consideration at a future 
meeting.

Analysis & Discussion:

A supplier has provided a quote of approximately $4,300 to deliver and install a new flag pole at 
the Administration Office. This estimate includes all labour, materials, and equipment required for 
the project. At present, there are no funds allocated for this expense in the 2025 operating budget. 
Should Council wish to proceed, funding would need to be incorporated into a future budget cycle, 
such as the 2026 capital or operating budget.

Staff also recommend preparing a future report to amend the Flag Protocol Policy. The proposed 
amendment would ensure that both the Canadian and Ontario flags are permanently flown at the 
Township Administration Office. The third flag pole would be reserved for specific purposes, 
including celebrating community initiatives, increasing public awareness of Township programs 
and activities, acknowledging organizations that have achieved national or international 
distinction or made significant contributions to the community, and recognizing organizations that 
have positively enhanced the Township.
 

Item 10.f

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 228 of 245



The installation of a third flag pole and corresponding policy update would bring several benefits. 
It would enhance civic pride and foster greater community engagement, while also providing the 
flexibility to honour local organizations without displacing the Canadian or Ontario flags. 
Furthermore, this approach aligns with best practices followed by neighbouring municipalities.

Strategic Priorities:

This report directly aligns with Council’s adopted Strategic Plan (2025–2028) and its 
commitment to fostering a connected, inclusive, and informed community.
 

 Engaged & Informed Community – Supports transparency and community pride.
 Community Well-Being & Inclusivity – Recognizes local achievements and promotes 

inclusivity through visible symbols of recognition.

Financial Considerations:

The estimated cost for the installation, including labour, materials, and equipment, is $4,300. As 
there is no current funding available in the 2025 budget, this expense would need to be 
considered during the 2026 budget deliberations or included in a future budget cycle.

Respectfully submitted by:

Kevin Brandt
Deputy Clerk/Communications Coordinator

Appendix: 

Flag Protocol Policy - Revised

Follow up

In adopting this report, what follow up action is required?
☐ By-law
☐ Agreement(s)/document(s) to be signed by Mayor and/or Clerk 
☐ Social media/Website update or communication 
☐ Other communication – Specify:  

Item 10.f

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 229 of 245



Policies and Procedures
The Corporation of the Township of Blandford-Blenheim

Department: Clerk Effective: September 21, 2016
Subject: Flag Protocol Policy Policy

Number:
Approved by:
Resolution Number:
Date of
Review:

Review
Number:

Change: Reference Section:

October 6,
2021

1 Approved Flags & Flags for 
Proclamations

May 17, 2023 2 Flying Flags on the Community 
Flag Pole

March 19,
2025

October 1, 
2025

3

            4

Clarification of half-masting,
Duration of Flying Flags on the 
Community Flag Pole

 Installation of Third Flag Pole

PURPOSE:

The purpose of this policy is to establish a standardized protocol for the flying of flags at 
Township of Blandford-Blenheim municipal facilities.

DETAILS:

Application:

This policy applies to all flags flown at Blandford-Blenheim municipal facilities.

General Flag Protocol – Approved Flags

Flags approved to be flown on Township owned properties are:
 the National flag of Canada;
 the Township of Blandford-Blenheim official flag;
 the official flag for the Province of Ontario

The Chief Administrative Officer may approve the raising of the following flags on 
municipal flagpoles:

Item 10.f

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 230 of 245



All flags shall be maintained in good condition and repaired or replaced at any sign of 
damage or discoloration. When a flag is no longer in a suitable condition for use, it should 
be destroyed in a dignified way.

Protocol for Flying Flags at Half-Mast

The Township's protocol for flying a flag a half-mast will be:

For Periods of Official Mourning

Flags will be flown at half-mast to mark periods of official mourning upon the death of:

 The Sovereign and members of the Royal Family;
 The Governor General of Canada, or a former Governor General;
 The Prime Minister of Canada, or a former Prime Minister;
 The Lieutenant Governor of Ontario;
 The Premier of Ontario;
 A Federal Member of Parliament in Oxford County;
 A Provincial Member of Parliament in Oxford County;
 The Mayor of the Township of Blandford-Blenheim, or a former Mayor;
 A Member of the Township of Blandford-Blenheim Council, or a former 

Member of Council;
 The Oxford County Warden, or a former Warden;
 A current employee of the Township of Blandford-Blenheim;
 A Firefighter with the Township of Blandford-Blenheim who dies in the line of duty;
 An Oxford County Ontario Provincial Police Officer who dies in the line of duty;
 A resident of the Township of Blandford-Blenheim, who is a member of the 

Canadian Armed Forces, who dies in the line of duty.

All corporate flags will be flown at half-mast, in the case of a national or provincial official, 
for the duration established by the appropriate federal or provincial protocol office. In the 
case of other persons, all corporate flags will be flown at half-mast from the date the 
notice of death is received, up to and including the day of the funeral. If there is no 
funeral, then all corporate flags will be flown at half-mast for a period of time determined 
by the Chief Administrative Officer.

All corporate flags will be flown at half-mast annually to commemorate Remembrance Day 
(November 11). All corporate flags will also be flown at half-mast for other periods of 
official mourning and solemn occasions that are in keeping with the general principals of 
this policy, and as approved by the Chief Administrative Officer or designate.

Proclamations

The Township of Blandford-Blenheim shall not issue proclamations.

Item 10.f

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 231 of 245



Flag Flying on the Community Flag Pole

A third flag pole has been installed at the Township Administration Office to enhance 
community engagement and civic pride. This third flag pole, designated as the Community Flag 
Pole, may be used for celebrating local community initiatives or events, increasing public 
awareness of Township programs and activities, acknowledging organizations or individuals 
that have achieved national or international distinction or made significant contributions to the 
community, and recognizing organizations that have enhanced the Township in a positive 
manner. The Canadian and Ontario flags will remain permanently flown on their respective 
poles, ensuring they are not displaced by temporary displays.

In the event of a visit by a dignitary to the Township of Blandford-Blenheim, the Township 
may fly a flag representing that dignitary. The flying of a flag to mark the dignitary’s visit will 
be made only after consulting with an appropriate protocol officer responsible for 
coordinating the visit. Flags may be raised in recognition of visiting dignitaries at the 
discretion of the Mayor or Chief Administrative Officer (CAO).

Township Council authorizes decisions regarding the flying of flags by special permission at 
the Community Flag Pole to be made at the discretion of the CAO.

Requests for the raising and displaying of flags may be approved for:

• Community service, charitable or not-for profit organizations and/or public 
awareness campaigns;
• To support fund-raising activities;
• Celebrate achievement;
• Celebrate multi-cultural and civic events;
• Promote Diversity and Inclusion;
• Improve public awareness of programs and/or activities;
• Acknowledge an organization that has achieved national or international 
distinction or made a significant contribution to the community;
• An organization that has helped to enhance the Township in a positive 

manner Requests will not be approved where the flag flying relates to:

• Celebrations, campaigns or events with no direct relationship to the Township of 
Blandford-Blenheim;
• Celebrations, campaigns or events intended for profit making purposes;
• Celebrations, campaigns or events intended to defame the integrity of the Township;
• Celebrations, campaigns or events deemed inappropriate by the Mayor or CAO;
• Attempting to influence government policy; or
• The Township will not fly the flag of a group or organization whose undertakings or 
philosophy are contrary to Township of Blandford-Blenheim policies or by-laws, 

Item 10.f

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 232 of 245



espouse hatred, violence, prejudice or racism, or are politically or religiously motivated 
or represent other individual conviction.

All requests for flag flying should be made to the CAO a minimum of four (4) weeks prior to 
the requested date, in writing, and include the following information:

• Name of the requesting organization or individual;
• Contact information (phone, email, etc.);
• Details of requested event or occasion including date(s);
• Explanation of the purpose of the event or occasion;
• Picture of the flag to be flown;
• Description of the applicant organization or individual including a brief history, and 
any other relevant information.

The CAO will determine the timing and duration of flags requested to be flown on the 
community-designated pole. The maximum duration for any flag to be flown shall be one 
(1) week, unless the applicant can demonstrate that the initiative or cause requires a 
longer period. For events with a duration longer than one week, the applicant may request 
a longer duration. The CAO will review such requests on a case-by-case basis and may 
approve a duration of up to one (1) month, where justified.

Individuals and organizations requesting the flag flying are required to provide the flag to be raised to 
the CAO at least one (1) week prior to the flag raising.

Flags may be no larger than 1.83 meters (6ft) in width and 0.91 meters (3ft) in height.

Notification to the media and advertising related to flag flying is the responsibility of the 
requesting party.

An organization’s flag shall be flown no more than once per calendar year.

Organizations shall be required to submit a separate flag flying request for each 

occasion. The Township is not responsible for damaged or lost flags.

In the event there is a dispute between an organization and the CAO as to the eligibility of a 
request, the appeal process shall be through the Municipal Council having full and final say 
as to whether or not the request to fly a flag will be granted.

Flags shall only be raised and lowered on those business days the Township office is open.

The Township of Blandford-Blenheim does not imply or express support for, or approval of, 
the politics or opinions expressed by the groups or organizations whose flag is flown in 
accordance with this policy.

Item 10.f

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 233 of 245



TOWNSHIP OF BLANDFORD-BLENHEIM

To: Members of Council

From: Sarah Matheson, Director of Corporate Services / Clerk

Reviewed by: Josh Brick, Chief Administrative Officer

Date: September 23, 2025

Council Meeting Date: October 1, 2025

Report Title:  Frivolous, Vexatious, or Unreasonable Complaints Policy

Report  No.: DC-25-14

Recommendation:

That Report DC-25-14 be received as information; and further,

That Council adopt the Frivolous, Vexatious or Unreasonable Complaints Policy, as attached to 
Report DC-25-14.

Executive Summary:

Township Staff are requesting the approval of a Frivolous, Vexatious or Unreasonable 
Complaints Policy. The Township intends, by these policies, to ensure that all interactions with 
the public are dealt with consistently, fairly, and reasonably and that staff are protected from 
inappropriate behaviour.

Background:

The Township is committed to providing exemplary service to all members of the public and 
aims to respond to service requests and complaints in an equitable, comprehensive, and timely 
manner.
 
With the passage of Bill 8, the Public Sector and MPP Accountability and Transparency Act, 
2014 (“Bill 8”), the Ontario Ombudsman’s oversight authority was expanded to investigate 
complaints at the municipal level, only after local investigations have been completed. 

Item 10.g

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 234 of 245



 
This Report seeks Council approval of a policy which is meant to deal with interactions that are 
deemed to be frivolous, vexatious or unreasonable. These terms are defined in the policy, 
however, for ease of reference, they are understood generally as complaints that unreasonably 
consume a disproportionate amount of staff time/resources, or that might be intended to 
embarrass, annoy, or abuse.  
 
Staff understand the unique role that the Township has in balancing respect for its residents’ 
Charter rights to freedom of thought, belief, opinion, and expression, with its obligations to staff 
under the Occupational Health and Safety Act and Common Law to provide a safe work 
environment free from harassment and discrimination. At the same time, the Township 
recognizes that dealing with frivolous, vexatious and unreasonable conduct from the public 
consumes a disproportionate amount of staff’s time and resources and may compromise the 
Township’s ability to:  
 govern effectively;  
 spend fair and equitable time and resources on other essential issues and projects; and,
 deliver excellence in customer service in an equitable, efficient, and effective manner.

 
Frivolous, Vexatious and Unreasonable Complaints Policies have been adopted by other 
municipalities in recent years. Municipalities such as City of Oshawa (2021), Town of Blue 
Mountains (2022), and the Township of Malahide (2024) have enacted similar policies.
 
Due to the potential for competing interests, it is important to establish a framework that helps 
both staff and the public understand the acceptable boundaries of engagement and identify 
appropriate responses. Any limitations placed on an individual’s fundamental freedoms must be 
justified, clearly linked to their intended purpose, and as minimally restrictive as possible.

Analysis & Discussion:

The Frivolous, Vexatious and Unreasonable Complaint Policy is intended to guide staff in 
identifying situations that are consuming a disproportionate amount of staff time and resources 
and meet the criteria of frivolous, vexatious, or unreasonable. Some examples of this include 
(but are not limited to): 
 unreasonable expectations for Township engagement in neighbour disputes; 
 multiple lines of inquiry regarding the same issue (pursuing a complaint with Township 

staff in multiple departments and/or elected officials simultaneously); or,
 repeated engagement for the purpose of challenging the findings of an investigation 

and/or denying that an adequate response was given; or 
 refusal to accept that an issue falls outside of the scope of the Township’s jurisdiction 

(i.e. matters of a civil nature or within the jurisdiction of another governing body). 
 
Examples of inappropriate behaviour and frivolous, vexatious, or unreasonable conduct are 
given in the policies, without reliance on a strict definition in order to allow some flexibility. 
 
The proposed policy outlines actions that may be taken in such circumstances to ensure 
municipal resources are used effectively and efficiently for all members of the public. The 
policy is meant to prevent arbitrariness, while also permitting enough fluidity to allow each 
case to be dealt with in its own circumstances so that where restrictions are found to be 
justified, they can be tailored as appropriate.
 

Item 10.g

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 235 of 245



The proposed policy outlines a procedure for addressing the conduct or behaviour that includes 
proper documentation and reporting. In the event of inappropriate conduct, the Director of the 
reporting staff member’s division or their designate will review the information provided by staff 
and determine whether restrictions are warranted. In the event of frivolous, vexatious, or 
unreasonable conduct, the decision will be made by a panel of Senior Management Team 
members who will be asked to consider the information and recommendations provided by staff 
to determine whether restrictions are warranted. 
Where restrictions are imposed, written notice is provided to the member of the public with a 
date of review, at which time the restrictions may be removed, extended, or modified. Should 
the member of the public wish to appeal the decision, they may do so in writing to the Chief 
Administrative Officer.
 
It is important to note that staff shall make every effort to meet and exceed the expectations of 
members of the public. It may be rare that an interaction escalates to warranting the application 
of the proposed policy. However, having this policy in place ensures that any restriction of the 
rights of the public is done fairly and in accordance with due process. It is staff’s view that this 
policy not only provides guidance to employees, but also to the public, in determining what is 
considered acceptable behaviour when interacting with staff or other members of the public. 
The proposed policy also outlines what steps may be taken when behaviour is deemed to be 
frivolous, vexatious or unreasonable. It also provides any person subject to restrictions made 
under those policies clear avenues of review and appeal.

Strategic Priorities:

Excellence in Public Service
• Proposed policy upholds transparency and accountability in public service delivery while 

ensuring that staff time and resources are being used efficiently and effectively.

Financial Considerations:

None.

Respectfully submitted by:

Sarah Matheson, 
Director of Corporate Services / Clerk

Appendix:

Proposed Frivolous, Vexatious and Unreasonable Complaints Policy.

Follow up

In adopting this report, what follow up action is required?
☐ By-law
☐ Agreement(s)/document(s) to be signed by Mayor and/or Clerk 
☐ Social media/Website update or communication 
☐ Other communication – Specify:  

Item 10.g

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 236 of 245



Page 1 of 8

Purpose:

The purpose of this policy is to address frivolous, vexatious or unreasonable requests or 
complaints that consume a disproportionate amount of Township staff time and resources, 
ultimately impeding Employees from attending to other essential issues. 

The purpose of this policy is further to guide employees to identify situations that meet the 
criteria of frivolous, vexatious or unreasonable, and the associated actions that may be taken in 
such circumstances. Actions taken pursuant to this policy will ensure that municipal resources 
are used effectively and efficiently, while maintaining a high level of service excellence and 
responsiveness to all members of the public

Details:

Application: 

This policy applies to all Employees of the Township of Blandford-Blenheim. This policy is not 
intended to deal with generally difficult requests or complaints. This policy applies to frivolous, 
vexatious or unreasonably persistent requests or complaints and is designed to provide 
members of the public and employees with the tools needed to ensure municipal resources are 
managed equitably for all members of the public.

This policy does not apply to: 
• Complaints about Members of Council, Members of Committees of Council and Local 

Boards (as they are governed by the Code of Conduct for Members of Council and Local 
Boards and investigated by the Integrity Commissioner); 

• Members of advisory and quasi-judicial committees and local and other boards; 
• A function where there is a statutory or prescribed process for review, or which is governed 

by specific legislation; 
• Complaints from employees about other employees or working conditions; 

Policies and Procedures
The Corporation of the Township of Blandford-Blenheim

Department: Clerks Effective:
Subject: Frivolous, Vexatious or 

Unreasonable Complaints Policy
Policy 
Number:

Approved by:
Resolution Number:
Date of 
Review:

Review 
Number:

Change: Reference Section:

Item 10.g

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 237 of 245



Page 2 of 8

• Allegations of violations of Canada’s Criminal Code. 

This policy does not apply where legal action against the Township or a Township official has 
been threatened or commenced.

Definitions:

C.A.O.: Chief Administrative Officer of the Township of Blandford-Blenheim. 

Committee Member: an individual appointed by Council to a specific Committee of Council. 

Complainant: a person who is submitting a Complaint . Any person who uses or is affected by 
Township services can submit a Complaint including residents, visitors, businesses and 
community groups. 

Complaint: an expression of dissatisfaction related to a Town of The Blue Mountain’s program, 
service, facility, or staff member, where a member of the public believes that the Town has not 
provided a service experience to the customer’s satisfaction at the point of service delivery and 
a response or resolution is explicitly or implicitly expected. 

Council: the Council of the Township of Blandford-Blenheim as a whole. 

Council Member: an individual member of Council, including the Mayor. 

Employee: all full-time, part-time, temporary, seasonal and staff hired on a contract basis for a 
defined period of time, of the Township as well as students. 

Feedback: an opinion or comment about a program, facility, service, or employee, by a 
member of the public. 

Frivolous: a Complaint /Request that has no serious purpose or value or may have little merit 
and be trivial and is part of a pattern of conduct that amounts to an abuse of the right of
access, interferes with the operations of the institution, or is made in bad faith or for a purpose 
other than to obtain access. 

Harassment or Harass: engaging in a course of behaviour, comment or conduct, whether it 
occurs inside or outside the work environment, that is or ought reasonably to be known to be 
unwanted. It includes but is not limited to any behaviour, conduct or comment that is directed at 
or is offensive to another person: 

a. on the grounds of race, ancestry, place of origin, colour, ethnic origin, citizenship, 
creed, sex, age, disability, sexual orientation, marital status, or family status, as well as 
any other grounds under the provisions of the Human Rights Code; or 
b. which is reasonably perceived by the recipient as an intention to bully, embarrass, 
intimidate or ridicule the recipient. 

Ombudsman: the Ombudsman of Ontario.

Request: the act of asking for something to be given or done, such as request made to the 
Township on behalf of a member of the public for a specific service, or to notify the Township 

Item 10.g

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 238 of 245



Page 3 of 8

that a scheduled service was not provided on time. Examples include: requesting road repairs, 
missed garbage collection, burnt out street light, no water service, by-law infraction. 
Unreasonable: a complaint/request that is likely to cause distress or disruption to the 
Township, its employees or other members of the public, without any proper or justified cause. 
Behaviour that, because of the nature or frequency of a complainant’s contact with the 
Township, negatively affects the ability to deal with their complaints or those of others.
 
Vexatious: a complaint/request without merit, that is pursued in a manner that is malicious, 
intended to inconvenience, embarrass or harass the recipient or is a pattern of conduct by the 
complainant that amounts to the misuse of processes and procedures.

Procedures:

Identifying the Conduct or Behaviour

The decision to classify someone’s behaviour as unreasonable, or to classify a request or 
complaint as frivolous or vexatious, could have serious consequences for the individual, including 
restricting their access to Township services, facilities, and staff. The decision may be as a result 
of a repeated pattern of conduct when, on several occasions, a person engages in one or more 
behaviours or actions identified as unreasonable, frivolous and/or vexatious, or it may be a single 
significant incident that requires the invocation of this policy. If an incident presents an immediate 
threat, contact emergency services.
 
Although each case must be determined in light of its own circumstances, below are examples 
meant to help staff identify frivolous, vexatious or unreasonable conduct. It is understood that 
these examples are not determinative; the list is not exhaustive, nor does any action set out in 
the list necessitate application of this policy.

Examples of frivolous, vexatious, or unreasonable conduct may include, but are not limited to: 
• Complaints, inquiries, demands regarding an issue which staff have already investigated 

and determined to be groundless; 
• Covertly recording meetings and conversations with the Township; 
• Complaints concerning an issue which is substantially similar to an issue which staff have 

already investigated and determined to be groundless (i.e., with respect to the same party 
or same property); 

• Unreasonable conduct, which is abusive of the Township’s processes, including but not 
limited to: 
▪ Excessive or multiple lines of inquiry regarding the same issue (i.e., pursuing a 

complaint with employees in multiple departments and/or Council or Committee 
members simultaneously), while a complaint is being investigated or has been 
deemed to be groundless; 

▪ Repeatedly challenging the findings of a Complaint investigation, complaining 
about the outcome and/or denying that an adequate response was given; 

▪ Refusing to accept that an issue falls outside the scope of the Township’s 
jurisdiction; 

▪ Making unreasonable demands on employees by, for example, insisting on 
responses to complaints and inquiries within an unreasonable timeframe, 
demanding meetings with employees without justifiable reason, excessive 
correspondence either to one member of Township staff in a short time frame, or to 
numerous employees; 

Item 10.g

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 239 of 245



Page 4 of 8

▪ Making statements or providing representations that the complainant knows or 
ought to know are incorrect, or persuading others to do so; 

▪ Demanding special treatment from employees by, for example, not following the 
normal chain of command and immediately demanding to speak to a manager or 
supervisor; 

▪ Using new complaints to resurrect issues which were investigated and completed 
in previous complaints; 

▪ Changing the basis of the complaint as the investigation progresses and/or denying 
statements made at an earlier stage; 

▪ Refusing to cooperate with the investigation process while still wanting the 
complaint to be resolved; 

▪ Failing to clearly identify the precise issues of the complaint, despite reasonable 
efforts of employees to obtain clarification of the concerns; 

▪ Making unjustified complaints or defamatory remarks about employees in an effort 
to see them disciplined; or 

▪ Providing false or misleading information. 

Each situation will be considered on a case-by-case basis. The decision to classify the 
Complainant’s conduct as frivolous, vexatious or unreasonable will be made by the relevant 
Manager or designate, in consultation with the Senior Management Team. 

Deciding whether a Complainant’s conduct is frivolous, vexatious or unreasonable requires a 
flexible approach, taking into account all circumstances. There are no rigid tests or criteria for 
deciding whether conduct is frivolous, vexatious or unreasonable. The key question is whether 
there is a pattern of conduct likely to cause distress, disruption, or irritation, without proper or 
justified cause. The decision may be made as a result of one or more behaviours identified as 
frivolous, vexatious or unreasonable. Staff must establish, through documented words and/or 
actions of the Complainant (i.e., Emails, letters, posts on social media, photographs, voicemails, 
and staff notes reporting a conversation or incident), that the conduct of the Complainant is 
frivolous, vexatious or unreasonable, before applying the restrictions outlined in this policy.

Responsibilities

Employees: 
Employees are to have knowledge and understanding of the purpose of receiving complaints, the 
process through which a complaint can be made and the service standards that apply to 
complaints. They are to be aware of this policy and any accompanying guidelines and protocols. 

Directors, Managers and Supervisors: 
Directors, Managers and Supervisors are responsible for ensuring that relevant Employees are 
aware of and trained on this policy and any accompanying guidelines and protocols. 

Municipal Clerk: 
The Township Clerk is responsible to consult with contracted Legal Services and the C.A.O. in 
the application of the policy. 

Senior Management Team: 
Senior Management Team is responsible for ensuring this policy is applied organization-wide and 
adhered to by all Employees of the Township and for clarifying and resolving any ambiguity, which 
may exist within this policy. 

Item 10.g

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 240 of 245



Page 5 of 8

Members of Council and Committees: 
Members of Council and Committees will consult with the C.A.O. and the Integrity Commissioner, 
if necessary, regarding cases of unreasonable behaviour and/or frivolous and vexatious action 
that the Member wishes to address, as described in this policy. Upon being consulted by a 
Member of Council or Committees, the Integrity Commissioner shall provide advice to the 
Member respecting any proposed action under this policy as it relates to the Member’s obligations 
under the Code of Conduct for Members of Council.

Customers/ Members of the Public: 
Customers / Members of the Public are asked to recognize that the Township must consider the 
needs of the whole community. They are to provide honest and respectful communication with a 
goal to improving services.

Legislative Overview

The Municipal Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act, R.S.O. 1990, c.M. 56, 
provides that a request for information may be denied if, on reasonable grounds, it is found to be 
frivolous or vexatious. 

The Township has a general legislated duty under the Occupiers’ Liability Act, R.S.O. 1990, c 
0.2, to take such care, as in all the circumstances is reasonable, for any persons entering on its 
premises, and the property brought on the premises are reasonably safe. The Township has 
further duties under the Occupational Health and Safety Act, R.S.O. 1990, c 0.1, to address 
workplace violence and harassment and to: 

• make reasonable efforts to provide a safe, healthy working environment for its Employees; 
• ensure that all persons on the property are reasonably safe while on the premises; and, 
• make reasonable efforts to provide for the safety of all Council, Employees, and the public 

in Township operations and in public use of Township facilities. 

Addressing the Conduct or Behaviour

1. Employee Review

In the event suspected frivolous, vexatious or unreasonable conduct is experienced or observed, 
the Employee will consult with their Manager or Supervisor providing any supporting materials 
identifying the nature of the conduct including, as appropriate: 

• The number of requests and complaints made by the Complainant and the status of each; 
• The length of time that Employees have been in contact with the Complainant, including 

the time and resources invested in the issue(s); 
• The history of the interactions (where appropriate) and the amount of correspondence that 

has been exchanged with the Complainant; 
• A summary of the steps taken by Employees to resolve the issue; 
• The nature of the Complainant’s behaviour. 

Employees may choose to contact their Manager or Supervisor for assistance prior to a pattern 
of conduct being established if the Complainant’s behaviour is of concern.

2. Manager/Supervisor Review

Item 10.g

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 241 of 245



Page 6 of 8

• Review the information provided by Employees and determine in a timely manner to 
determine whether: 
▪ The Request has been dealt with properly and in line with the relevant 

procedures; 
▪ Employees have made reasonable efforts to satisfy or resolve the request; 
▪ That the Complainant is not presenting new material or information that 

demonstrates there is an issue within the scope of Township services and/or 
jurisdiction. 

• Determine if the Complainant’s conduct warrants the application of restrictions; and 
• Work with Employees and the Director to determine appropriate restrictions, how to 

inform the Complainant of the restrictions and determine a review date for removing, 
modifying, or continuing restrictions. 

3. A panel of the Senior Management Team (or their appropriate designates) consisting of 
no less than 2 persons, not including the Manager/Supervisor, will review the information 
provided by Employees, as well as the determination by the Manager/Supervisor with 
respect to proposed restrictions and review date, and determine whether:

• The Request has been properly investigated; 
• Communication with the Complainant has been adequate; 
• The proposed restrictions and proposed review date are justified in light of the 

circumstances; 
• The Complainant is not attempting to provide any significant new information 

that would warrant further Employee engagement; and,
• Any restriction(s) placed on an individual on behalf of a Council or Committee 

Member under this policy shall be administered by the C.A.O 

Application of Restrictions and Notice
 

When a decision has been made to classify the Complainant’s conduct as frivolous, vexatious or 
unreasonable, the Complainant (where possible and appropriate) will receive written notification 
from the Township’s Clerks Department, with a copy to Members of Council, the C.A.O., and the 
Senior Management Team, detailing: 

• The reasons for the decision; 
• The restrictions to be applied; 
• The review date; and 
• What it means for the Complainant’s contact with the Township. 

Restrictions available under this policy for frivolous, vexatious or unreasonable conduct shall be 
tailored to deal with the individual circumstances of each case and may include, but are not limited 
to: 

• A letter of warning may be issued to the Complainant for any conduct that is in violation of 
this policy; 

• Limiting the Complainant to a particular point of contact at the Township (where 
appropriate); 

• Limiting the Complainant’s correspondence with Employees to a particular format only 
(i.e.. email only), time (i.e. phone calls only at specific times and days of the week) or 
duration (i.e. conversations may last no longer than 10 minutes), this may include 
technological or electronic limiters, such as muting or blocking on social media, email 

Item 10.g

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 242 of 245



Page 7 of 8

filters, and automatic telephone redirects; 
• Requiring that the Complainant only contact the Township through a third-party agent, 

such as a solicitor, counsellor, family member or friend; 
• Requiring any face-to face interactions between the Complainant and Employees to take 

place in the presence of an appropriate witness and/or police; 
• Requiring that the Complainant produce full disclosure of documentation or information 

before Employees will further investigate a complaint ; 
• Instructing Employees not to respond to further correspondence from the Complainant 

regarding the complaint or a substantially similar issue; 
• Instructing Employees not to investigate any complaints regarding an issue that has 

already been investigated, or which is substantially similar to an issue which has already 
been investigated; 

• Instructing Employees to significantly reduce or completely cease responding to further 
complaints and correspondence from the Complainant; 

• Instructing Employees to close a matter; 
• Limiting or regulating the Complainant’s use of municipal services (i.e., community 

centres, libraries, registration in programs, access to technology systems, etc.); 
• Refusing the Complainant access to any municipal buildings except by appointment or 

scheduled delegations at public meetings of Council; 
• Informing the Complainant that further contact on the matter will not be acknowledged or 

replied to; 
• Pursuing legal action; and/or 
• Any other actions deemed appropriate by the panel of Senior Management Team 

members. 

Review of Restrictions

The Complainant shall have thirty (30) days from the date they receive notice of any restrictions 
to submit a written appeal to the C.A.O., outlining the reasons for the appeal. Upon receiving the 
appeal, the C.A.O. has fifteen (15) days to either confirm, rescind, or amend the restrictions, 
review date, extension, or any modifications.

All restrictions imposed under this policy must include a review date. This date is determined by 
the Department Head or their designate, based on the specific circumstances of the case. In 
cases involving severe conduct or a demonstrated pattern of problematic behaviour, the review 
date may be set for ninety (90) days or more from the start of the restrictions.

The relevant Manager or Direct Supervisor will review the Complainant’s status on or before the 
review date and will communicate the outcome in writing.

If necessary, and in consultation with the Senior Management Team, the Manager or Supervisor 
may extend the restrictions beyond the review date. In such cases, the Complainant will be 
notified in writing of the extension, the reasons for it, and the new review date.

If the Complainant receives notice of an extension or modification, they again have thirty (30) 
days to appeal by submitting a written letter to the C.A.O., stating their reasons. The C.A.O. must 
respond within fifteen (15) days, either confirming, rescinding, or amending the restrictions, 
review date, extension, or modifications.

Item 10.g

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 243 of 245



Page 8 of 8

Failure by the Complainant to comply with the imposed restrictions may result in further 
restrictions, as determined through review in accordance with this policy.

If a complaint cannot be resolved under this policy, it may be referred to the Ombudsman’s office.

New Complaints

Complaints on a separate or new issue from a Complainant who has come under this policy will 
be treated on their individual merits. The C.A.O., in consultation with the Clerks Department, will 
decide if any restrictions, which are currently in effect, should be applied to the new complaint.

Record Retention

Staff are responsible for maintaining detailed records of their interactions (emails, notes of 
telephone conversations, and notes of in-person discussions) in order to justify any action being 
taken to restrict the Complainant’s access to the Township. Records must be retained in 
accordance with the Township’s Records Retention Policy.

Exclusions

This policy applies to all requests and complaints made by members of the public unless: 
• Where a meeting is covered under the Procedural By-law, the procedures established 

under that By-law take precedence over this policy. 
• Complaints made to the Township’s Integrity Commissioner under the Township’s Code 

of Conduct are not subject to this policy. 

Nothing in this policy is meant to conflict with the Township’s Workplace Violence & Harassment 
Policy.

Consequences of Non-Compliance

Non-compliance with the Frivolous, Vexatious and Unreasonable Complaints Policy may result 
in the complaint being filed with the Ontario Ombudsman for investigation.

Consequences must be commensurate with the severity of non-compliance.

Review Cycle

This policy will be reviewed once per term of Council or as required based on revisions to 
corporate practices or governing legislation.

Item 10.g

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 244 of 245



THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF BLANDFORD-BLENHEIM

BY-LAW NUMBER 2515-2025

Being a By-law to confirm the proceedings of Council.

WHEREAS by Section 5 of the Municipal Act 2001, S.O. 2001, c.25, the powers of a 
municipal corporation are to be exercised by its Council.

AND WHEREAS by Section 11 of the Municipal Act 2001, S.O. 2001, c.25, the powers 
of every Council are to be exercised by by-law;

AND WHEREAS it is deemed expedient that the proceedings of the Council of the 
Corporation of the Township of Blandford-Blenheim at this meeting be confirmed and 
adopted by by-law;

NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Corporation of the Township of Blandford-Blenheim 
hereby enacts as follows:

1. That the actions of the Council of the Corporation of the Township of Blandford-
Blenheim in respect of each recommendation contained in the reports of the 
Committees and each motion and resolution passed and other action taken by the 
Council of the Corporation of the Township of Blandford-Blenheim, at this meeting 
held on October 1st, 2025 is hereby adopted and confirmed as if all such 
proceedings were expressly embodied in this by-law.

2. That the Mayor and proper officials of the Corporation of the Township of 
Blandford-Blenheim are hereby authorized and directed to do all things necessary 
to give effect to the actions of the Council referred to in the proceeding section 
hereof.

3. That the Mayor and the Clerk be authorized and directed to execute all documents 
in that behalf and to affix thereto the seal of the Corporation of the Township of 
Blandford-Blenheim.

By-law read a first and second time this 1st day of October, 2025.

By-law read a third time and finally passed this 1st day of October, 2025.
 

Mark Peterson, Mayor

Sarah Matheson, Clerk

Item 16.a

Township of Blandford-Blenheim Website                                                                               Page 245 of 245


	Agenda
	5.a PostMinutes - Package Council Meeting_Sep17_2025 Final Draft.pdf
	7.a.1 op25-08-1_1-25-05_rpt-20251001.pdf.pdf
	8.a Oxford County - Growth Analysis and Land Needs Assessment - BB 9.18.25.pdf
	8.a Oxford County 2024 - Growth Analysis and Land Needs Assessment Package - Sept 10 2025.pdf
	9.b.1 Report Distribution-AM Memo-20250916.pdf
	9.b.1 CP 2025-236 Draft-Implementation-Policies-for-OP-CC-rpt.pdf
	9.b.2 Oxford O.P.P. Detachment Board 2 - 20250521.pdf
	10.a CBO 25-09 - Monthly Report.pdf
	10.b PW-25-16 - Monthly Report.pdf
	10.c CS-25-17 - Arena Water Softener Replacement.pdf
	10.d CS-25-18 - Monthly Report.pdf
	10.e TR-13-25 - 2026 Budget Survey Results .pdf
	10.e BB_Budget Survey 2026.pdf
	10.f DC-25-13 - Installation of Third Flag Pole.pdf
	10.f Revised Flag Protocol Policy.docx
	10.g DC-25-14 - Frivolous, Vexatious or Unreasonable Complaints Policy.pdf
	10.g Frivolous, Vexatious or Unreasonable Complaints Policy.pdf
	16.a 2515-2025 October 1, 2025 Confirming By-law.docx

